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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR
A RTABHEA ANBSEERT (58)

HK$ Million B EETT

2,000 1,985.3
1,612.7
1,500 1,451.6 1,438.3
1,232.8
1,000
500
275.0
o 154.3
5] Q (38.4) 216.0) (295.3)
0 —
[ | [
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Profit (loss) attributable to owners of the Company for the Year Revenue
KATHER NEILFEERR (B518) WA

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS AS AT THE YEAR END
RERBRRES
HK$ Million B E&E T

4,500

SoLeiel g 4,072.7
4,000 3,766.5
3,500 3,461.6
3,000
2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
0
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Shareholders’ Funds
KHES

04 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Company”), | am
pleased to present to our shareholders the results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group” or
“Hanison") for the year ended 31 March 2025.

RESULTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group achieved
revenue of HK$1,985.3 million, representing an increase
of approximately 23.1% compared with the previous
financial year (2024: HK$1,612.7 million). This increase
was mainly from Construction Division. The consolidated
loss attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$295.3 million (2024: loss of HK$216.0 million). The
net loss was mainly due to the net revaluation loss of
the properties held by the Group and joint ventures
of approximately HK$278.7 million as a result of the
downturn in the property market together with the
interest expenses of approximately HK$51.2 million. The
operating result (before the net revaluation loss and
interest expenses as mentioned above) was a profit of
HK$34.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$37.0 million).

The basic loss per share and the diluted loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2025 were HK27.5 cents (2024:
HK19.9 cents). As at 31 March 2025, the Group's net asset
value amounted to HK$3,461.6 million (2024: HK$3,766.5
million) and net asset value per share was HK$3.23 (2024:
HK$3.51).

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare a second interim
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).
No first interim dividend was paid during the year (2024:
HK1.0 cent per share).
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OUTLOOK

During the review year, the global economy continued to
navigate a complex and challenging landscape. While the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has largely faded, the
pace of economic recovery has been remaining uneven
across different regions, influenced by a combination
of structural and cyclical factors. Central banks around
the world, particularly in major economies such as the
United States (“US") and the European Union (“EU"),
have maintained relatively high interest rates to combat
persistent inflation, which has, in turn, dampened global
investment and consumption.

Moreover, geopolitical uncertainties have escalated,
with ongoing conflicts such as the Russia-Ukraine war,
the Middle East crisis involving Gaza and Israel and
the most recent Israel and Iran war, further disrupting
global supply chains and energy markets. Trade tensions
between China and Western economies, particularly the
US and the EU, have intensified, with growing concerns
over industrial overcapacity and heightened tariffs on
Chinese exports.

Recently, the US has intensified the use of tariffs as a
strategic economic and geopolitical tool, targeting key
sectors and trading partners. These measures, while
aimed at protecting domestic industries and addressing
trade imbalances, have had broad and complex
implications for the global economy.

Against this backdrop, in January 2025, the International
Monetary Fund (IMF) has projected global GDP growth
at 3.3% both in 2025 and 2026, below the historical
(2000-2019) average of 3.7%. However, the medium-
term outlook appears more subdued, with global growth
being forecasted to slow to 3.1% by 2029, marking one
of the weakest five-year outlooks in decades due to
structural challenges such as weak productivity growth,
declining demographic trends, and increasing economic
fragmentation.
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China’'s economic trajectory in 2024 has been
characterised by a resilient yet cautious recovery,
overcoming initial concerns about a prolonged downturn
in the real estate sector and subdued domestic demand.
In the first quarter of 2024, China's GDP grew by
an impressive 5.3% year-on-year, surpassing market
expectations. This growth was largely fueled by robust
infrastructure investment, solid industrial production and
a rebound in exports.

Despite this better-than-expected performance, structural
challenges persist. The real estate sector remains a
significant drag on the economy, with many developers
still grappling with high debt levels and weak homebuyer
sentiment, resulting in sluggish property sales and price
corrections in various cities. Additionally, geopolitical
frictions and trade restrictions imposed by the US and the
EU on China’s manufacturing sector, particularly in areas
such as electric vehicles, semiconductors, and renewable
energy technologies, pose potential risks to the country’s
long-term industrial and export growth.

In response to these challenges, the Chinese Government
has introduced a series of stimulus measures, including
targeted interest rate cuts, fiscal incentives for high-
tech industries, and supportive policies for consumption
and private sector investment. While these efforts
are expected to stabilise economic momentum, the
IMF expected China’s full-year GDP growth to 4.6% in
2025, reflecting lingering concerns over weak domestic
consumption, high local government debt, and global
economic uncertainties.
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Hong Kong's economy progressed steadily amid a
complicated and changing environment in 2024.
Several factors have constrained the city’s economic
momentum, including: (1) persistent high interest rates,
which have increased borrowing costs for businesses
and individuals; (2) weak external demand, particularly
from major trade partners such as the US and Europe;
(3) a sluggish financial market, which has impacted
investors’ confidence and corporate earnings; and (4)
private consumption expenditure slightly declined
by 0.6% for the year as a result of changes in the
consumption pattern of local residents’ increased
outbound trips during the holidays as reported by the
HKSAR Government. Nonetheless, the China economy
is making steady progress and has rolled out measures
benefitting Hong Kong one by one. Together with the
HKSAR Government's initiatives to boost the economy
and interest rate cuts by the US since September 2024,
they all provided support to different economic segments
in Hong Kong. Overall, Hong Kong’s economy recorded
moderate growth of 2.5% in 2024.

In response to these challenges, the Group has
strategically focused on capitalising on opportunities
within the construction sector, leveraging government
infrastructure projects while adopting a prudent and risk-
conscious approach to property development. The Group
remains committed to enhancing operational efficiency,
consolidating core business strengths, and delivering
value to stakeholders.
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HIGHLIGHTS OF CORPORATE ACTIVITIES
AND PROSPECTS

In 2024, Hong Kong’s construction industry faced large
challenges, for example there was sudden closure,
looming liquidation due to financial crisis, involvement
in a wage arrears scandal of certain main contractors.
The series of incidents in the construction industry show
that factors such as low-price bidding, tight capital chain
and banks’ requirements for higher deposits are putting
the local construction ecosystem under unprecedented
pressure. The construction industry has been projected
to record an average annual growth rate of 2% in real
terms between 2022 and 2025, supported by the HKSAR
Government's stimulation for economic growth, as well
as public and private sector investments in industrial,
institutional, energy and utility building projects. It
is expected the construction industry in Hong Kong
to register an annual average growth of 2.3% from
2025-2028, supported by investment in the transport,
electricity, housing, and industrial sectors. The industry’s
output will be upheld by the Government’s commitment
to the development of three major road schemes and
three strategic railway projects to drive and support the
city’s development by 2030.

Hong Kong's construction industry continues to be a key
pillar of economic growth, with strong and consistent
government support ensuring a steady pipeline of
projects. The Hong Kong Government has maintained
its annual public infrastructure spending at over HK$100
billion, with a 10-year housing supply target of 440,000
units.

On public housing supply, the HKSAR Government has
identified sufficient land for meeting the supply target
of 308,000 public housing units over the next ten years.
Coupled with Light Public Housing (LPH), the total
public housing supply in the coming five years will reach
190,000 units, which is about 80% higher than that of
the first 5-year period since the current-term Government
took office.
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Despite these positive policy measures, labour shortages
and an ageing workforce remain significant challenges
for the construction sector. To address these issues, the
Government has been actively promoting digitalisation
and the adoption of advanced construction technologies,
such as Modular Integrated Construction (MiC) and
Building Information Modeling (BIM), to enhance
efficiency and productivity.

Given the stable demand and more predictable profit
margins associated with public sector projects, the
Group has continued to prioritise government contracts,
particularly in areas such as: LPH developments, public
healthcare facilities, educational institutions and
government infrastructure projects.

The Group's technical expertise and long-standing
industry reputation have ensured a steady revenue
stream. Recruitment from universities and training
programmes for colleagues also continued to ensure
stable work teams within the Group, while effective
cost control and efficiency improvement measures were
continuously implemented to improve productivity.

The Hong Kong property market has faced a challenging
environment, characterised by high borrowing costs,
cautious buyer sentiment, and subdued investment
activity. In 2023, property prices declined, reflecting
weakened demand and a slowdown in economic activity.

However, according to Mr. Paul Chan, Financial Secretary,
following the removal of additional stamp duties in early
2024 coupled with an interest rate cut by the US Federal
Reserve in late 2024, transaction volumes are showing
signs of recovery, with developers offering discounted
prices to clear inventory. Notably, Mainland Chinese
buyers have played a key role in driving new property
sales, accounting for up to one-third of the transactions
in prime locations.
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In light of the uncertain market conditions, the Group
has remained cautious, focusing on existing development
projects. Several of the Group’s residential projects
located at So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, in partnership with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited, No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai
Road, Kowloon Tong and Tong Yan San Tsuen in Yuen
Long; and industrial projects located at No. 22 Yip Shing
Street, Kwai Chung and No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan are on track for completion in the coming years,
when it is anticipated that market conditions will be
improved. Out of these projects, residential project at
No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong and industrial
project at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung will be
launched for sale in this coming financial year.

Looking ahead, the global economic landscape remains
uncertain, with key risks including high interest rates,
geopolitical conflicts, and trade tensions. However,
with strong government support for infrastructure
developments and signs of a gradual recovery in Hong
Kong's property market, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about future prospects.

To navigate these challenges effectively, the Group will
continue prioritising public sector construction projects,
leveraging stable demand and government-backed
contracts, adopting a disciplined and risk-conscious
approach to property investment, investing in workforce
development and digital transformation, to ensure
ongoing competitiveness in the construction and real
estate sectors.
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APPRECIATION |

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere ~ KAAZERREZTTRNEEERKREIZHER
gratitude to our management team and colleagues, P& - BOBRERUROBHE  HAEBMM
who have remained steadfast in their commitment and BEEBRHENZF - AATHRERR
whose efforts have underpinned the Group’s stable HEEHFBH—BEURNEERIZFERS
performance. | would also like to thank the Group’s E -BEXRF > HfSHESHERFANEEN
shareholders and business partners for their continued K& THIBERAEHRIENRB KR THIEEIROE
trust and support. Going forward, we will continue to Bo

leverage our expertise and market position to meet the

challenges and opportunities presented by the market.

Cha Mou Daid, Johnson EME
Chairman FE
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Construction Division

Hong Kong Science Park Expansion Stage 2 (SPX2) Building 18W
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CONSTRUCTION DIVISION

The revenue for the Construction Division was
HK$1,538.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: HK$1,124.0 million).

During the year, the Construction Division continued
to work on the projects on hand. The total amount
of contracts on hand as at 31 March 2025 for the
Construction Division amounted to HK$3,783.9 million.

Major Projects Completed
(1) Construction of the proposed residential and
commercial development at Nos. 33-47 Catchick

Street, Kennedy Town, Hong Kong

(2) Construction of public housing development at Hin
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, New Territories

Proposed residential and commercial
development at Nos. 33-47
Catchick Street, Kennedy Town
e S
BPREATFZEREERBEERER
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Hin Fat Lane, Tuen Mun
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Major Projects Undertaken

(1)

)
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(5)

(6)

@)

&)

16

Construction of the proposed residential
development at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road,
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon

Construction of the proposed industrial
redevelopment at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai
Chung, New Territories

Construction of the proposed industrial
redevelopment at No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong

Construction of the proposed residential
development at Lot No. 2143 in D.D. 121, Tong Yan
San Tsuen, Yuen Long, New Territories

Construction of the residential development at Tuen
Mun Town Lot No. 496, So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun,
New Territories

Main works contract for Hong Kong Science Park
Expansion Stage 2 (SPX2) Building 18W (formerly
known as 12W-A)

Construction of the proposed commercial
development at Nos. 92-103A Connaught Road
West and Nos. 91, 99 and 101 Des Voeux Road West,
Hong Kong

Construction of public housing development at Pik
Wan Road Site B, Yau Tong, Kowloon

KIENEETRR
(1) ERAENEREGHBESTIARZESR

(2)

3)

4)

(5)
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EEFAEFIRENEFIHMERF496
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Proposed residential development at
No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon Tong Proposed industrial redevelopment at
NEEREAIEESIAR Z BB EELERIER No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung
HRENE22RZERTIXEREER

Proposed residential development at
Proposed industrial redevelopment at Tong Yan San Tsuen, Yuen Long
No. 18 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan TTEAE AN Z BERAEEERIER
SENREISRZERTIXEEER
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Residential development at So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun
TMREDZ2EEEEEE Proposed commercial development at
Connaught Road West and
Des Voeux Road West

FHEAKEHEAZEEHEERER

Public housing development at
Pik Wan Road Site B, Yau Tong

HIEEREMBBZ AHERERIER
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Awards

(1

)

3)

4

In March 2025, Hanison Construction Company
Limited (“HCCL") got the “HKCA Hong Kong
Construction Environmental Awards - 2024
Environmental Merit Award” organised by the Hong
in recognition of
its outstanding environmental performance for the
year 2023/2024.

Kong Construction Association,

In October 2024, HCCL received the “HKCA
Proactive Safety Contractor Award For the Year
2023" organised by the Hong Kong Construction
Association.

In August 2024, HCCL received a Merit Award in
the Outstanding Environmental Management and
Performance Award — Non-Public Works under the
30th Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme
jointly organised by the Development Bureau and
the Construction Industry Council, with regard to
the construction of public housing development at
Hin Fat Lane, Tuen Mun.

In August 2024, HCCL received a Merit Award in the
Considerate Contractors Site Award — Non-Public
Works (New Works — Group A) under the 30th
Considerate Contractors Site Award Scheme jointly
organised by the Development Bureau and the
Construction Industry Council, with regard to the
construction of public housing development at Hin
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun.

13I8

Q)]
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4
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Outlook

Over the past year, Hong Kong's construction industry
has experienced both challenges and opportunities.
The sector has been influenced by economic conditions,
government policies, technological advancements, and
sustainability initiatives. Despite facing labor shortages,
rising material costs, and regulatory complexities,
Hong Kong has continued to push forward with major
infrastructure projects and housing developments.

Hong Kong's government has remained committed to
large-scale infrastructure and housing projects to address
urban development and housing shortages.

o Northern Metropolis Development: One of the most
significant projects in the past year has been the
Northern Metropolis initiative. The government
has accelerated planning and land development in
this area to create a new economic and residential
hub. This project aims to provide housing for more
than 2.5 million people and strengthen Hong Kong’s
integration with the Greater Bay Area.

o Public Housing Expansion: To address the persistent
housing shortage, the government has ramped up
public housing construction. The Housing Authority
has introduced new measures to speed up project
timelines, including the wider use of Modular
Integrated Construction (MiC), which allows for
faster and more cost-effective building processes.

° MTR and Transport Infrastructure: Several MTR
expansion projects, including the Tung Chung Line
Extension and the Northern Link, have progressed
significantly in the past year. These projects aim to
enhance connectivity and support new residential
and commercial developments.

RE
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Innovation has played a crucial role in improving
efficiency and productivity in Hong Kong’s construction
industry. Over the past year, several technological
advancements have gained traction.

o Modular Integrated Construction (MiC): MiC has
been increasingly adopted in both public and
private sector projects. Several pilot projects,
including student housing and quarantine facilities,
have demonstrated the effectiveness of this method
in reducing construction time and environmental
impact.

° Building Information Modeling (BIM): BIM has
continued to be widely implemented across
construction projects to improve design accuracy,
cost estimation, and project coordination.
The government has made BIM a mandatory
requirement for public works projects, further
driving its adoption.

° Artificial Intelligence (Al) and Robotics: Al-driven
project management tools and robotics for site
inspections have been increasingly used to enhance
safety and efficiency. Drones have also been
employed for surveying and monitoring progress on
construction sites.

Despite the progress made in various areas, Hong Kong's
construction industry has faced several challenges over
the past year.

o Labor Shortage: The aging workforce and
difficulties in attracting young talent have
continued to create labor shortages. The
government has introduced training programs and
labor importation schemes to address this issue.

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ % il g
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o Rising Construction Costs: Global supply chain
disruptions and inflation have led to increased
material costs, affecting project budgets. Developers
have been exploring cost-saving measures, such as
advanced procurement strategies and digital project
management tools.

o Regulatory and Approval Delays: Complex
regulations and lengthy approval processes have
slowed down some projects. Efforts have been made
to streamline approval procedures through digital
platforms and government policy reforms.

In response to the increasing number of opportunities
in the public sector, the Group’s Construction Division
will improve its responsiveness to customer needs and
further strengthen its position as a trusted and reliable
construction partner. The Division will continue to
use innovative construction technology and embrace
digitalisation to improve operational efficiency, enhance
quality and reduce costs. It will expand its construction
workforce in a number of ways, including attracting
more talent to the sector, strengthening training and
human resource development, and allocating more
resources to employee development.
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Interior and Renovation Division
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Interior fitting out works for redevelopment of North Point Methodist Church

IAFEEESERAZERKETR
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INTERIOR AND RENOVATION DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Interior and
Renovation Division recorded a revenue of HK$204.6
million, as compared with HK$293.3 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2025 for the Interior and Renovation Division amounted
to HK$107.6 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) 2-year term tenancy works contract (2022-2024) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls for Hong Kong Island, Kowloon East, New
Territories East and Tseung Kwan O (Region 2) for
the Link

(2) Repair and Maintenance term contract (2022-2025)
for Hong Kong Baptist University

(3) AAQ&I project 2022-2023 renovation works to
lavatories in Sir Run Run Shaw Building, Cha Chi-
Ming Science Tower and Fong Shu Chuen Library,
renovation works to lavatories at Level 5 of Oen Hall
Building at Hong Kong Baptist University

(4) Interior fitting out works nominated sub-contract
for redevelopment of North Point Methodist Church
at 11 Cheung Hong Street, North Point, Hong Kong

(5) HKHA district term contract (2021-2024) for
the maintenance, improvement and vacant flat
refurbishment for Hong Kong Island and Islands (2)

B B AE(E 3D

BE_E_AF=BA=+—HLFE £
B 4B ER &R 15 WA 2 78 15204,600,0007T ° M
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Interior fitting out works for redevelopment of

North Point Methodist Church
ItAFEEEREBEEZERNEEIR

Major Projects Undertaken

(1

)

Building works term contract (2022-2025) for
shopping centres, car parks, markets & cooked-food
stalls in Tin Shui Wai, Tuen Mun, New Territories
North and Ma On Shan (Region 1) for the Link

Toilet improvement works at shopping centres of
Tin Shui, Butterfly, Leung King, Chung On, Sha Kok,
Tsui Ping and Stanley

OPERATIONS REVIEW 2 %50l g
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Toilet improvement works at shopping centres of Tin Shui, Butterfly,
Leung King, Chung On, Sha Kok, Tsui Ping and Stanley

Kin ~WiR - RR R WA BREAEBYPORFERETR

(3) Fitting out works for the proposed industrial
redevelopment at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai
Chung, New Territories

(4) Show flat fitting out works for the proposed
residential development at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai
Road, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon

Major Projects Awarded

(1) Alterations and additions term contract (2025-2027)
for building works for The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University

Award

(1) In October 2024, Hanison Interior & Renovation
Limited received the “"HKCA Proactive Safety
Contractor Award For the Year 2023" organised by
the Hong Kong Construction Association.

(3) MATRERE22RERTIEFRER
ZEETRE

(4) NEENBEREEEESTAREZREETH
REBZ REEURETIR

EENETETRE
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Outlook

Hong Kong's renovation and maintenance industry
has experienced significant changes due to various
economic, social, and technological factors. While the
sector has benefited from increased demand for home
improvements and government support for building
maintenance, it has also faced challenges such as labour
shortages, rising material costs, and stricter regulatory
requirements.

The Hong Kong government has continued to promote
building safety and maintenance, particularly for aging
structures. Programs such as the “Operation Building
Bright 2.0” and the “Fire Safety Improvement Works
Subsidy Scheme” have encouraged property owners and
building management companies to carry out necessary
repairs and upgrades. These initiatives have provided
financial support for maintenance projects, benefiting
both building owners and renovation companies.

In addition, stricter building safety regulations have
been enforced, requiring older buildings to undergo
mandatory inspections and repairs. This has created
more business opportunities for contractors specialising
in structural repairs, waterproofing, and fire safety
enhancements.

The Group’s Interior and Renovation Division is
expected to have a positive outlook in the near future,
with new prospects emerging as the construction
industry recovering. The Division will strive for
excellence in order to become a respected provider
of interior and renovation services, continuing its
culture of continuous improvement and striving to
exceed customer expectations. It will strive to achieve
distinctive and innovative designs that balance aesthetics
and functionality while remaining cost competitive.
Additionally, in response to the growing global focus on
environmental protection and green buildings, the Group
actively researches and implements environmentally
technologies and green building materials for
incorporation into its processes.

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ % il g

RE

BERNREREETERZELSE - HER
MEEZRMEBEAEL-BELITERE
RREBEEBR LA RBAZFIEFEE
BHITEEFSHDER  MERE LA KREE
EREUEEESRE -

ERRNFERIRFTFLREREECIE
LHEEZLCREY - MBFEMRKRITEH20IK
DEMAZ 2N E TR E 3 85/
EIRAREEERRETUENEERFAR
TR -ZFEAEEEERHEMEGE B
REXREERT -

tESh  EERARIBEFZEROIEE R EX
ERRETARIBREREE ERAEMRS
BREE DK IRRENZERATLEDN
AEBRIEEZ @K

BEREXFERBIEMEMMLE A
A E B R K 4 EERB AR HA AT R IE M © % &
FIR RS B REE QT EiEHE
BERESCEXE ARBBERIAE - HRE

BERBERERRS TEHEERSI R
BERM BRARERAHREF D LI BERE
ERHRERERGEBEENB=MAE &
EHERBARIRFRRM KRG EBREM AL
FEREAETRE -

WL A B 45 B 48 W) 2024/20254E 27



SR

Building Materials Division
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HKIA Terminal 2 Expansion Works — Design, supply and installation of main

roof baffle ceiling system
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BUILDING MATERIALS DIVISION

The Group’s Building Materials Division specialises in the
supply and installation of different types of suspended
ceiling system, metal cladding system, fire rated enclosure
system and timber flooring.

For the year ended 31 March 2025 the revenue of
the Building Materials Division was HK$178.8 million
compared with that of HK$143.4 million last year.

The total amount of contracts on hand as at 31 March
2025 for the Building Materials Division amounted to
HK$25.6 million.

Major Projects Completed

(1) Ho Man Tin Station Package One Property
Development at KIL 11264, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon —
Supply and installation of baffle ceiling at LG1 and
LG2 carpark

(2) Science Park Expansion Stage 2 (SPX2) Building
12W-A at Pak Shek Kok, Tai Po, T.P.T.L. No.204, N.T.
— Design, supply and installation of fire resistance
hanger wall and E&M enclosure system

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ % il g
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Ho Man Tin Station Package One Property Development —
Supply and installation of baffle ceiling at LG1 and LG2 carpark
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Major Projects Undertaken EENETETRE

(1) HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works — (1) ZEHEEEEISE43508_ 5K EKIEHE
Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle BIR R - HEAZEFIXRBRF
ceiling system KIERHK

HKIA Terminal 2 Expansion Works — Design, supply and installation of main roof baffle ceiling system

BEEREIS _REEXEBEIRE R HRRZEIRERTERR

(2) HKIA Contract 3508 Terminal 2 expansion works —  (2) FHHEBIREIS S43508 = EKIEHE
Design, supply and installation of lower level baffle BIR-R - HERZEBEEXRK
and external ceiling system FREIIKRIERR

HKIA Terminal 2 Expansion Works — Design, supply and installation of lower-level baffle and external ceiling system

BHEERKS REERSEEIRE Rt HERZEBEREREIIKRTERR

(3) Proposed residential development at TKOTL 70RP, 3) WMABERAHEEE11EEERT

Phase 11, Lohas Park, Tseung Kwan O, N.T. — Supply CEIOR 2B 2 BREEEEEE -
and installation of gypsum board ceiling system HERZEGERKRIERF
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(4) Central Kowloon Route - Building, electrical and
mechanical works — Design, supply and installation
of suspended ceiling system

(5) The Physical Sciences and Technologies Building
(New Research Building 1) at The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology - Design,
supply and installation of suspended ceiling system

(6) Centralized General Research Laboratories Complex
(Block 2) at Area 39, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong - Design, supply and installation of suspended
ceiling system

Major Projects Awarded

(1) Proposed residential development at Nam Pin
Wai, Sai Kung, Hong Kong - Design, supply and
installation of fire rated enclosure

(2) Proposed industrial re-development at No.22
Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung, N.T. — Supply and
installation of baffle ceiling at G/F

Outlook

During the year, the Group’s Building Materials Division
continued to execute the main roof baffle system project
at Hong Kong Airport’s Terminal 2 with an improved
workflow and schedule. This optimisation will help to
ensure that costs are managed effectively throughout the
project and that the project is completed on time, within
budget and to quality standards.

The outlook for the Building Materials Division is
favourable in several respects. False ceilings have become
a popular feature in both residential and commercial
buildings due to their ability to enhance interior design,
improve lighting efficiency, and conceal electrical wiring
and air conditioning systems. In the past year, there
has been a notable increase in demand for modern
and customised ceiling designs, particularly in office

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ % il g
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renovations, retail spaces, and high-end residential
projects. With the growing trend of smart homes
and energy-efficient buildings, many developers and
homeowners are opting for false ceilings that incorporate
LED lighting, soundproofing materials, and thermal
insulation. These features not only improve comfort but
also contribute to energy savings, making them more
attractive to environmentally conscious consumers.

First, the building materials market, which is highly
correlated with the development of the construction
market, is expected to grow with the prospect of
construction work related to housing development.
Second, the Hong Kong government’s plan for public
housing over the next decade, together with the
resurgence of the private housing sector following the
lifting of the cooling measures, will generate increased
demand for construction materials. This presents an
opportunity for market players to achieve higher sales
and improved profitability.

In order to enhance its competitiveness in the dynamic
business environment and take advantage of these
emerging opportunities, the Group will continue to
implement effective cost management. In addition to the
use of innovative yet affordable construction materials,
the Group will step up its efforts to recruit and retain
experienced staff and qualified subcontractors to ensure
timely project delivery. With its strong expertise and
reputation in the supply and installation of suspended
ceilings and floors, the Group is confident of being able
to capitalise on the opportunities presented by Hong
Kong's urban development and infrastructure plans. By
aligning its strategies with market needs and leveraging
its strengths, the Group is well positioned to capitalise on
the growth potential in the building materials market.
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Property Development Division
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT DIVISION

The Property Development Division recorded no revenue
during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

LUXEAST, the Group's 49% interest in the parcel of
land situated at RFEARELNEIE SEHE IR
7afil - B E= B (West of Wenyuan Road and South
of Houfutinggang, Haining, Zhejiang Province, the
People’s Republic of China) for the development and
construction of office, retail, car parking spaces and other
development pertaining to the land. The respective E=E
FrE#3:% (Building Ownership Certificates) were issued
in March 2015. A total of 222 H@mEEE & (Sale and
Purchase Agreement for Commodity Flat) were signed up
to the end of the reporting period and all units had been
delivered to customers.

For the proposed residential development project with
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited at So Kwun Wat, Tuen
Mun, the development of the site is in progress.

A piece of land at No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon
Tong, Kowloon in which the Group has 50% interest with
the objective of developing the property into a premium
residential project, lease modification was completed and
premium has been fully settled. The development of the
site is in progress and is expected to be completed in this
year. Occupation permit for the project has been issued in
June 2025.

For the piece of land at Tong Yan San Tsuen in Yuen Long
in which the Group has 50% interest with the objective
of developing the property into a residential project,
a land exchange application for residential use was
completed in April 2021. The development of the site is
in progress.
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As for the joint venture project, Johnson Place, located
at Nos. 14-16 Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong in
which the Group has 50% interest, it will be redeveloped
into a brand new industrial property, the planning
application and building plans for bonus plot ratio have
been approved. Demolition of the existing building will
be commenced soon.

As for the joint venture project, West Castle, located
at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, Kwai Chung in which the
Group has 50% interest, it will be redeveloped into a
brand new industrial property with bonus plot ratio.
The development of the site is in progress and will be
completed in this year.

For the joint venture project at No. 18 Lee Chung
Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong, in which the Group has
50% interest, it will be redeveloped into a brand new
industrial property. Building plans for the development
with bonus plot ratio have been approved and
demolition work was completed in April 2022. The
development of the site is in progress.

Outlook

Hong Kong's property market has undergone notable
changes due to economic shifts, government policies,
and evolving buyer preferences. While the market
has faced challenges such as rising interest rates and
economic uncertainty, new housing developments, policy
adjustments, and increasing demand for sustainable
living have shaped its trajectory.

Hong Kong's property market has traditionally been one
of the most expensive in the world. However, in the past
years, property prices have shown signs of adjustment
due to global economic conditions and rising mortgage
rates. Many potential buyers have adopted a wait-and-
see approach, leading to a slower transaction volume in

OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ % il g

NEBHEESO%ERE Z N EBEEFNRE
1455 21658 2 & E ¥ IEHJohnson Place’
BERA—EE2MITEYE MREBIIMEL
ERXWHRERARERASEE#EIR
BERMNBEIFRTERER -

FEBBEAS0% R 2 N EBEME225
ZEETLEIBEHWest Castle’ iFERE AT
MBI RN TEYE - MBETE
EETH BRSETM -

FEBEAS0%ES 2 UNEBRENRE
18R AERXEE RERA—EBENT
EME - BARIMRIERNRAFRENE
ZEESE#ME BHRIFER -
MU SeRk o R T IEFE TR -

RE

ERAMETSREEEE BNBRKER
REFBEMHFREEZEC - BEDISEERN
BREETARENRS > BMETHRER
BUERAB KA FEERRREMSH HIHE
DEERE

ERAET —RAEZKRBENHHZ—-A
M EERZE2REERERZBAE LA
TE BEEHRARTR -FZEBETERY
ROBEZRE EREFERBEDENRR

WL A B 45 B 48 W) 2024/20254E 35



OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ 7 nl g

both residential and commercial real estate. Despite this,
demand for affordable housing remains high. The Hong
Kong government has continued efforts to increase land
supply and develop more public and subsidised housing
projects. There has also been a growing interest in
smaller, more affordable apartments, particularly among
first-time homebuyers and young professionals.

In the commercial property sector, fluctuating office
space demand has influenced the market. While some
companies have downsized due to hybrid working
models, others have sought modern office spaces with
better facilities, driving demand for newly developed
commercial buildings.

The Hong Kong government has introduced various
policies to stabilise the property market and address
housing affordability. Measures such as homeownership
schemes, tax adjustments, and increased land supply
have been implemented to balance market dynamics. In
response to the economic slowdown, the government
has also relaxed some cooling measures, such as
stamp duties on property transactions, to encourage
investment. Additionally, new infrastructure projects and
urban redevelopment initiatives have been launched to
enhance the overall appeal of certain districts, attracting
both local and overseas buyers. Furthermore, the
government has continued to promote infrastructure
development projects, such as the Northern Metropolis
and the expansion of the Greater Bay Area initiatives.
These projects have increased interest in properties
located in strategic locations that are expected to benefit
from long-term economic growth.
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With a corresponding reduction in local interest rates,
the property market is expected to see increased sales,
potentially leading to a stabilisation or even a slight
recovery in property prices. In addition, the government
has made significant efforts in recent years to attract
talent to Hong Kong from Mainland China and beyond.
These efforts have resulted in the introduction of various
talent admission schemes, including the prestigious Top
Talent Pass Scheme. The introduction of these schemes
has created additional demand for residential properties
as skilled professionals seek to settle in Hong Kong,
further strengthening the property market.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to ensure
prudent management of its property portfolio while
actively pursuing new opportunities for solid growth. By
entering into joint ventures with suitable partners, the
Group aims to maximise synergies, minimise development
risks and transform sites into successful property projects.
When undertaking land development projects, the Group
will also prioritise the maintenance of a stable cash flow
and a reasonable gearing ratio. This prudent financial
approach will enable the Group to navigate the market
in a sound manner and minimise risks.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT DIVISION

The Property Investment Division recorded a revenue of
HK$70.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
HK$80.2 million).

In April 2024, the Group entered into a provisional sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of certain shops in a residential-cum-
retail composite property named “The Austine Place”
located in No. 38 Kwun Chung Street, Kowloon. The
disposal was completed in July 2024.

Stratified sale of Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood
Road was launched in September 2024. A total of 48 sale
and purchase agreements were signed and all units had
been delivered to customers up to the date of this report.
The remaining G/F shops are being offered for sales.

Investment properties of the Group including PeakCastle
in Cheung Sha Wan, The Mercer in Sheung Wan, G/F
Shops of Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road, No.
31 Wing Wo Street in Sheung Wan and The Connaught
at No. 138 Connaught Road West in which the Group has
50% interest, all contributed rental incomes to the Group
during the financial year.
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The Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West
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The Mercer at No. 29 Jervois Street
IR BRI A2958 2 The Mercer

Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road
{52 187 3 & 3822255 Z Hollywood Hill
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Outlook

Hong Kong has long been an attractive destination
for property investors, both local and international.
However, in the past years, Hong Kong's property
investment market has slowed due to global economic
conditions, rising interest rates, and shifting investor
sentiment. While the city remains a key financial
hub with strong long-term potential, challenges such
as declining property values, reduced transaction
volumes, and changing demand patterns have
reshaped investment strategies, which making investors
more cautious about entering the market. Ongoing
geopolitical tensions and economic uncertainties have
also affected investor confidence. Some foreign investors
have taken a more cautious approach, shifting their focus
to other markets in the Asia-Pacific region. However,
local investors and institutional buyers have continued to
seek opportunities in undervalued assets.

Despite the slowdown, there has been increased interest
in certain segments, such as student living. Investors
have been focusing on assets with strong long-term
rental potential, particularly in areas benefiting from
policy by the HKSAR Government. Additionally, the
residential rental market has remained relatively stable,
with demand for rental properties increasing as some
potential buyers delay home purchases due to high
borrowing costs. This has provided opportunities for
investors in the buy-to-let sector.

The Hong Kong government has introduced several
policy adjustments to support the property market and
encourage investment. In an effort to boost investor
confidence, authorities have eased certain cooling
measures, such as reducing stamp duties on property
transactions. These adjustments have made it more
attractive for both local and overseas investors to enter
the market.
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Looking ahead, the market is expected to stabilize as
interest rates eventually peak and economic conditions
improve. Investors who adopt a long-term perspective
and focus on strategic locations with strong growth
potential will likely benefit from future market recovery.

The Group's Property Investment Division closely monitors
local and global economic and political developments
and acts decisively. The Group will continue to manage
its property portfolio prudently and will look for new
opportunities to realise profits. The Group will endeavour
to generate positive cash flow and maintain a reasonably
low gearing ratio to ensure that it is ready to respond to
any market changes as they arise.
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Property Agency and
Management Division

“”i”{ll{\"\!‘\\‘\f; ‘

"

3 . —
T Nl
= [ e
&
i - —— e
& | NEY
\ \ E
\\ %
\ |
) = L
s |
1
E

Marketing and project manager and property management services for PeakCastle

#PeakCastleiE{EH G E KR IEE KIE KR HY XS IERTE

AL A PR AT B W) 2024/20255E 43



OPERATIONS REVIEW 27l

PROPERTY AGENCY AND MANAGEMENT
DIVISION

The revenue of the Property Agency and Management
Division for the year ended 31 March 2025 was HK$21.6
million (2024: HK$18.0 million).

In Hong Kong, our Property Agency and Management
Division acted as the marketing and project manager for
Johnson Place and No. 18 Lee Chung Street in Chai Wan,
West Castle at No. 22 Yip Shing Street, No. 57A Nga Tsin
Wai Road, PeakCastle in Cheung Sha Wan, The Grampian
at No. 11 Grampian Road, The Connaught at No. 138
Connaught Road West and The Austine Place at No. 38
Kwun Chung Street. This division also provided property
management services to The Austine Place at No. 38
Kwun Chung Street, The Bedford in Tai Kok Tsui, Eight
College and One LaSalle in Kowloon Tong, PeakCastle in
Cheung Sha Wan, Mount Vienna at Lok Lam Road, The
Connaught at No. 138 Connaught Road West, Hollywood
Hill at No. 222 Hollywood Road, The Mercer at No. 29
Jervois Street and West Park in Cheung Sha Wan.

Other services of this Division include rental collection
and leasing agency services to 8 Hart Avenue and The
Cameron in Tsim Sha Tsui.
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Marketing and project manager and property management services for The Connaught
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Property management services for The Mercer

#AThe MerceriZ2 (it £ E B IRTE

operty management services for Hollywood Hill
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Outlook

The Group’s Property Agency and Management Division
is dedicated to providing bespoke integrated solutions
to meet the needs of its clients. The marketing and
property management services business encompasses
a diverse range of properties, including commercial,
residential and industrial buildings, many of which have
been developed or acquired by the Group or through its
strategic joint ventures.
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The division’s deep understanding of the industry,
combined with its focus on optimising rental income
and property value, enables it to deliver seamless
management services. These services prioritise the
meticulous maintenance of properties, ensuring they are
kept in pristine condition while streamlining operations
to enhance efficiency.

The dedicated team establishes transparent
communication channels with tenants and owners,
addressing their concerns in a timely manner and
fostering positive relationships. The division is also
committed to developing effective marketing strategies
and implementing targeted campaigns to drive interest,
generate leads, and ultimately facilitate the successful
sale or letting of properties.

By employing comprehensive market research and
leveraging its expertise, the division enhances the
visibility and desirability of each property, thereby
strengthening their competitive edge in the market.

Staying at the forefront of industry trends and
innovations, the division consistently adapts to meet
evolving market demands. With a proven track record
and an unwavering commitment to excellence, the
Group's Property Management division is well-positioned
to navigate the complexities of the real estate landscape
and provide high-quality property management services
to both property owners and tenants.
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HEALTH PRODUCTS DIVISION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Division recorded
revenue of HK$13.6 million, compared to HK$11.3 million
last year.

The Health Products Division is primarily engaged in
the retail and wholesale of Bu Yick Fong — 28 Chinese
Herbal Soup and ganoderma spore products under the
"Dr. Lingzhi” brand, and Chinese and Western nutritional
supplements under the “HealthMate” brand. In addition
to the e-commerce business, a brick-and-mortar store
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has been established in Tsim Sha Tsui to improve brand
visibility and build customer relationships.

Newly Launch! Ass Hide Gelatin Block and Powder

Ass Hide Gelatin is a traditional Chinese health food, its main effects include nourishing the
blood, stopping bleeding, nourishing the Yin and moistening dryness, benefiting the lungs,
and strengthening the muscles and bones.

Intraditional Chinese medicine, Ass Hide Gelatin is widely used in the treatment of various
diseases, especially problems related to blood circulation and Qi deficiency. Ass Hide
Gelatin has the effect of warming yin deficiency and nourishing gi and blood, which is very
effective in improving the of yin within the human body.

In addition, Ass Hide Gelatin can also help improve immunity and strengthen the body’s
resistance, which is effective in preventing respiratory diseases such as colds, bronchitis F
and asthma. In traditional Chinese medicine, Ass Hide Gelatin is widely used to requlate
body health.

»

MABKEE MAZRAEY
OAKEE Dissolve the powder
Dissolve the powder in in hot milk

hot water with rock
sugar,stir well

48 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



OPERATIONS REVIEW ¥ % il g

Outlook B

As the global population continues to age and people MEEZKAOFEELCRTREEHREREE
place greater emphasis on achieving a better quality 4FHEZE BRARBNEEMAFIRA UL
of life, health and wellness have become increasingly E#IEEHEHHERERE - TEMKREE
important. This growing awareness has led to a surge RBEMNEMNBEERRBERERZT - ARIE
in demand for healthcare products that offer quality  It#% > ZEFIIEREEMMBER B BIRMH
assurance, reliability, and tangible health benefits. In Bl A/ {EBEERIEENBERFRERRS
response to this trend, the division is strategically focused  Z:HEHEEER

on addressing consumer needs by delivering innovative,

trustworthy, and affordable healthcare solutions.
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The renowned Chinese herbal practitioner Dr Kwan Chi Yee is
well known for his expertise in Chinese traditional medicine. His
"28 Chinese Herbal Soup for Postnatal Women" is specially
designed for postnatal women who drink Chinese herbal soup
cooking with chicken or meat for 28 days according to the daily
instructions. There are three kinds of 28 Chinese herbal soup
for postnatal women" en Version, Ordinary Version and
Vegetarian Version. For the golden version, two main
ingredients including Ginseng and Deer tail are added for
strengthening body functions of the women who have
undergone caesarean birth or have strong demand for health
improvement. For the vegetarian version, it is purely made of /
plant, no animal ingredients, Ginseng is added to ensure and
enhance the ef i Ordinary Version is
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B TIBESHEISO 22000:2018 RHACCPERSE HAABEIEED “STC tested” Mark
EMRERARLENERNRE/ERELHE DBBH BEESAMEITR BBRERY HoE
B R URBRIKIRIS0 22000 /HACCP TS KB - FAEEREBDE, AREELZE o
meduc& ina plant whose i This product is eligible to bear the ‘STC certified’ Mark. The levels of
i tified as being ir ity with IS0 22000/ ici i d Aflatoxis meet
HACCP standards:

product
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The successful launch of a donkey-hide glue product
under the reputable “Bu Yick Fong” brand in last year
exemplifies the division’s commitment to heritage,
quality, and consumer trust. Looking ahead, the division
plans to further expand its footprint in the Mainland
China market and actively explore the growth potential
of online sales platforms to reach a broader audience.

Moreover, the division’s physical retail store in Tsim
Sha Tsui, complemented by professional in-store
health consultation services, aims to enhance customer
engagement, strengthen brand visibility, and build long-
term customer relationships. With a clear vision and
customer-centric approach, the division is well-positioned
to capture opportunities in the evolving healthcare
market.

M) AR S ERNEL B ER f8
RZBPIBER nERHEEEENRE-
RERK > ZEFIstEIE—TIHBERPE
Rt T IZ R EFSRRE > TR RER R A LI E
TERNERE  UEREREZHNER-

HESh > HEEBPIGIAS SR 7D IR BY B BE T &5 1 5 L
EENERNREZARY  SEMBEZTE
B MR mEREE TR RENT AR
% RIEBWNBRR RIAB /TG & ZH
FEGHEZSEFERENBRFREDSHE
EiE -

50 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



SUMMARY OF RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group achieved
revenue of HK$1,985.3 million, representing an increase
of approximately 23.1% compared with the previous
financial year (2024: HK$1,612.7 million). This increase
was mainly from Construction Division. The consolidated
loss attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$295.3 million (2024: loss of HK$216.0 million). The
net loss was mainly due to the net revaluation loss of
the properties held by the Group and joint ventures
of approximately HK$278.7 million as a result of the
downturn in the property market together with the
interest expenses of approximately HK$51.2 million. Such
net revaluation loss of properties held by the Group and
joint ventures are recognised through loss on change
in fair value of investment properties, write-down of
properties under development for sale, provision of
impairment losses under expected credit loss model
on loans to joint ventures and share of results of joint
ventures in the current year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Key financial items: FEMFBHIER :
2025 2024
ZEZHE ZEZNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Revenue N 1,985,257 1,612,660
Profit before the net revaluation loss ZHEBEKRSETLEFEYES
of properties held by the Group and ~ E{hE I8P BRI IEK ]
joint ventures and finance costs gl 34,577 36,978
Consolidated loss attributable EATEE ANELGTEEE
to owners of the Company (295,300) (216,014)
Net asset value of the Group rEER=ZBA=+—H2Z
as at 31 March BEZFE 3,461,633 3,766,526
Net asset value of the Group per share FTEER=B=+—HZ HK$3.23 HK$3.51
as at 31 March BREERE HME3.237T B3 515
Basic loss per share BREKER (HK27.5 cents) (HK19.9 cents)
(BEE27.51L)  (B¥19.91L)
Diluted loss per share ERIEEER (HK27.5 cents) (HK19.9 cents)

(GE#E27 .51) (FE%£19.91)
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Group Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's liquidity and financing requirements are
regularly reviewed.

For day-to-day liquidity management and to maintain
flexibility in funding, the Group has access to facilities
from banks with an aggregate amount of HK$3,011.0
million (HK$1,631.0 million was secured by first charges
over certain leasehold land and buildings and investment
properties of the Group), of which HK$1,931.0 million
bank loans have been drawn down and approximately
HK$146.9 million has been utilised mainly for the
issuance of performance bonds as at 31 March 2025. The
bank loans under these banking facilities bear interests at
prevailing market interest rates.

The Group follows a prudent policy in managing its cash
balance, and endeavours to maintain its sound cash flow
generating capability, its ability to take on investments
and acquisition projects, in order to enhance shareholder
wealth. The total cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to HK$477.7 million as at 31 March 2025
(2024: HK$441.5 million), and accounted for 20.8% of the
current assets (2024: 21.6%).
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During the year, the Group has a net cash outflow of
HK$357.9 million in its operating activities (mainly due
to increase in properties under development for sale,
increase in contract assets and payment of interest), a net
cash inflow of HK$344.2 million in its investing activities
(mainly due to proceeds on disposal of investment
properties and assets classified as held for sale, netting
off loans to joint ventures), and a net cash inflow of
HK$50.0 million in its financing activities (mainly due to
new bank loans raised, netting off repayment of bank
loans). Net bank borrowings (total bank loans less total
bank balances and cash) amounted to HK$1,453.3 million
as at 31 March 2025 (2024: net bank borrowings of
HK$1,436.6 million). Accordingly, the gearing ratio of the
Group, calculated on the basis of the Group’s net bank
borrowings to shareholders’ funds, was 42.0% (2024:
38.1%). As at year-end date, the Group was with a net
current assets of HK$642.0 million (2024: net current
liabilities of HK$365.6 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) was 1.39
times (2024: 0.85 time).

With its cash holdings and available facilities from banks,
the Group’s liquidity position will remain healthy in
the coming year, with sufficient financial resources to
meet its obligations, operation and future development
requirements.
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Treasury Policy

The aim of the Group’s treasury policy is to minimise its
exposure to fluctuations in the exchange rate and not to
engage in any highly leveraged or speculative derivative
products. Treasury transactions unrelated to underlying
financial exposure are not undertaken. Foreign currency
exposures of the Group arise mainly from the purchase
of goods. The Group will determine if any hedging is
required, on an individual basis, depending upon the size
and nature of the exposure, and the prevailing market
circumstances.

In order to enhance the deployment of internal funds
with maximum benefit, to achieve better risk control, and
to minimise cost of funds, the Group’s treasury activities
are centralised and scrutinised by the top management.

The surplus cash which is generally placed with reputable
financial institutions is mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollar. Most of the income, expenses, assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars. The Group therefore does not have any
significant exposure to gains or losses arising from the
movement of foreign currency exchange rate against the
Hong Kong dollar.

Shareholders’ Funds

At the year-end date, shareholders’ funds of the Group
were HK$3,461.6 million including reserves of HK$3,354.3
million, a decrease of HK$304.9 million from HK$3,659.2
million at 31 March 2024. On that basis, the consolidated
net asset value of the Group as at 31 March 2025 was
HK$3.23 per share, compared to the consolidated net
asset value of HK$3.51 per share as at 31 March 2024. The
decrease in shareholders’ funds was mainly attributable
to loss for the year.
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Capital Structure

The Group intends to keep an appropriate mix of equity
and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure over
time. As at 31 March 2025, the Group borrowed Hong
Kong dollar loans amounting to HK$1,931.0 million from
the banks (at 31 March 2024: HK$1,878.1 million). The
loans have been used for financing the acquisition of
properties for investment and development purposes and
as general working capital. The majority profile of the
loans spread over a period of 3 years with HK$1,138.4
million are repayable within the one year, HK$678.4
million repayable within the second year and HK$114.2
million repayable within the third year. Interest is based
on Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus a competitive
margin.

Loans to joint ventures

As at 31 March 2025, the loans to joint ventures of the
Group amounted to HK$1,085.4 million (31 March 2024:
HK$1,036.6 million). The loans were granted to the joint
venture companies for the purpose of providing financial
assistance to the joint ventures for their respective
property development and investment projects in Hong
Kong and were made in proportion to the Group's
interest in the respective joint venture companies.
Property development and property investment are part
of the ordinary course business of the Group, and the
grant of such loans to joint ventures is in line with the
Group's regular operations and the market practice in
Hong Kong for property development and investment
projects to be partially financed by bank borrowings and
shareholder loans. Loans advanced to joint ventures of
this nature were unsecured and repayable on demand. As
at 31 March 2025, the loans to joint ventures of HK$433.3
million were interest bearing at 3% per annum while the
remaining balance of the loans to joint ventures were
interest free.
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The Group performs impairment assessment on loans
to joint ventures under the expected credit loss model,
under which factors including but not limited to the joint
venture's operations, external market factors, changes in
business, financial or economic conditions are considered
in determining the credit risk of the joint ventures
and whether any impairment should be recognised.
The recoverability of loans to joint ventures is heavily
dependent on the net realisable value of the properties
held by the joint ventures, which in turn affects the
credit risk of joint venture. Fluctuations in the real
estate market will directly impact the ability of the joint
ventures to sell and/or lease the properties to repay the
loans. In determining the impairment, the Group mainly
considered the carrying value of the properties against
the property valuations of the respective properties
held by the joint ventures as at 31 March 2025, with
reference to Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited,
an independent property valuer not connected with the
Group.

The management of the Group had obtained an
understanding of the financial background and business
performance of the joint ventures. Being a shareholder
of the joint ventures, the Group seeks to maintain a
good understanding of the financial condition of the
joint ventures, and the Group reduces its exposure to
credit risks by continuously monitoring the operation
of the joint ventures as well as the progress of the
developments to manage the risks more effectively.
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In assessing the valuations of the properties of these four
joint ventures, the independent property valuer take
reference to the market approach and mainly considered
the selling price of the similar properties in the market.
In respect of the property valuations, comparable
properties were selected based on their being at a similar
location and of similar usage as the respective properties,
and for which price information is available. For the
valuation of the respective properties held by these
four joint ventures, five to nine comparable properties
were considered by the independent property valuer.
As a result of increased interest rates and a downturn
in the Hong Kong property market during the current
period, asset values further declined, which prompted the
recognition of the impairment.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, impairment loss
under expected credit loss model, net on loans to joint
ventures of HK$97.0 million was recognised on four loans
to joint ventures, the details are as below:
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Major Disposals

In April 2024, the Group has entered into a provisional
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of certain shops in a residential-cum-
retail composite property named “The Austine Place”
located in No. 38 Kwun Chung Street, Kowloon. The
disposal was completed in July 2024.

Stratified sale of Hollywood Hill at No. 222 Hollywood
Road was launched in September 2024. A total of 48 sale
and purchase agreements were signed and all units had
been delivered to customers up to the date of this report.

Collateral

As at 31 March 2025, certain leasehold land and buildings
and investment properties of the Group, at the carrying
value of approximately HK$2,423.8 million (at 31
March 2024: certain leasehold land and buildings and
investment properties and assets classified as held for
sale of the Group, at the carrying value of approximately
HK$2,616.5 million), were pledged to the banks to secure
the Hong Kong dollar loans of HK$1,431.0 million (at 31
March 2024: HK$1,421.1 million).

Performance Bonds
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding

performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$146,939,000 (2024: HK$200,829,000).
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Commitments

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Good corporate governance practices are crucial to
enhancing shareholder value. With this in mind, the
board of directors of the Company (“Board”) is keen
on maintaining an effective corporate governance
framework for the Company and its subsidiaries
(“*Group”). This is reflected in terms of a quality board
of directors and the emphasis on transparency and
accountability.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Corporate Vision, Values and Culture

The Group’s vision is to be a renowned, creative and
socially responsible key player in building construction,
property development and other businesses, which is
underpinned by our corporate values of serving our
clients with excellence, professionalism, integrity and
care. To develop our business, we emphasis on strong
teamwork, innovation, partnership and sustainability.
Our mission is to develop our business in pursuit of
excellence, to commit providing superior service and
dedication to continuous improvement, to create
values for all stakeholders and to grow our people with
commitment. The Group is committed to developing
a positive and progressive culture that is built on its
vision, values and mission, with the highest standards of
business ethics and integrity across all our activities and
operations.
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The Board leads to define, promote and continually
reinforce such culture by ensuring its alignment with
the Group’s business objectives, corporate strategies
and future direction. The Group’s corporate culture is
manifested in and reflected in a broad range of policies,
practices and procedures of the Group, including
those relating to governance and compliance, active
collaboration with stakeholders, effective workforce
engagement and training, and corporate social
responsibility. More information about the initiatives
to strengthen the Group’s cultural framework during
the year is set out in the “Operations Review"” and the
"Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report and
the environmental, social and governance report.

Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses of the Group, and
assumes responsibility for strategy formulation, corporate
governance and performance monitoring. It develops and
reviews the Group’s strategies and policies, formulates
business plans and evaluates performance of the
operating divisions against agreed budgets and targets
through regular discussion on key and appropriate issues
in a timely manner. It also exercises a number of reserved
powers, including (i) approval of annual and interim
results and significant changes in accounting policy or
capital structure, risk management and internal control
systems, material transactions (in particular those which
may involve conflict of interests) and major capital
projects; (ii) setting the Group’s remuneration policy
and dividend policy; (iii) appointment of directors; and
(iv) supervision of management and other significant
financial and operational matters.
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The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company are delegated to the
Managing Director and the senior management, who
fulfill their duties within their scope of authority and
responsibility. Divisional heads are responsible for
different aspects of the businesses. Major functions
delegated to management include preparation of annual
and interim results; execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board; implementation of
adequate risk management and internal control systems;
and compliance with the relevant statutory requirements.

All directors are kept informed of major changes that
may affect the Group’s businesses on a timely basis. Each
director can have recourse to independent professional
advice in performing his duties at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover
for directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions against its directors and senior management
arising out of corporate activities.

Board Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary
balance of skills and experience desirable for effective
leadership of the Company and independence in decision
making. The biographies of the directors (and their
relationships, if any) are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
under the “Report of the Directors” of this annual
report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors, representing at least one-third
of the Board. One of the independent non-executive
directors, namely Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting or
related financial management expertise.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprises the following directors:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Chow Ka Fung

Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony
Ms. Hao Quan
(appointed on 19 September 2024)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time.
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Coming from diverse business and professional
backgrounds, the non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors bring a wealth of
expertise and experience to the Board, which contributes
to the success of the Group. Through active participation
in Board meetings, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests and serving
on Board committees, all of them make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

The term of appointment of non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) is
currently fixed for three years, subject to the retirement
by rotation provisions as set out in the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association (“M&A") and
the Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive directors are free from
any business or other relationships with the Company.
The Company has received written confirmation of
independence from each independent non-executive
director by reference to the independence factors set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
has assessed their independence and satisfied that all
independent non-executive directors are independent
within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

Dr. Lam Chat Yu is a director of C.M. Capital Advisors
(HK) Limited which is an entity controlled by Mr. Cha
Mou Daid, Johnson. Save for this and the information
disclosed in the “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” section under the “Report of
the Directors” of this annual report, there is no other
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the directors and between the
Chairman and the Managing Director.
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Ms. Hao Quan, appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 19 September 2024, had obtained
the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing
Rules on 12 September 2024 and had confirmed she
understood her obligations as a director of the Company.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms to ensure
that independent views and input are available to the
Board. The Nomination Committee, a majority of which
is comprised of independent non-executive directors,
assesses the suitability and independence of potential
candidates to be appointed as independent non-
executive directors and reviews the independence of each
independent non-executive director annually pursuant
to the independence factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors
meet with the Chairman at least once annually without
the presence of other directors and they can have
separate and independent access to the management
through formal and informal means. Any director who
has a material interest in any contract or arrangement
or proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum
on any directors’ resolution approving the same.
Independent professional advice is also available to all
directors whenever necessary. These mechanisms are kept
under regular review on an annual basis, ensuring their
effectiveness. In June 2025, the Board conducted a review
and considered that such mechanisms were properly
implemented during the year and were effective.
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AESBIEXER ZEHFIEERRE
HES UBREEANME -R2TZREFN
B EFEET —REBE BAZEFHHINE
RREZEEREN

WL A B 45 B 48 W) 2024/20254E 67



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {45165 &

Board Diversity

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board in supporting the attainment of
its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
A board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”) setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
has been adopted by the Board and the Nomination
Committee will review annually whether board diversity
can be achieved. When reviewing board diversity, the
Nomination Committee will consider board diversity from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service, which form the measurable objectives of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee wiill
monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy
and make recommendation on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

As to gender diversity, in September 2024, the Board
appointed one female director. The Board targets to
maintain at least one female representation on the Board
and will continue to assess the Company’s circumstances
and needs from time to time to further enhance gender
diversity. The Nomination Committee will deploy various
channels for identifying suitable director candidates
to the Board, including referral from the Company’s
directors, shareholders, management and advisors or
internal promotion, to achieve gender diversity.

EFEHEZ T

ARERALREHEESTIEESTENT
B UZRHEBEREBRBRERRAIFRER-
EXEMESTIEBER (EFEMES T
R BEEFGRM HPJBEERES
EZIRENAE THIRREEESER
EXEENESTIERETER -ERANEEFE
MEZTER RREZECERZSBEAIEE
BEZEEMEZ UL BFEERRRIER F
B NIERBEE R ER FEEER K
MBRRBER FREFEMESTIER
RHNASEIER - RAEZECEEREST T
BEZTEBRNAIT LRAEFEFIRHE
I RIERT o

RN ZRErE RZZE_NFAA EF
R HAMEF EETERAERTS
MEELA-RUMRRER LR EERET
EERBZBRAREBE  LWE—FMRMER
ZRE-RELZEERBEZTERERES
EYMESENEFEEN FEEARRNES
R BEEKMERNERIALEA > UE
BRI Z e

68 HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {55 16H 51

As at 31 March 2025, 24% and 76% of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) were female
and male respectively. The Group has been implementing
equal employment opportunities since the establishment
of the Group. Our people strategy in all aspects of
employment practice from talent acquisition, training,
performance management and career development is so
far based on capability, experience and qualifications of
our employees if they fit in the competence requirements
of a particular position. Gender equality has been
exercised throughout our human resources practices
whereas there is fluctuation in gender ratio among our
workforce from time to time. The Group has been by all
means supporting gender equality continuously so as to
enrich our workforce composition while sustaining our
competence.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Company has established the Nomination Committee
since March 2012 to deal with matters in relation to the
appointment and re-election of directors.

Pursuant to the policy for nomination of directors
adopted by the Board, where vacancies on the Board
exist, the Nomination Committee will identify suitable
individuals by making reference to criteria including but
not limited to character and integrity, accomplishment,
educational background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge, experience and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, the Company’s needs, the
diversity of the Board and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations. New directors are sought
mainly through referrals or internal promotion. The
appointment of new directors or re-election of directors
is the decision of the Board upon the recommendation of
the proposed candidates by the Nomination Committee.
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The Company’s circular sent together with this annual
report contains detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

Chairman and Managing Director

The positions of the Chairman and Managing Director are
held by Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson and Mr. Wong Sue
Toa, Stewart respectively. The Board has adopted a set
of written terms setting out the roles and duties of the
Chairman and the Managing Director.

The Chairman provides leadership for the effective
functioning of the Board in the overall strategic planning
and development of the Group. With the support of
the Managing Director and senior management, the
Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing
on issues arising at Board meetings.

The Managing Director focuses on implementing
objectives, policies and strategies approved by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The Managing Director
is also responsible for formulating the organisational
structure, control systems and internal procedures and
processes for the Board's approval.

Directors’ Induction and Development

Every newly appointed director is provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure
that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations. The directors would be provided from time
to time with updates on the latest development and
changes to the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, all directors have
participated in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. A
summary of training received by the directors is set out

RB&E_T_AF=-A=+—HLEFE 2
REFERSERETXER UERKE
R F BRI B b BE - ER R R IBFIN M E
HIWMTF

below:

Training Areas

1N E
Accounting/
Corporate Financial/
Governance/ Management

Updates on Laws, or Other
Rules & Regulations Professional Skills

EER R g5t MBS
2 81) Re 57 B B9 EIEER
RIEN HE 5k
Non-executive Chairman FERITERE
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson BMERE v v
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart FiERE v v
(Managing Director) (EF/RATE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager) B Z Y (L IE) v Y/
Mr. Chow Ka Fung BEERE v v
Non-executive Director FERITES
Dr. Lam Chat Yu MEFEL v v
Independent Non-executive BWIERITES
Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe PRBIETE v v
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter A FEEL v v
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony BRESEL v v
Ms. Hao Quan mMELL v v
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the
guideline for securities transactions by directors and
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Company.

Specific enquiry has been made to all directors and the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2025 or the period from the appointment date to 31
March 2025 (for the director appointed during the year).

BOARD AND COMMITTEES

Board Process

The Board held four regular meetings for the year ended
31 March 2025 and the principal businesses transacted

include:

(i) assessing the business performance and planning
the future business directions;

(ii) approving the Company’s interim and final results
and reports;

(iii) approving the business activities and property
transactions of the Group;

(iv) determining the payment of dividend (if any);

(v) reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems;

(vi) approving the proposed amendments to the
Company's M&A for the shareholders’ approval;

5% 5 T

FABEHRM EHRAMERCGHRE#Z (L™
BTAEFETESXZORETA) (R
EFUNERAEREERES FIEERER
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M ;
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(v) BHTEEREEERANEEZERRHN
BRI
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(vii) approving a framework agreement governing the
continuing connected transactions and proposing
the matters for the shareholders’ approval;

(viii) approving the change of chairman of the
Nomination Committee;

(ix) approving the appointment of independent non-
executive director of the Company;

(x) approving the Company’s corporate governance
report; and

(xi) approving the Company’s environmental, social and
governance report.

Meeting schedules are normally made available to the
directors in advance. Notices of regular Board meetings
are given to all the directors at least 14 days before the
meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete
and reliable information are sent to all the directors at
least 3 days (as far as practicable) before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make
informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary. The directors receive
regular supply of information about the business
activities, financial highlights and operations review
so that they are well informed prior to participation in
Board meetings.

The Company’s articles of association contain provisions
requiring directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material
interest.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company has been
established since December 2001. The Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive directors
and Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and possesses appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit
Committee is a partner or former partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu, the Company’s existing external
auditor. During the year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Audit Committee comprises the
following directors:

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter* (Chairman of the committee)
Mr. Chan Pak Joe*
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony*

# independent non-executive director

The major duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

(i) reviewing the Company’s financial statements and
reports and considering any significant or unusual
items raised by the qualified accountant or external
auditor before submission to the Board;

(i) making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor, approving their remuneration
and terms of engagement and reviewing and
monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity;
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reviewing and reporting to the Board on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's financial
reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems and associated procedures, with the
assistance of the Risk Management Committee;

reviewing the Group’s operating, financial and
accounting policies and practices; and

reporting to the Board on the matters in the CG
Code.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2025 and the major works performed
are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

reviewing and recommending for the Board’s
approval of the Company’s financial results and
reports for the year ended 31 March 2024 and for
the six months ended 30 September 2024;

recommending to the Board the re-appointment of
external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2025;
and

reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended
31 March 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company has been
established since March 2012. During the year and
up to the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises the following directors:

Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony*
(Chairman of the committee) (Note i)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Mr. Tai Sai Ho
Mr. Chan Pak Joe* (Note ii)
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*
Ms. Hao Quan* (appointed on 19 September 2024)

# independent non-executive director
Notes:

(i) Dr. Chan is elected as the committee chairman with effect
from 28 June 2024.

(i)  Mr. Chan ceased to be the committee chairman with effect
from 28 June 2024.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee include
the following:

(i) reviewing the structure, size and composition
(including skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) identifying individuals suitably qualified to
become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorship;

(iii) assessing the independence of independent non-
executive directors of the Company;
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making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors of the
Company and succession planning for directors of
the Company in particular the Chairman and the
Managing Director; and

reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the
progress on achieving the objectives set for
implementing the policy.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during
the year ended 31 March 2025 and the major works
performed are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

assessing and approving the proposed appointment
of an independent non-executive director of the
Company for the Board approval;

reviewing the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

reviewing the Board Diversity Policy;

assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company; and

reviewing and making recommendations to
the Board on the re-appointment of directors
subject to retirement from office by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

(iv)

(v)
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee
since December 2004 (which replaced the Bonus
Committee established in December 2001). During
the year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Remuneration Committee comprises the following
directors:

Mr. Chan Pak Joe* (Chairman of the committee)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Mr. Tai Sai Ho

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter*

Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony*

# independent non-executive director

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee
include the following:

(i) formulating remuneration policy and practices and
determining the remuneration packages of the
executive directors and the senior management; and

(ii) ensuring no director or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) participating in
deciding his own remuneration.

In determining the remuneration, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed background information such as key
economic indicators, market/sector trend, headcount and
staff costs.
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The Remuneration Committee held three meetings
during the year ended 31 March 2025 and the major
works performed are as follows:

(i) considering and making recommendation to the
Board on the remuneration for a newly appointed
independent non-executive director;

(ii) approving the maximum bonus pool and the actual
bonus amount to be distributed to the executive
directors, senior management and other employees
of the Group; and

(iii) reviewing and determining the salary adjustment (if
any) for the executive directors, senior management
and other employees of the Group for the year
commencing on 1 April 2025.

Other Board Committees

In addition to delegating specific responsibilities to the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee, the Board also established the
following Board committees:

RB&E_T_AF=-A=+—HLEFE #
MEEEHETT=RER > BITHNIET
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Name of Committee Composition of Committee Role and Function of Committee

ZEEHE ZEGZHEK ZEGZABKMEAE

General Business Committee All executive directors of To handle the Company’s
(established since April 2002) the Company general business arising from

—REHKELZEG KABTZRHWITES normal course of business

(B -ZEZE_FIHERT)

Property Acquisition/ All executive directors of
Disposal Committee the Company
(established since April 2002) AT REERITES

Wi HEMEERZES
(BEZEE_FIFEEMKT)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee passed resolutions in
writing for approving a property transaction within the
authority delegated by the Board.

RIBEBEHBRPELEZER
BlZ—MREH

To handle the Company’s
acquisition/disposal of
property within a designated
threshold
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Attendance Record of Directors and Committee EEREETREHERE
Members

The attendance record of each director at general #EEZZ_AF=-A=+—HLFE &=
meetings, Board and committee meetings held during FHERITHRREAS - EFZETREZEET

the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below: EAVECESREAIMT ¢
Nomination Remuneration
Annual General  Extraordinary Audit Committee ~ Committee Committee
Meeting General Meeting  Board Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
(Note f) (Note ii) (Note i) (Note iv) (Note v) (Note vi)
BRRBERE RRERAE EXge; ENZEEEE RLEZE898 HFWESges
Name of Director EE4 (Hati) (Hazii) (Wretiii) (Htiv) (Hfzv) (Hatvi)
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson* ~ EfHfEAL 4+ 1N 1N 4/4 N/AS R N/AL R B N/AS R 3 e
(Chairman) (/)
Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart ~ EH#ELSE n 11 44 N/AL R L 22 33
(Managing Director) (BEAEATTE)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho Bttt 17N 1N 414 NIAL R 22 33
(General Manager) (445 1)
Mr. Chow Ka Fung BEEERE 1" 17" 414 NIAL R N/AL R R N/AL R R
Dr. Lam Chat Yu* HEFEL 11N 1n 414 NI R N/AS R NIAL R
Mr. Chan Pak Joe* BafkE: N 1N 4/4 2R 2 33
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter* 2 7R L N 17N 4/4 22 2 33
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony*  REZE M8+ 17N 17 414 11 22 33
Ms. Hao Quan* (Note vii) &L (Wstvii) N/A R N/A REH 33 NIAL R 7 NIAL RE R
* non-executive director g FEHITES
# independent non-executive director # BIERITES
8 the director is not a member of the relevant committee = ZEENIIEEHREZEEERE
Notes: BsE

()  The annual general meeting was held on 20 August 2024. () ZRFEFAEN_ZE_NFENR-+HE
The auditor of the Company, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu TR ATIZEENEE) » BARERS G EHEHTT
attended such meeting. HETZKEo

(i) The extraordinary general meeting was held on 20 August (i) ZRRFINAENR_ZE_MNFENR-+HE

2024. Details of the transactions approved at the meeting T gLMEZRZHFRERNEAATHIAA
were set out in the Company’s circular dated 25 July 2024. ZE_MEtAZ+HEBZBRAC
(iii) During the year, four regular Board meetings were held. (i) ®EE FARHBITTORERESETE
ER
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(iv) Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

(v) Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 28 June 2024.
Mr. Chan Pak Joe ceased to be the chairman of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 28 June 2024.

(vi) Mr. Chan Pak Joe is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

(vi) Ms. Hao Quan is appointed as an independent non-
executive director and a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 19 September 2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board oversees the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviews their
effectiveness on an ongoing basis. During the year,
the Board, as supported by the Audit Committee and
the Risk Management Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems covering all
material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls (including environmental and social
performance, risks and reporting). The Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather
than completely eliminate the risk of system failure;
and to assist in the achievement of the Group's agreed
objectives and goals. The risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are considered effective and
adequate.

(iv) FRELABZZEGERE-

(v) BREERITARLZEETIFE B-ZE_M
FERAZHN\NBEEM -BRAEKEREFE
BEERRZEEEIR BT -_MNFEAXA
“HNBEEN-

(vi) BREERESFNEEEERE-

(vi) MEXTEZERBIUIFRTESTRES
ZEEgNE BE_MNEAB+AHEL
o

R E IR R A B BG4

EFEREEEAERZRRERKRAERE
BERRRBAEARME -RERN TERE
BERABREEZEENZF T EFTH
FEBREFFAEREEFHEZEAREREN
RABEERARZAERGETEESR &
R EENSHEE (BRRERMTER
B ARRES) - c~EBZEAREERA
EERAMEEMNFAFEERNERRANIER
RIESE (BIFER) 2RE ; BEE (BFxR
HER) BRRBRZER ; ARG AERER
BEZFRERER -EEZEAREERRN
BEZERARARBEURTR
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The internal audit function provides independent
assurance on risk management, internal control and
governance processes. Supplementing the work of
the internal audit function, subsequent to the year
end, the Board also engaged external consultants and
professionals to assist the Company in performing risk
assessment and to conduct an agreed review over the
Group’s internal control systems for evaluating the
effectiveness of the systems. Findings from both sources
were considered by the Board, no significant risk issues
were identified and appropriate measures have been
taken to address the identified areas for improvement.
The Company adopted a risk management policy and
formed the Risk Management Committee chaired by
the Managing Director and with members comprising
the General Manager and various divisions’ senior staff
members. Systems and procedures are put in place to
identify, evaluate, manage and monitor the risks of
different businesses and activities. Regular monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems is
mainly performed by each of the key divisions/business
units who are required to conduct risk self-assessment
and to submit risk assessment results and action plans to
the Risk Management Committee. The Audit Committee
and the Risk Management Committee monitor and assess
the risk management systems and the risk management
issues, support and advice from external consultants
and professionals to perform independent reviews on
the risk management systems are sought as and when
required. Review on the risk management and internal
control systems has to be performed at least annually to
assess the effectiveness of the systems in monitoring and
managing risks (including environmental and social risks).

The Company has also maintained a tailored governance
structure with clear lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority
to the senior management, who are accountable for
the conduct and performance of the respective business
divisions under their supervision.

REBZINEMRREER - ABEERESR
RFRHBIIZE AETAEEZINEN
I REEBR EFETEEINTEMK
HEANTHBAQBETRERTG > LEE
EEZAMEEARETEEERUTIER
MzAMM -EFXCEZTEMAENERE
R HESFERNREEE MMEREFET K
EZMH RN T BERERE - A QT2
R EMERERR TR EREEEZES
HESACEETEIR RESERKER
BEMPINSRBE - ERILAKRIZRF » UH
Al A EEREESEFTUREEHZ
REiE-RBREErABEERAEHRERE
ERRFMBAF,EHEET > SRARREFT
SEBBAETREBHTME  L A AR
HERRITHABERTEREEEZEESE
R BZEEEKRAREEZETER KT
HRREERGERAREESEE ENE

RERIMBERARFEALZERER
UHEREERARETHEIER -MAKRE
BRAMBEZERRAETVSEETER U
AMERFRAREEREERRAR (BERIRE
RitgRE) FEZAYE-

FABNESHF—ESENERRE B
BEERBRNAE HETFTESREEAEDN
BEERERTAEENRE  REHZEE
BEEENEBMPIZEENMRREHE-
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The directors review monthly management reports on
the financial results, statistics and project progress of
each business division. Monthly management meetings
are held to review business performance against budgets,
forecasts and risk management strategies. Any major
variances are highlighted for investigation and control
purposes.

A centralised cash management system is maintained to
oversee the Group's investment and borrowing activities.
There are established guidelines and procedures for the
approval and control of expenditures. The aim is to keep
the expenditure level in line with the annual budget
and within the cost budget of an approved project.
Expenditures are subject to overall budget control with
various approval levels set by reference to the level of
responsibility of each manager and officer. Depending
on the nature and value, procurement of certain goods
and services are required to go through the tendering
process. No individual in the Group, irrespective of their
rank and position, are allowed to dominate the entire
expenditure process from commitment to payment.

The Group also regulates the handling and the
dissemination of inside information to the public in an
equal and timely manner in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. Senior management executives
of the financial control functions of the Group are
delegated with responsibilities to control and monitor
the proper procedures to be observed on the disclosure
of inside information.

EETEEREGANEEERS  BERE
BEFINM B R R Mt KRB EE - BATF
RTEEESR URRE -RAKRKRER
REAEEREFRRE LIERMEEEM
=82 DUFHEREE

FEBERF—EFRREEERFE UEE
FEBNKRERMERES - —RIHLERE
HAXHNES I REFEERY  BNEERR
XHNKFREEERERSEEHENEE
2B A AR EREAREFR
#oMEASREERTEMEREEERER
ERHEERR - RIBFEMEREE BEET
EmRRBEERENERE -FEERR

—EA FREZFHRBER) HEFBEERE
HAEEMRNEERBER -

FEBTRBEREZRRERRAEEE > I
BRABHEATERMERETARAL
FEEMFEGREZ SREETHRASE
RTBEEFNAEEMARHSRERET
ZBERF-
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards have been adopted, appropriate
accounting policies have been applied, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made.
The reporting responsibilities of the external auditor on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company
are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this
annual report.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out
below:

HRAMBRRZAE

EFCAERNRAVERR ERNEAS
MRk ESCCRNEBAVMBREE
B EAAEZETHE LEHSEMNEE
Y R i 51 o SNSRI BRI A A B AR & B
BREZBESTHINNAER MBI
BRI o

A% 24 B v B

BE_ZE_AF=A=+—HLEEE XA
B2 (I SM I A 2 FrEM BTN T -

HK$000
BT
Audit Services: BIZRT
Annual audit for the year ended 31 March 2025 BE_Z-_AF=HA=+—HL 3,376
FEZFES:
Reviewing the financial results and report for the ERBEE_T-_WNEAA=+H 700
six months ended 30 September 2024 WERERZMBEERRE
Non-audit Services: IEEZRTS -
Taxation and other services RIE K H AR TS 88
TOTAL 4agm 4,164
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a dividend policy in March
2019 setting out the principles and guidelines relating
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Company’s shareholders. In
recommending or declaring dividends, the Board shall
take into account the following factors of the Group:

(i) financial results;

(ii) cash flow situation;

(iii) availability of distributable profits;

(iv) business conditions and strategies;

(v) future operations and earnings;

(vi) cash requirements;

(vii) expected capital requirements and expenditure
plans;

(viii) interests of shareholders as a whole;

(ix) any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of
dividends; and

(x) any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to
time.

AR B ER
FARR_B-AEZBRAREBEH
BAAMAEAARIE R RERDRE

FEFEAREZRARIES - ZEHE K
RER EFEREREFIEETIEE :

(i) PFEERLE;

(i) BWEREBER;

(i) AIIFEER RER
(iv) ZEFBRTMREE ;

(v) RSN

(vi) REHBXK;

(vii) TREAEARERRZHEE ;

(viii) BRERBIEEREF a5

(ix) EAMKREERR,FIKEHRE ; &

(x) EBEFGUEIAEMNTAHHMEER-

EFERTFRRARSEE-
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SHAREHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Shareholders Communication

The Company’s shareholders communication policy
aims to provide the shareholders and the investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to the
Group's information. There are in place multiple channels
of communication and engagement available.

Shareholders and the investment community may make
a request for the Company's information to the extent
such information is publicly available, in writing to the
Company’s principle office in Hong Kong at 22/F, Kings
Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong (for the attention of the company
secretary). For information about their shareholdings,
shareholders can contact the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at
Shops 1712-1716, 17/F., Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Information of the Company is also communicated
to shareholders through the Company’s corporate
communications, including but not limited to annual
and interim reports, announcements and circulars. Such
published documents are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Annual
general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company provide a forum for direct interaction between
shareholders and the Company. Board members, in
particular, the chairmen of board committees or their
delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors, as appropriate, will attend annual
and other general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions. The process of the Company’s general
meetings will be monitored and reviewed on a regular
basis, and, if necessary, changes will be made to ensure
that shareholders’ needs are best served.

RRR2
AR R @A

FABRREABREEDRRRRER R
HEEE - TEM KRB EREEREHHRE-
BRIAZEDANBERBHERE

BREREERTUZTEERAAESATNRES
HNEERER it AFBRARAVBEEMNE
BE3RIGEIS1802218) (RATME) &
RAATEN MNZEERNABRMAER) K
RN TREFRER AJBERAT RN
BEBTEERAPRESELBRAT
WAEBEFTERAKERISIFEMP L7
11712-1716F ©

TABTMENTEBEATDNEEENGEE
TRFR SFEEFRREERFHRHRS - AE
KB o ZETI XA R A2 B R Ek 3P
MUEER S ABRREBERNG RHEMEKRR
REARREXAFRHERZEHN TS -
EFgNE RIREFEERETEIRENH
AR -BEENEEABRIMNDZEED (2B
) RUERREFAGREAMBRAE > U
EERRNEE  ERATRRAGHEFF
EHREERED  TRAKERETER XU
FERE T thmERRERK
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Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the
Board in writing through the company secretary, with the
contact details below:

Address: 22/F, Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street,
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong

Email: sc@hanison.com

Fax: (852) 2415 2080

In June 2025, the Board reviewed the Company’s
shareholders communication policy and considered that,
with the above measures in place, the implementation of
the policy was effective during the year.

Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings
on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association, the
notice of annual general meeting, the annual report
and the circular containing information on the proposed
resolutions will be sent to shareholders at least 21 days
before the meeting. Voting at annual general meeting
or other general meeting will be conducted by way of a
poll. The results of the poll will be published on the day
of general meeting by posting on the Company’s and the
Stock Exchange’s websites.

RERABHFMFANEAUZTEAREBER
ANEFEMESS ARBEERNT

it FEAMR D HAEPZHE3NRIRES
1802212

EEf . sc@hanison.com

f#H : (852) 2415 2080

A _E_RAEARA EEZEEERASRTR
REABR AN L RIBRAMUNERLT
ZBERRERANEHAE N -

RRRAEL - BEEEZEZFTEEEHRLR
R BREENERZESR-

REALBAGERAR RREFREE
T ERRBARIEZRBRAMENZE
RN AERITAEL2IRARKRREF X K
REFAREHEMRRAGRURELSE
TRRKREERBIERRAGEDELSA
5] B B 32 P 8 0t 9 A e o
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Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

General meetings shall be convened:

(i) on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F,, Kings
Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun,
Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the
objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be
added to the meeting agenda and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the voting rights, on
a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company; or

(ii) on the written requisition of any one member of
the Company which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee) deposited at the principal office
of the Company in Hong Kong (22/F, Kings Wing
Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong), specifying the objects of
the meeting and the resolutions to be added to the
meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, in
the share capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

BH
B

RERFINAERERRAGIRE

RTIBERTEEBRRKRRAS !

0}

(ii)

KABEA—RBREULRREERBRN
EENIENEER (FANAVBEEM
ZEEINRINEIS1802218) FXEEMR
EXR> EEERATIAXRE B HKAFM
EAEEEZZRENRER THRELE
RALTES  ERHEERHALIRE
REREZEARFABAERERTREREKR
ERENEATDREFRDR+DZ—HY
KREE BER—FRFH) ;%X

ER—%BREBAEERNARBRE

(HEAREAN) BERARREBNEE
MEE (FBRAVBEAMLZHEINR
RInEZ1HA2218) ZESEEXR - E@
BERAVAREGENRFMEREEH
FHREARRR THREHERNALER
B HRHEERNALTREREREH
BRAAEREARNRRAERENE
ABREF DR+ 2Z IR ER (%
BR—F5H) -
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
holding not less than one-tenth of the voting rights,
on a one vote per share basis, in the share capital of
the Company, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which the
meeting may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 20 August 2024, a special resolution was passed by
the shareholders of the Company approving certain
amendments to the M&A in order to (i) update and bring
the M&A in line with the relevant amendments made to
the Listing Rules in respect of the expanded paperless
listing regime and the electronic dissemination of
corporate communications by listed issuers; and (ii) make
other consequential and housekeeping amendments.
Details of the amendments were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 June 2024 and circular dated
25 July 2024. The amended and restated M&A is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

HMEFGRENBEERR2IBRERXNER
RE RHERPWALHERFAEERFR
FRADR+DZ2—RE# BRER—F5
B)WERALTTBETUREEEARRKRE
ARERENA N (BAIAERA) BRARE &
MEERNARERTEREREREBE=
BRARAER MIRHERNALTREEZER
FESERARMERMS RNMAE S ERX &
HARFRKREFELMHE-

SREXH

RIZEZWHENBZ+HRITZARFRE
BEXGLE RRBB—IEHIARE It
EERAMAKRMBANETEST UO)EHME
RARERAB R EREE FHRARE EHEE
TARMBAERECLTHERUEFHE
WA BB ELRABRMESTIRIF — 2 5 K(ii)
FHEMMERNAREEST ZEEBTFEH
RAEATSHBEA-ZE_MEA-+/N\HZ
NERBBEAE-_E_NFEFLtE-+HBAZE
BR| o BB FT I Bt 2 E A2 K48 K 4B BI BT 72 2R
R E) R A PR A uh B R o
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
BB

The board of directors (“Board”) presents its report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries, associate and
joint ventures are set out in notes 50, 19 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and review on the business activities
of the Group as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” (on pages 5 to 12), “Operations Review”
(on pages 13 to 50), “Financial Review” (on pages 51
to 61) and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in
the “Financial Highlights” (on page 4) and “Operations
Review” (on page 13) of this annual report.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management are
disclosed in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.

No material event affecting the Group has occurred since
the year end date.

Disclosures of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance are set out in the environmental, social, and
governance report of the Company which is published on
the Company’s website (www.hanison.com) at the same
time as the publication of this annual report.

EEY ((E2T) AEEEELAREKREWE
AR (RER)BE-_SE-_RF=A=+—
HIEEEZRERKEZIFEEHFRER

FEXH

FABDB—BKREEZERRT -EWBAE B
ERRAREGEREZTEBEBDNEHNEGS
BAFSERARMIEES0 ~ 195200

EFHOEE

A BMED (BB EMIE622F) M RSFAEXR
HAEERXHEH 2 E—PmREE (2
EHAERRHSZTERBRRAHABEZEZ
BN AEEEFZEETREANRKERZ
B/ BRAFERZTEEHREE (F5E12
BH) ~ M0 ($13F508) « MM #5EE)
($51F618) kG EMBREWTIA -

ERMEHRRRIEEONAEENEARAZ
RN AERZ TIHFLE (5F48) K IE
f5EIEE) (3B13E) o

ERAERMBRREEZFBERENEGS
B TS R R MI5E48

BEZAE HMEXERLIERENTEZ
EXEMH-

FEFRBEBEERREZEBENREAFIR
B -HEREARES  ZRSFEAFHRFERT
I 2 A B 485 (www.hanison.com) ©
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 are set out in the “Consolidated Statement of Profit
or Loss” on page 135.

No first interim dividend was paid to the shareholders
during the year (2024: HK1.0 cent per share).

The Board has resolved not to declare a second interim
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of
the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year are set out in the “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” on page 139.

EERDE
SERBE_E_AFE=-A=1+—HILEE
ZEBHNEI1BB2ZaBER] -
FRLERGE—RFHAREFREK (ZZ
M SRIRAR1.00W) -
EECERERAERBEE_S_AE=H

=+—HLEEEZEF_XFHRE (ZF
PO ) o

RENE

AEBRANERENZ BEHBERRES
BB mEM 6

VER N

AEMNE BERRBERENZ BB
W R A M REM 17

B4

FEBFEENERZEEFBEHNE
MrEEm R -
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 March 2025 comprised the
aggregate of share premium and accumulated profits of
HK$722,878,000 (2024: HK$722,516,000).

Under the articles of association of the Company,
dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits
of the Company, realised or unrealised, or from any
reserves set aside from profits which the directors of the
Company determine is no longer needed. Dividends may
also be declared and paid out of share premium account
subject to a solvency test as set out in section 34 of the
Companies Act (As Revised) of the Cayman Islands.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to complying with all relevant
laws and regulations imposed by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). We conduct on-
going reviews of the newly enacted or revised laws
and regulations, and we provide relevant training and
guidance to our staff when necessary.

FAF A HIREFEEE

RIEZRAFE=ZRA=+—H &xAFA#H2
FEEFRRNEHE SiERO EERREERN
4E 4L E722,878,000T (T 05 © B
722,516,0007T) ©

REBEAQBNEBERME) RETRER
BEERFRERNEN > IREREQF
EXZTRTERENRES (RN P L)
PEIRKRZ T RETFAERMBER (R
BBHINHASEEEGARE (BFTHR) 5
=+ EEEDAR) PEIRKZ M-

A7

AABRBRERERNZ BEHBEHEN S U
RRMIEE36

BT ERRIER

FEBBNONETERFIITHE BT KF
EARHLME (THE)) FREIE Z B HERE
BRER AEBEFERSHEMIIETZ
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Al k3551 -
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
BUSINESS PARTNERS AND OTHERS

The Group treasures the relationship with all
stakeholders and endeavours to engage them through
various initiatives and channels. In particular, we value
our human capital. To sustain our long-term talent
pipeline strategy, we frequently review and deliver
competitive compensation and benefits, performance
management, training and development, and staff
engagement activities to attract, nurture, and retain
talents and employees.

A long-standing relationship with business partners can
bring benefits for the Group as well as for suppliers and
customers. In addition to maintaining trusted business
partnership, we also engage our business partners in the
pursuit of better performance in business operations,
environmental impact, community investment, and
governance as a whole.

The Group has been encouraging staff to serve as
volunteers especially in the community where we are
operating and delivering our products or services.
Constructive site-community relationship is definitely our
priority. We maintain two-way and close communications
with the stakeholders in the community and work
thoroughly with relevant parties to initiate programmes
aiming to address the community’s concerns.

BES - BHEBHFREMALZE
&

FEEDHRARARNEZRERENE
BEAEMARREARESEF - HALAE
RANEE - BEFHRANRBASEER
B RAKEERRREARF N ZMERK
B RBEEE HIIRERURETIZEE
8 LRSI BERIEBAST RES

FEREBEBHZIFAMBRTRRER
HEBRERERAG RERFTUERZE
BRARMERN HATEEBBHSIEE
REBEB REFE HERERERZE
RREERR-
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme"”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continued
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of the 2011 Share Option Scheme. On 18 October 2024,
all unexercised share options under the 2011 Share
Option Scheme lapsed automatically on the expiry of
their exercise period.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
("Existing Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive
or non-executive directors and full-time employees of,
and consultants employed on a contract basis by, any
member of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Existing Scheme. No options have been granted under
the Existing Scheme since its adoption.

The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide the
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and our
shareholders as a whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Existing Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue on the date of the approval of the
Existing Scheme, subject to renewal as approved by
the shareholders of the Company. The total number
of shares available for issue under the Existing
Scheme is 109,092,467, which represents 10.17% of
the issued shares of the Company as at the date of
this annual report.
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(b) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(1

)

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”)), would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to
be granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1%
(or such other percentage as may from
time to time be specified by the Stock
Exchange) of the Company’s shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant, in excess
of HK$5.0 million (or such other amount
as may from time to time be specified by
the Stock Exchange),

such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval by the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all
core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(b) B2EEZBREREALR
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(9]

(d)

(e)

(f)

96

Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise
the option shall be notified by the Board to the
grantee at the time of making an offer, but such
period shall not expire later than ten years from the
date of grant.

Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which
an option under the Existing Scheme must be held
before it can be exercised in whole or in part.

Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant shall be paid on the
acceptance of the offer by the grantee. The offer
of grant of option must be accepted within 14 days
(or such other period of days as determined by the
Board from time to time) after the date of offer.

Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant,
which must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company

on the date of grant.

(9]

(d)

(e)
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(g) Remaining life of Existing Scheme
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The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years
commencing on the adoption date and will expire
on 24 August 2030 unless otherwise terminated in
accordance with the terms of the Existing Scheme.

Details of the movement of share options under the 2011
Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

(9) RITEABZERTER

PRIERIBIRITSHBURAR T UL LE > BRI

& 37 o

—E==
—_—<—=

RITET B 2B ME RS B 40 B et

o AR

FNBZ+MHIAH

FR T ——BRESTEIETZEREZ
SEEFENT

Number of share options
BREHR

Approximate
percentage
Balance Balance of issued
as at as at shares
1.4.2024 31.3.2025 (Note i)
IS Exercised Lapsed A EEET
Name or Category Exercise price  Exercise period ZE|mE during duing ZEBZEE 1AL
of ﬁarticipant Date of grant pershare  (Note ) mA—H the year theyear =A=+—H R
SHERTNER Rt A SRITEE  TEHEWE) &% RERTE REARY 248 (ietiii)
Directors
S
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - (5,454,000) - -
e “E-NAE+ATNR Aer ZE-NAEHATARE
2 mE+A+tA
Tai Sai Ho 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 5,454,000 - (5,454,000) - -
AR “E-n&E+ATN\B BE&er ZE-AF+AT\RE
2 mE+ATtA
Chow Ka Fung 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,898,000 - (1,898,000) - -
G ZE-nE+ATN\A Ber ZE-hAETATN\RE
“ZMETATtR
Chan Pak Joe 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 1,090,000 - (1,090,000) - -
Bk “Z-NE+ATNR Ber ZE-AE+HAT\RE
2 mE+A+tA
Subtotal 13,896,000 - (13,896,000) -
gt
Other Emgloyee Participants 18.10.2019 HK$1.16 18.10.2019 to 17.10.2024 8,250,000 - (8,250,000) - -
HitER2HE ZE-nE+ATN\A Aer ZE-hAEHATN\RE
“ZMETATtR
Subtotal 8,250,000 - (8,250,000) -
gt
Total 22,146,000 - (22,146,000 -
st
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Notes:

(i) The share options vested immediately on the date of
grant.

(ii)  No share options were cancelled during the year.

(iii) The percentage is calculated based on the total number
of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2025 (i.e.
1,073,074,676 shares).

The number of share options available for grant under
the Existing Scheme mandate as at 1 April 2024 and 31
March 2025 was 109,092,467.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, WARRANTS
OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no
outstanding convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights as at 31 March 2025 and there has been no issue or
exercise of any convertible securities, warrants or similar
rights during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report are:

Non-executive Chairman
Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart (Managing Director)
Mr. Tai Sai Ho (General Manager)

Mr. Chow Ka Fung

Non-executive Director
Dr. Lam Chat Yu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Pak Joe
Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter
Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony
Ms. Hao Quan
(appointed on 19 September 2024)

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, Mr. Chow
Ka Fung and Dr. Lam Chat Yu shall retire from office by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In
accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Ms. Hao Quan who was appointed by the
Board on 19 September 2024, shall hold office until the
first annual general meeting of the Company after her
appointment. All the retiring directors, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
March 2025 are set out in note 12(i) to the consolidated
financial statements. For the year ended 31 March 2025,
the emoluments of the senior management, whose
biographical details are set out in the “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
below, fell within the following bands:

EFREITHM

BE_ZE_HAF=ZRA=+—HILEE -BFMH#H
EEME2HFBHINGTEMBRRMF
120 BE_TE_AF=ZB=+—HILEFE"
BREBABZHN (HEEFBHNTX
EEREREEABRBE —&) JIIAMUT
47 -

Number of

individuals
Emolument Bands 4B R AEL
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 751,000,001t — #%1,500,0007T 5
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 751%%1,500,0017c— #&12,000,0007T 3
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 7&12,000,0017% — % #2,500,0007T
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Directors

Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson, aged 73, is the Chairman
and a non-executive director of the Company. He joined
the Company since November 2001. Mr. Cha has over 40
years of experience in venture capital and investment
management and is currently the chairman of C.M.
Capital Advisors (HK) Limited. He is a non-executive
director of HKR International Limited (“HKRI”) and
Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million
Hope"”). The securities of HKRI and Million Hope are
listed on the Stock Exchange. He is a director of CCM
Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”), LBJ Regents (PTC)
Limited (“LBJ”, formerly known as LBJ Regents Limited)
and Mingly Asia Capital Limited (“Mingly Asia”), and a
non-executive director of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”).
Each of CCM Trust, LBJ, Mingly Asia and Mingly is a
substantial shareholder of the Company discloseable
under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO"). Mr. Cha is also an independent non-executive
director of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a
director of a number of other companies in Hong Kong
and overseas. He is a member in non-profit organisations
including Qiu Shi Science & Technologies Foundation and
Moral Education Concern Group, and a co-opted external
member to the Finance Committee of the Council and
a member to the University Court of The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology.
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Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart, aged 79, joined the Group in
1989 and is the Managing Director of the Company. Mr.
Wong also serves as the chairman of the General Business
Committee and the Property Acquisition/Disposal
Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong is the chairman and a non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. Before he joined the Group, he was a director
for several listed companies and a director of HKRI
(whose securities are listed on the Stock Exchange) until
his resignation in December 2001. He is also a director
of various subsidiaries of the Company. He has extensive
experience in the construction and real estate fields.
Mr. Wong holds a bachelor degree in science from San
Diego State University and a master degree of science in
civil engineering from Carnegie Mellon University in the
United States of America. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM).

Mr. Tai Sai Ho (Alias: David), aged 74, is an executive
director and the General Manager of the Company.
Mr. Tai also serves as a member/the acting chairman
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee; and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tai joined the Group in
1989 and has extensive experience in public and private
sectors of the building and civil engineering industries
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tai is a non-executive director of
Million Hope, whose securities are listed on the Stock
Exchange. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Tai holds a master degree in business
administration from Asia International Open University
in Macau, a master degree in construction management
from University of New South Wales in Australia and a
bachelor degree in civil engineering from National Cheng
Kung University in Taiwan. Mr. Tai is a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD) and the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (FHKICM).
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Mr. Chow Ka Fung (Alias: Matthew), aged 56, is an
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Mr. Chow has been serving the Group from 1998. He
oversees the Property Development Division, Property
Investment Division as well as Property Agency and
Management Division. He also serves as a member
of the General Business Committee and the Property
Acquisition/Disposal Committee, and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chow specialises
in property development, investment, marketing,
management and project management in Hong Kong
and the PRC. He holds a bachelor of science degree in
land management from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Chow is a Registered Professional Surveyor
(General Practice) (Property and Facility Management)
under the Surveyor Registration Board (RPS). He is
also a member of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (MRICS), a member of China Institute of Real
Estate Appraisers and Agents (MCIREA), a member of
the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators (MCIArb) and a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Dr. Lam Chat Yu (Alias: Chat), aged 73, has been a non-
executive director of the Company since March 2021.
Dr. Lam joined the Group in November 2001 as an
executive director of the Company and was re-designated
as a non-executive director since August 2013 until he
resigned in December 2015. Dr. Lam is specialised in the
areas of direct investment, financial advisory, and asset
management. He has extensive investment experience
in the technology sector, including 15 years in Silicon
Valley, California, and over 20 years in Asia. Dr. Lam
holds a Ph.D. degree of Management Science from MIT
Sloan School of Management, M.S degree in Computer
Science from Northwestern University and a B.S degree of
Electrical Engineering.
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Mr. Chan Pak Joe, aged 72, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since November
2001. Mr. Chan also serves as the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chan has been an executive director of The
Luk Hoi Tong Company, Limited since 1973. Mr. Chan is
the founder of the “Li Zhi Bursary” of Tsinghua University
in the PRC. He is also the Vice-Chairman of “Love Relay
Grant-in-Aid” of Fudan University in the PRC since
September 2005. His community services include having
served as a director of YMCA and as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Hong Kong Housing Society.

Dr. Lau Tze Yiu, Peter, aged 66, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since September
2004. Dr. Lau also acts as the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Dr.
Lau was the Associate Dean of the School of Business
of the Hong Kong Baptist University. He serves as
Adjunct Professor in the School of Business of the Hong
Kong Baptist University. He holds a bachelor degree
in commerce from Saint Mary’'s University in Canada,
a master degree in business administration from
Dalhousie University in Canada and a doctorate degree
of philosophy in accounting from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong. He is a member of The Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario (CPA, CA) in Canada,
a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants
of British Columbia (CPA, CMA) in Canada, a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (FCPA), and an associate member of The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong (ATIHK). He was also
a president (1992-1993) of the City Lions Club of Hong
Kong.
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Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony, aged 73, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since April 2023. Dr. Chan also serves as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company. He is an independent non-executive director of
Hutchison Port Holdings Management Pte. Limited (the
trustee-manager of Hutchison Port Holdings Trust which
is listed on the Singapore Exchange, stock code: NS8U).
Dr. Chan was the President of King Abdullah University
of Science and Technology (“KAUST"”) (2018-2024), the
President of The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (2009-2018), and Assistant Director of the
Mathematical and Physical Sciences Directorate at the
US National Science Foundation (2006-2009). He is on
the Board of Trustees/Directors of: KAUST Investment
Management Company, US; Skolkovo, Russia; The Hong
Kong Academy of Sciences and Yidan Prize Foundation,
Hong Kong. Dr. Chan is a member of the International
Advisory Board of Westlake University in Hangzhou,
China, and a Venture Partner for Beta Lab, a KSA-based
venture capital fund in technology. He is (was) on the
Advisory Board/Committee of the Academic Ranking
of World Universities, China; King Fahd University of
Petroleum & Minerals, KSA; Korea Advanced Institute
of Science & Technology, Korea; NEOM, KSA (2018-
2020); Saudi Data and Al (SDAIA) Supervisory National
Strategy Committee of Data and Al, Saudi Arabia;
RIKEN, Japan; SUSTech, China and University of Vienna
(2015-2020). He had been on the Board of Trustees/
Directors of: King Abdulaziz City of Science & Technology,
Future Investment Initiative (FIl Institute), KSA; Riyadh
BioTech City, KSA. Dr. Chan had been a member of the
KSA Research Development and Innovation Supreme
Committee. He was a co-founder, Director (2000-2001)
and Board member (2009-2020) of the US NSF Math
Institute IPAM. Dr. Chan taught Computer Science
at Yale University before joining UCLA as Professor
of Mathematics in 1986 and was the Chair of the
Department of Mathematics in 1997 and Dean of Physical
Sciences (1991-1996).

BREERL BR BT =FHNARLE
ARRABDBIUFRATEST - RIELTAER
AIRAEZEGIFEURBEZEZE G M
Z8 g8 - AHutchison Port Holdings
Management Pte. Limited (&#z2EOE
SEZ B A—KE > MM BOEER M
WA Z P L REAS (NS8U) 2/ IE
HITES - HRIg T S MR E ERR
KRB (TKAUST) RER (ZE-NEE_ZF
ZNE) - EERNREABRE (CTESAERE
TE-N\F)UREEHBERHNEBESGHE
RMENBEEZEEHEGR (CTEERERE
ZEENE) BAUTRENZTREAZE
g/ EEGHE | EFEKAUST Investment
Management Company; % #iSkolkovo;
BEANEBREEE—FARESEE -BRELS
FEMMAEAAZERERZEERERY
HALARI AR E $Beta LabMBEIESE
ANefs (BE) UTRENEMNZES
ZEEE PEIHRKBEMEES ; WIF
PRI EFMER TR MBE K2 ; BEM 2
B b ; IHRRRIEI AR (CE—N\FEE
“E0TH)  MREANEAVESEERALS

BE(SDAIABIR#ER A TSR RBEEZE
@ ; BASIB{CERITFR 5 qﬂlﬁﬁﬂﬁkfﬁ
REMAKRB (CE—HEEZTIEH) o
HEREEUTESENZTIAZER E5Y
FR 8 IVFFRIRIE F b AL 8 Fe 252X B E R
o KRB E R (FUFRAZERR) 5 D45 A
MBS EMRE - RIELT B RV FRIE
MREEKANESEEGZEE KAE
BEXRHNZ2ESEHEWEMPAMNE S
BIAES (_i\,ﬁ;ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ TE—5) 73'2
EXZEHEB (CEEAEEZZTEH) o
T@imﬁfﬂﬁgkfﬁﬂﬁdﬁ%ﬂm ) Eéﬁ(‘
—ANREMAMMN KR RIEER
B IR —ANtEREFHBRETER
MEBHEBERRER (—AA—FE—AAR
F)o

WU AU PR A A ) 20242025468 105



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i i &7 Hi 1k &

Dr. Chan received his BS and MS degrees in Engineering
from Caltech and his Ph.D. in Computer Science from
Stanford University. He is a member of US National
Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of IEEE, American
Association for the Advancement of Science and Society
for Industrial & Applied Math. Dr. Chan was awarded
the 2020 SIAM Prize for Distinguished Service to the
Profession, and the Honorary Doctorates from University
of Strathclyde (2015) and University of Waterloo (2022).

Ms. Hao Quan (Alias: Sherry), aged 66, has been an
independent non-executive director of the Company
since September 2024 and also serves as a member of
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Hao
has extensive experience in audit and accounting as well
as in the education sector. Ms. Hao joined KPMG (USA)
in 1993 and became a partner of KPMG Huazhen LLP
(Special General Partnership) and its predecessor since
2001 until her retirement in 2015. Prior to this, Ms. Hao
served as a lecturer at the Renmin University of China
(1982-1989). Ms. Hao is currently an independent non-
executive director of Legend Holdings Corporation (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange) since 2015 and
an independent non-executive director of Ant Group Co.,
Ltd. since 2020. She was an independent non-executive
director of HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited (2018-
2024) and an independent director of BEST Inc. (a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange) (2017-
2021). Ms. Hao is a council member of Dandelion Middle
School, Beijing, the chairperson of China Arts Foundation
and a director of CICC Charity Foundation. Ms. Hao
obtained a bachelor degree in accounting and finance
from the Renmin University of China and a master degree
in business administration from Temple University in the
United States. She is a certified public accountant in the
PRC and in California, the United States. Ms. Hao was
a member of China Accounting Standards Committee
(2011-2015).
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Senior Management

Mr. Chan Yiu Kei, Charles, aged 59, joined the Group
in 2010. He is a director of the Construction Division
of the Group. He has over 30 years of experience in
human resources management, employee training
and development, organisation development and
consultation in Hong Kong. He also involves in corporate
social responsibility and ESG reporting in the latest
decade. He holds a Master of Social Science from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong, a Master of Science
in Human Resource Management and Training from
University of Leicester in the United Kingdom and a
Postgraduate Diploma in Management Consulting
and Change from The University of Hong Kong. He is
a graduate of Corporate Coaching Program (CCP) of
Corporate Coach U Canada, a Certified Administrator
of The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI), a Certified
Behavioral Consultant (DISC) of the Institute for
Motivational Living, a Certified Management Consultant
(CMCQ) of Institute of Management Consultants, a
professional member (MIHRM) of Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resource Management, and a Fellow & Certified
Sustainable Development Planner of World Institute of
Sustainable Development Planners.

Mr. Cheung Hok Chuen, aged 55, joined the Group in
1999. He is a director of the Construction Division and
Interior and Renovation Division of the Group. Mr.
Cheung has comprehensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds a BSc in surveying from
The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Choi Siu Fai, aged 38, joined the Group in 2015. He
oversees the Group’s finance and accounting function
and is a director of the Health Products Division of the
Group. He has over 15 years of experience in finance and
accounting. He holds a BBA in Professional Accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and is a
Certified Public Accountant of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA").
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Mr. Ho Chi Tong, aged 60, joined the Group in 1998.
He is a director of the Construction Division, Building
Materials Division and Interior and Renovation Division
of the Group. He has extensive experience in quantity
surveying consultancy and construction contracting.
He holds a professional diploma in quantity surveying
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
Registered Professional Surveyor (QS) under the Surveyor
Registration Board (RPS) and a member of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS) and Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS).

Mr. Kong Wing Kin, aged 51, joined the Group in 1996.
He is a director of the Interior and Renovation Division of
the Group and has extensive experience in the building
industry in Hong Kong. He holds an associate degree
in facilities management from the City University of
Hong Kong, a professional diploma in occupational
safety and health from the Hong Kong Baptist University
and a bachelor degree in building surveying from the
University of Reading in the United Kingdom. He is a
registered Constructor (Qianhai) under the PRC. He is
also a member of Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers (MHKICM), The Chartered Institute of Building
(MCIOB), and Chartered Association of Building Engineers
(MCABE).

Mr. Lam Chiu Yat, Paul, aged 61, joined the Group in
2000. He is a director of the Building Materials Division of
the Group. He has over 33 years of experience in project
management. He holds a Bachelor of Building from
University of New South Wales.

Mr. Lin Tai Ning, Raymond, aged 60, joined the Group
in 2008. He is a director of the Property Agency and
Management Division of the Group. Mr. Lin has extensive
experience in project management. He holds a bachelor
degree in arts (architectural studies) and a bachelor
degree in architecture from The University of Hong Kong.
He is a Registered Architect of The Hong Kong Institute
of Architects.
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Mr. Lun Tim Ho, aged 66, joined the Group in 1990 and
is a director of the Construction Division and Interior and
Renovation Division of the Group. Mr. Lun has extensive
experience in the construction field in Hong Kong and
the PRC. He holds an associateship and a higher diploma
in the building technology and management from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building (MCIOB), Hong Kong
Institute of Construction Managers (MHKICM), Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (MRICS), The Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors (MHKIS), and The Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers — Building (MHKIE).

Mr. Wong Ping Chung, aged 54, joined the Group in
1996. He oversees the Group’s information technology
function and is a director of the Health Products Division
of the Group. He has over 25 years of experience in
information technology. He holds a Master of Business
Information Technology from Curtin University.

fMRERE 665 R—ANEEMALTE
HEREERERREMREERZE
F-RAEEETERTERERRBEEL
B-RHAEBEIABRREIZREES
REIREHRE KA REAGTFEERE &
AEEMBE HEERFFAEMNRE B
BAEMEEREBIREMBGRENZE
So

BRAPEE 545 R—ANSREMARE
REBEHREAERENRKRIRAR
EERREMBZEET RESARNKZAE
FRM25F L5 o IFFACurtin University
EEARRBELT SR

WL AU PR A LA ) 20242025468 109



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i i &7 Hi 1k &

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the directors of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO were as
follows:

(i) Long position in the shares of the Company

EFMNAM Bk REEEZ
EERNE

RIZBZHAF=ZA=+—H'F2FEFFRN
TABZRD KRG FHEALRERNER
BIRBERBFRAERGIBIS2HFAFEEZE
oAz ST :

() RE2TRBZEE

110

Approximate
percentage of
issued shares

Total (Note v)
Number of number of B E1TRRR
Name Capacity shares held shares held =R
4 =0 FrERMEE SR EH (Hiztv)
Cha Mou Daid, Johnson Beneficial owner 14,155,500
EiHE mZHEBEA
Beneflaa % of discretionary trusts 539,500,961 553,656,461 51.59%
@A (Note j)
(Hiazi)
Wong Sue Toa, Stewart Beneficial owner 48,704,157
= BREEA
Interest of controlled corporation 4,270,975
REEE R (Note i)
(Hiatii)
Interest of spouse 5,485,487 58,460,619 5.44%
L (Note iif)
(Wiatiii)
Tai Sai Ho Beneficial owner 17,385,721 17,385,721 1.62%
Bt BREEA
Chow Ka Fung Beneficial owner 2,394,000 2,394,000 0.22%
BEZ BREEA
Lam Chat Yu Beneficial owner 318,000
WEF SHEBEA
Interest held Jomtl with another person 2,140,000 2,458,000 0.22%
BHEMATH F%Z%ﬁ*ﬁ (Note iv)
(Hiztiv)
Chan Pak Joe Beneficial owner 2,830,100 2,830,100 0.26%
(=3 BREEA
Lau Tze Yiu, Peter Beneficial owner 5,110,950 5,110,950 0.47%
2¥iE BREEA
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Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

These shares are held under certain but not identical
discretionary trusts, of which Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson is among the members of the class of
discretionary beneficiaries.

Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart's corporate interests in
the Company arise from the fact that he owns 50%
equity interest in Executive Plaza Limited, which
holds 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

These shares are held by Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai,
the spouse of Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart.

These shares are held by Dr. Lam Chat Yu jointly with
his spouse Ms. Lam Elizabeth Mona.

The percentage is calculated based on the total
number of issued shares of the Company as at 31
March 2025 (i.e. 1,073,074,676 shares).

R

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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(ii) Share options

Directors’ interests in share options are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of
the directors and chief executive of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO,
or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Nor any of the
directors and the chief executive had any interest in, or
had been granted any right to subscribe for the securities
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) or had exercised any
such right during the year ended 31 March 2025.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits (including debentures) of the Company
or any other body corporate and none of the directors
or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights during the year.
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSEABLE UNDER SFO

So far as is known to the Company, as at 31 March 2025,
the interests of the shareholders (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company) in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

WRiREsF RAAGIRHIA FIRERIAR
R

BARBRAN - R _B_RF=A=+—H"
RER (ERBREERESTHABRIN KA
RNERMPRAERRG FHEALERN A AT R
BESFRBAEHRME3B6FAFEZELH
ZHEmMT

Long position in the shares of the Company REABIRMNDZEFE
Approximate
percentage of
issued shares
(Note vi)
Number of LB BT
Name Capacity shares held BB 7L
218/ 4 g1 FrfsRRDEE (Hiz2vi)
CCM Trust Trustee 487,702,041 45.44%
A (Note i)
Interest of controlled corporations (Hzi)
SEEE R
Mingly Interest of controlled corporation 104,243,301 9.71%
%nh SELEZER (Note ii)
(i)
Mingly Asia Beneficial owner 104,243,301 9.71%
BE@BEEA
LBJ Trustee 67,829,571 6.32%
A (Note iij)
Interest of controlled corporation (Batiii)
SEEE R
Wong Lui Kwok Wai Beneficial owner 58,460,619 5.44%
FTEEZE EREEA (Note iv)
Interest of controlled corporation (Hiztiv)
SELE R
Interest of spouse
B =
Cha Mou Sing, Payson Beneficial owner 54,437,427 5.07%
(Deceased) BEREEA (Note v)
EME (FH) Interest of controlled corporations (Hiztv)

REFE R
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Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Save

These share interests comprise 383,458,740 shares directly
held by CCM Trust and 104,243,301 shares held indirectly
through Mingly’s wholly-owned subsidiary. CCM Trust is
interested in 87.5% equity interest in Mingly. CCM Trust
is holding the 383,458,740 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members
of the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou
Daid, Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among
the discretionary objects. Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is a
director of CCM Trust.

These share interests are held by Mingly indirectly through
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mingly Asia. Mr. Cha Mou
Daid, Johnson is a director of Mingly and Mingly Asia.

These share interests comprise 61,022,931 shares directly
held by LBJ and 6,806,640 shares held indirectly through
Bie Ju Enterprises Limited, its wholly-owned subsidiary. LBJ
is holding the 61,022,931 shares as the trustee of certain
but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of
the Cha Family (comprising, inter alios, Mr. Cha Mou Daid,
Johnson (the Chairman of the Company)) are among the
discretionary objects. Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is also a
director of LBJ.

Ms. Wong Lui Kwok Wai is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sue Toa, Stewart and is deemed under the SFO to be
interested in 48,704,157 shares beneficially owned by her
spouse. Ms. Wong is personally interested in 5,485,487
shares and owns 50% equity interest in Executive Plaza
Limited which is holding 4,270,975 shares of the Company.

These share interests comprise 26,537,925 shares
beneficially owned by the late Mr. Cha Mou Sing, Payson
and 14,189,502 shares and 13,710,000 shares held
indirectly through Accomplished Investments Limited and
Kola Heights Limited, respectively. These two companies
are directly wholly-owned by the late Mr. Cha.

The percentage is calculated based on the total number

of issued shares of the Company as at 31 March 2025 (i.e.
1,073,074,676 shares).

as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the

Company has not been notified by any persons (other

than
who

the directors and chief executive of the Company)
had any interests or short positions in the shares and

underlying shares of the Company which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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ECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING

BUSINESS

During the year, the interests of the directors (not
being the independent non-executive directors) of the
Company in businesses which compete or were likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the principal
businesses of the Group as required to be disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of director (Note i)

Name of company  Nature of interest

EFNRERBPR RS

FEERARABDER BIUFATESR
S REAERFERFERABERARS

MR ETAE

R MRE EHRBAT R

BZEMEHRER ZERMNT

Competing business (Note /i)

BERMH (W) AGEL EmnE PR (Hati)

Cha Mou Daid, Johnson HKRI Director of HKRI and a member of the class of (@) Property development and

B EREYE discretionary beneficiaries of certain but not investment

identical discretionary trusts of which the MERBRIRE

trustees are deemed substantial shareholders

of HKRI under Part XV of the SFO (b) Provision of property agency
ERREEERETARNBEERZREZEA and management services

ARIZME  MREE S MG RGIEXVE» % RENERERERRE

FEAZEEABRRAERREIZRR

Notes: Myt :

(i)  Mr. Cha Mou Daid, Johnson is a non-executive director () BTHELEARATIFERNTES  BHLESR
of the Company, who is not involved in the daily BAEBHESEI - ALt AATAEH
management of the Group. Accordingly, the Company is EREHEERB TN LB SMRERT
capable of carrying its businesses independently of, and AT E AR -
at arm’s length from the abovementioned competing
businesses.
In addition, Mr. Wong Sue Toa, Stewart held share o FHELEAERETFREANT (T F
interests and directorships in certain private companies AT NEYELESRBERAAETNREE
("Private Companies”) which engage in property B AR RETESES AN AAT
investment and serviced apartment or hotel operation. EEEBUNZENENASINESe R ES
As the Board of the Company is independent of the EUARBZENEATINEAEESER
boards of the Private Companies and has a different (AT EETH=-LHITES WL IEHR
board composition to the respective boards of the Private FEERNUABIIERTESER) » A5
Companies (the Board of the Company comprises three FR SR T I/ NGI L OE S e I R N 2= %
executive directors, two non-executive directors and LR M,
four independent non-executive directors), the Company
operates its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from the businesses of the Private Companies.

(i)  Such businesses may be made through subsidiaries, (i) ZEZEEEUSBWEATRRBMBATLE

affiliated companies or by way of other forms of
investments.

L) B P B A R 23 ) 2024/20254F $i

HEBEMKRES XL
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” below, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts that are significant in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries, its parent company or any subsidiary of
its parent company was a party and in which a director
of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION AND
INSURANCE

The Company’s articles of association provides that every
director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a director or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, in which judgment is given
in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted
indemnity provision is in force during the year ended 31
March 2025 and at the date of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and

officers’ liabilities insurance coverage for directors and
officers of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the share option scheme described above, the

Group has not entered into any equity-linked agreements
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for undertaking the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group
accounted for about 64% of the turnover of the Group
and the largest customer is an independent third party,
accounted for about 26% of the turnover of the Group.
Aggregate purchases for the year ended 31 March 2025
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were less
than 30%.

None of the directors, their respective close associates,
or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
shares) has any interest in the five largest customers and
suppliers of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the requirements of the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in making
mandatory contributions for its staff. Details of charges
relating to the retirement benefits schemes are set out in
note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group is implementing a manpower policy that
aims to maximise the output of existing staff resources
in order to achieve productivity gains. We believe that
through improving our staff’s job-related competencies,
our overall operational efficiency can be improved
without the need for substantial increase in headcount.

EEAY

RER XRBLET UK FEEAERE
AEEMHEFEAETEZRIEBZEER
THREH-

FEERRMES

RER ZEBZAAREEAEEEEE
464% MBRABRABILFE=FH A ER
EEEAE6% BE_E_RE=RA=+—
HIEEE AEBRRAKEEEEGLIXERE
DiR30% o

BE_E_AF=A=+—HLEFE HE
EX HREZAZEEHMBANEFRRE (L
ESMABEAESRAREEITRAS%UL)
FEFRLARERRMEFPEASERED

BAEREHE

FEBBRBRETREEABE IR ZE
T mEES (s 1 R - BB AER
TR MG BRI R S MBI RMIEE43 -

{12 & e i B B 3R

FEBBET-EHUSELERAEEER
HRILRSEENHENZ ANEE - FKFIE
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R o

WL A B 45 B 48 W) 2024/20254E 117



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS i i &7 Hi 1k &

As at 31 March 2025, the Group (excluding its joint
ventures) had 512 employees (2024: 543 employees).
Staff costs of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025 amounted to HK$225.6 million (excluding directors’
emoluments) (2024: HK$212.8 million). The Group
offers competitive remuneration packages, including
discretionary bonus and share option scheme, to its
employees, commensurable to market level and their
qualifications. The Group also provides retirement
schemes, medical benefits and both in-house and
external training courses for employees.

Employees and directors are remunerated according
to individual and the Group’s performance, industry
trends, prevailing market conditions, the nature of the
job and value creation. The Group recruits and promotes
individuals based on their development potential, merits
and competencies, and ensures that their remuneration
packages are at a reasonable market level. The directors,
eligible full time employees and consultants of the Group
are entitled to participate in the share option scheme of
the Company.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

On 19 July 2024, the Company and Million Hope have
entered into a framework agreement (“Framework
Agreement”) to provide a framework for the regulation
of the provision of design, supply and installation of
facade and curtain walls, aluminium windows and doors
works (“Services”) by Million Hope and its subsidiaries
("MH Group”) to the Group. The Framework Agreement
is effective from 1 April 2024 up to and including 31
March 2027, unless terminated earlier in accordance with
the provisions of the Framework Agreement.
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The total value of the transactions between members
of the Group on the one hand and members of the MH
Group on the other hand in relation to the subsidiary
agreements contemplated under the Framework
Agreement to be entered into between the Group and
MH Group (in terms of payments made in the case of the
Group and in terms of revenue recognised in the case
of the MH Group) for each of the three years ending
31 March 2027 (“Annual Caps”) shall not exceed the
following:

1 April 2024 — 31 March 2025 HK$80,000,000
1 April 2025 - 31 March 2026 HK$80,000,000
1 April 2026 — 31 March 2027 HK$80,000,000

The Framework Agreement provides that payments of
contract sums must be settled in accordance with the
terms of the relevant subsidiary agreements. The MH
Group will be engaged to provide the Services on a
project-by-project basis, and the terms of a subsidiary
agreement in respect of a transaction under the
Framework Agreement will vary depending on the
project. In general, the subsidiary agreement would
set out a lump sum fixed price for the Services for
each project and will provide a mechanism for staged
payments. Typically, progress payment applications would
be submitted by the MH Group on a monthly basis
for the work done during that month. The appointed
architects of the project or the main contractor (i.e.
the relevant member of the Group in respect of a
transaction) will examine the work done and issue a
payment certificate to the MH Group. The MH Group
will then issue an invoice according to the payment
certificate, and it generally takes 30 to 44 days after
the issue of the payment certificate for the MH Group
to receive payment. Payments are effected by cheque,
autopay or bank transfer, generally to mirror the
mechanics under the main contract for the project. The
final account in respect of each project will also be issued
to the MH Group after the defects liability period (a
period during which the MH Group will be responsible,
at its own costs, for remedial works which may arise in
respect of any defective works or substandard materials
used), and the outstanding balance presented in the
agreed final account represents full and final settlement
to the MH Group regarding the project.

BE_Z_ttHF=RA=+—HLE=EFEZ
FoREBBEAR (FR—75) HETER
REAR (FRBE—A) MAEREAXETEH
H%%D]’-LE’J*E?'T bﬂu?ﬁIE—Fﬁu]—_LEIJIZﬁ%Tﬁuﬁ
ETRSNEE GIEAEEMS  HENRIE
FEMEFTFEEMS  REEITBAGH)
(TEE LR A EBBUTERIE:

_E_NENA—-RBE 7 #80,000,0007T
—_E_HRF¥=RA=+—H

_E_HENBA—HE 7 #80,000,0007T
ZEZAE=RA=1+—H

—EAFNRE-HE 7 #80,000,0007T
ZEt&=RA=1+—H
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CCM Trust is a substantial shareholder of the Company
under the Listing Rules. For the purpose of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules, as Million Hope is an over
30%-controlled company held (directly and indirectly)
by CCM Trust, Million Hope is an associate of CCM
Trust and accordingly is a connected person of the
Company. Therefore, the Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Framework Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder and the Annual Cap were
approved by an ordinary resolution passed at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
20 August 2024. Details of the continuing connected
transactions, are set out in the announcement and
circular of the Company dated 19 July 2024 and 25 July
2024 respectively.

The Annual Cap for the Services for the year ended
31 March 2025 was HK$80,000,000, and the actual
aggregate costs recognised by the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 was HK$11,025,000.

The independent non-executive directors have reviewed
the above continuing connected transactions for the
year ended 31 March 2025 and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing the transactions and on terms which

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company's external auditor was engaged to report
on the above continuing connected transactions of
the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information”, and with reference to Practice
Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the HKICPA. The external auditor has
issued an unqualified report containing its findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

TABINEZBEMEZEREZEGMA
ERMHHNEBZEZREER 300058 (EE
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DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.22 OF

LISTING RULES

The financial assistance to affiliated companies of the
Company, and guarantees given for banking facilities
granted to affiliated companies of the Company named
in the first column in the table below, in aggregate
amounted to approximately HK$3,082,000,000 which
represented approximately 51.7% of the total assets of
the Company at 31 March 2025. Details of which are as

follows:

Rz EHRBE13.22F EH 2 18

i

RIEZRE=R=+—H AEQTZH
BABREZUEEMERMIRFRITERE
WZEARBEZHMBABZIRITHEFHZE
{R4AZEL A 78 153,082,000,0007T > HARE 7
RATZHBEENS1.7% BREFBENT :

Total amount of financial
assistance given to,
committed capital injection
to and guarantees given
for facilities granted to,

Company'’s affiliated company

equity interest mEEARRMZ

in affiliated MEEM - AERHBAT

company {FHZFBRMEFHEAF

P/ /N ZREB(FH 2 R4EER

REBAR HK$'000

Name of affiliated company B ATI%TE Z G HE BT
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited ~ Great Splendor Enterprises 50% 250,000
(“Great Splendor”) Limited (I Great Splendor J) (Note 1)
and its subsidiaries KREM B AT (Hizt1)
Flourishing Stable Limited BEARAF (MRR)) RE 50% 1,000,000
(“Flourishing Stable") B AT (Note 2)
and its subsidiaries (Hiz£2)
Honour Advent Limited ERARLE (MBR) KE 50% 535,000
("Honour Advent”) MEAT (Note 3)
and its subsidiaries (H15£3)
Protic Limited (“Protic") BEAERAD (MEE) 50% 500,000
(Note 4)

(Hfzt4)

Esteemed Virtue Limited WEARAR (ME)) RE 50% 160,000
("Esteemed Virtue”) B AT (Note 5)
and its subsidiaries (H1525)
Excess Wonder Limited ZHRERAE (125 hE 50% 637,000
("Excess Wonder") B AT (Note 6)
and its subsidiaries (Hiz26)
3,082,000
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Notes:

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Great Splendor concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Flourishing Stable concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Honour Advent concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Protic concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Esteemed Virtue concerned.

The total capital commitment shall be contributed by
the Group in proportion to its equity interest in the joint
venture in respect of any funding need arising from any
payment obligation of the Excess Wonder concerned.

sk :

LIRS 1 A AT B2 ) 2024/20254F HiE

B ffiGreat SplendorfiiFERI{GHREETESE
ZEAEEFEEENRELEEFIRERS
B ZRELFREAERLE-

ERRBFSERNNIREEEEZERNES
REZENKERERZANSEREZR
AR AERHE-

ERBBRSERNNIREEEEZERNES
REZEFAKEBERREANGEREZRK
ELLhImAERHE-

EREEMSERNNREEELEZERNES
REZEFAKEBERREANGEREZRK
BLLhImAERHE-

BERSERSERNNIREEEEZERNES
REZEFAKEBERREANGEREZRK
BLLhImAERHE-

BERZFMSERNNREEEEZERNES
REZEFAAKEBERREANGEREZRK
BLLhImAERHE-
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The proforma combined statement of financial position

BB ARNR _E_AFE=A=+—HZ

of the above affiliated companies at 31 March 2025 is as BEESHBBFRARUOT
follows:
HK$'000
BT
Current assets REBEE 3,669,216
Current liabilities nEaE (4,527,528)
Non-current assets ERHEE 571,049
Net liabilities I=REpEE (287,263)
DONATIONS =B

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to HK$228,100 (2024: HK$281,600).

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its directors, as
at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the number
of the Company’s issued shares as required under the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s articles of association, or the laws of
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RER ZEBFHESREMBETERE
228,1007T (Z & U4 : #1£281,6007T) ©
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart
Managing Director
27 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 135 to 278, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.

ERER

BRPERBEEEHMALAERMHH(ERSE
STEERI) EITE S - RPIERFERI T AR
BEEEEARS RBEAMBES TS HR
RAFENEE B PIFE—T WL - RIFF
A AEEMB(EEGSHENERETRI)
(AT IFRL) HZMABIN E&EE>
TEBTTAPNEMEREESE KM
BiE RFMESHNEFREEREREE
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (cContinued)

Key audit matter

HEEZEE

FAEEZEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HPNESAMARERARELER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEZIGE

We identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter as they are
quantitatively significant to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements
associated with determination of the fair value.

ENREVMERGREUBRRAFTERELLEERU
REEATFESRERFAIRREBAMBREKRA
B BRI EYEZLER SRAREZSFE

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s investment
property portfolio comprised commercial and
industrial properties and was stated at fair value
of HK$2,193,170,000 in aggregate, accounting
for approximately 37% of the Group's total assets
as at 31 March 2025 with a loss on change in fair
value of investment properties of HK$140,706,000
recognised in the consolidated statements of
profit or loss for the year then ended.

FAMZ SR FIRRMT16PAIKE > BSEBRRKEY
FECOREBERIEMEBHEATESSAHB
#2,193,170,0007c > s EEER_ZT_AF=H
=+—HBEEN7% GFHEEZEELRES
HERANEDZREMELATEHEH ZHERE
140,706,0007T °

128

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the
investment properties included:

BAIMBRBEMEZHERTHREFEE

o Obtaining an understanding from the
Valuer and management of the Group
about the valuation approaches, significant
unobservable inputs and significant
judgements used in the valuations;
THREEMR SEEEEERFHGERFT
RZGERZE - TEFRTHERBAZEKREKN
FHEh

e Assessing the accuracy of information
provided by the management to the Valuer
by comparing details of rentals on a sample
basis to the respective underlying existing
lease agreements;
BRAMEREESFREERREEHENRE
1TEEd MEHEEIEE MG EMAT R 2 Bk
HYZEREME ;
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

MEEZEE

FRABEZEIE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HPNEAMARERARELER

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

REYEZI1LE (8

All of the Group’s investment properties are
measured using the fair value model based on
valuation conducted by independent property
valuer (the “Valuer”). As disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements, in determining
the fair values of the Group’s investment
properties, the Valuer applied a market value basis
which involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable
inputs and significant judgements, representing
appropriate market rent, capitalisation rate and
adjusted market price that has taken into account
of property-specific adjustments including location
and condition.
EEEENREMERBRIIYEGEN (MEE
B)) EH Z R ERATFERAGFE - HMLE ST
BRRMTAFIRE NEE EEEREMEZRF
B GEMERAHEREE  EhFk (HPEE) &
AR BERBABBENEAHE BNEEHHEE
BERCRREAEDIZER (BEREELERIFHG
EREY EMER 2 ARBA) o

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the Valuer’ scope of work
and their terms of engagement; and
MG L ERMZAE N~ A RERFEH M X 7 (G
B Z TFHERREZEIRR ; &

o Evaluating the reasonableness of significant
unobservable inputs by comparing the
market rent estimated by the Valuer against
market data or rental of existing lease,
benchmarking capitalisation rate against
market data and comparing adjusted market
price with comparable market transactions
for comparable property in similar location
and condition on a sample basis.
FBMARIERMEEMGEGt ZHBHEESETIS
BEXRAHEZHE - REERERETIS
R EIRAB IS ER A E LU R R AR Z 7]
EEBYMENT LRSS Z > U EEARFRT
BRaABBNSIEM-
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

130

Hth{s 2

BERREFEHHMEEAR -HMESE
BEHENRERANEGEE  BEXEEFREMH
AR K FFImL UL 3 RO AZ BB ¥R 5 o

BAHFEEMHERERNVNBERLE N REAEME
B RATAHZFHMEBEREALR
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BERMEEEHMHERRNES > AANE
ERFEBEMES  FUBEFR  EEEME
BEREARSUBTHRRAKMESBRETF
Ry BEBEREFEEREENELUTFEE
REEREAAYIET - BB FIBAITHITAE
MRREFADAEMESFEEAHERRL
HRABREREREE -EEHE KMAREE
EES=g

EFRAEEMGSMBMRAR
ENEE

BERAREFAEERETEGMREEM
B(ERMBREERGAERDNRERB(AT
HFODHMBERBEEEMRSGRSR
BRE THARAREEREMBRROE
BEAEFERNRFFRERMERERER
BRAFFERIABHERIR S -
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

ERERAEEBMEAMBHRREK
ST @

EREFSUBERRF - EFAETIML &
ERFEKCENEN UEBERBR TRE
BEBREEAMNER URERFREE
AEFER IRFEEAER BEEEFH
HIFIEEE R EAMBROBEAG R

AEEREEEE
2o

B B RS M B R EKIERN
BE

BEERNMBREAE

BANER BEHGRSUBERERERRSAE
FAEBNIREFFN#ERMERNEAHERERA
DRI GEMRSE URBHABENEBOE
FEREMZERREABSERMASRENOLH
BM#R & o BRIELASN » FFIBVIR S A AT AIEE M
B -ATLAMAKREZATHEMEM
AT EBEEASERERENET 5 ER
EREBKTHNFRE EFREFRERR(ERES
SHERDETHNE TR —EAHBRRLE
7E BRF 48 AE 35 3R o S5 SRR BT LA B ER R S #E 5R
SIE - MR EEFRREMERNEBERA
REREGREUMBERREAERBRSHBTR
REFEHBIETERTE > BB RARYSHER IRt &)
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

BHMMEB i S MBHRREAIEN
5@

ERB(EAZHER ) ETHEFNBRED
HMERTEEHE  RETEXEREE-
A5 -

o BB R ATk FA Y HREF S 8E AR T E AR
BMBRERFEERERRILA AR
REtRBITEARFURR S LR
URERTRMBENERE A
HMITROER - AR EFFRI 8E K &
mRE BRER ERRL 0EE
RAERES] 2 £ > FIE AR AL 3 IR A EREF
& 2 A B A SH R PR Y AR = HY R BE
BIMAERME KB E KRR A A

B o
AR

o  THRRBSHEMBIRERER > UREE
ENEFEF BEENLIFYE S5HE
REIERINBEREERER -

o HMEEZEMRATSIERIGERRE
HE Gt MAERIKERN SR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business
units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review
of the audit work performed for purposes of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

ZHMMEB i S MBIRRAIEN
EE®

s HEZRAFECEISHERNREM
R 455 o IRIRFTE BB 51/R5E 1
ERGHFEHESEINBRAARNEASR
HEEMS RMAEERY S£EENF
BREENELTERRE - MMREMD
REEEATREN  BELEELH
RSP RFAEAEIRFEMBERR
PRERKE REERANKERRE
AIHFAEERRFERBERR -HMAH
ihime B Z AT RS B IEFRRS N E
FHRE AWM > RERFRHBERAIAEE
N EEEFEFEKE-
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged
with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in
the independent auditor’s report is Lee Wing Cheong,
Wilfred (practising certificate number: P06770).

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Bt 1 TH 2k 3

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
HE-Z-HRE=BA=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —_EmE
NOTES HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT T
Revenue WA 5 1,985,257 1,612,660
Cost of sales $HE R A (1,860,788) (1,492,805)
Gross profit EF 124,469 119,855
Other income HM A 7 21,997 30,119
Other gains and losses Hih = R Es1E 8 (48,369) (10,325)
Impairment losses under FEHEEREERXTZ
expected credit loss model, net R {EEIEFZE 9 (97,794) (88,216)
Marketing and distribution costs TIBHEER D HER (1,049) (735)
Administrative expenses THRAX (107,364) (116,765)
Loss on change in fair value KREMEZ A TFEESHZ
of investment properties 518 (140,706) (71,078)
Share of loss of an associate MEBEE A BEIE - (7)
Share of profit (loss) of joint SMEEE RN (B518)
ventures 4,551 (13,077)
Finance costs M%BER 10 (51,209) (65,625)
Loss before taxation PRI AIES 1R 1 (295,474) (215,854)
Tax credit (expense) RIEE R (ZH) 13 174 (160)
Loss for the year NEERE (295,300) (216,014)
Loss per share BREGE
Basic (HK cents) B2 (B 15 (27.5) (19.9)
Diluted (HK cents) g (B 15 (27.5) (19.9)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for oy TE Rk B L Ath 2 i ot %

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
HE_ZT-RE=B=1+—HIFE

2025 2024
—EREF “ETME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Loss for the year KFEEEE (295,300) (216,014)
Other comprehensive expense: ~ Eftt2EZ H :
Items that may be subsequently — BIF*EEEMFEEEBm ZEE -
reclassified to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising MEBINEBELEZERESR
on translation of foreign
operations (61) (313)
Share of exchange differences of DMEEELEZEREEE
a joint venture (850) (4,543)
Loss on change in fair value EEAREREHPZHPTAZ
of hedging instrument N EEFHEE
designated as cash flow hedge (8,682) -
(9,593) (4,856)
Total comprehensive expense for ZAEEZE X H4E%E
the year (304,893) (220,870)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B B PR DL

AT 31 MARCH 2025

WZEZRFE=B=+—H

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
ZTThHE “ETME
=B=+-B | =A=+-A8
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BT T BT T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investment properties KEYE 16 2,193,170 2,743,080
Property, plant and equipment  ¥)¥ R E KRR E 17 287,925 300,638
Right-of-use assets EREEE 18 3,074 4,047
Interest in an associate BE ATz R 19 - -
Interests in joint ventures BEREZER 20 92,349 88,648
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN 21 1,085,366 1,036,628
Deferred tax assets RIERIEEE 35 5,501 5,340
3,667,385 4,178,381
Current assets MENEE

Properties under development  B{RHZFEYE
for sale 23 1,197,378 1,039,000
Inventories z7&8 24 3,610 4,338
Contract assets BHNEE 25 381,967 308,982

Debtors, deposits and FEWFIE & K
prepayments FETFRIE 26 139,053 94,620

Financial assets at fair value BREGRATENEZ

through profit or loss MBEE 27 290 263
Taxation recoverable AR[EIFRIE - 2,001
Cash and cash equivalents BERREEE 28 477,722 441,485
2,200,020 1,890,689
Assets classified as held for sale D EAFELESE 29 97,700 157,050
2,297,720 2,047,739
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION %:& MR E

AT 31 MARCH 2025
RIEZHRE=RA=+—H

were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 27 June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sue Toa, Stewart

Fittis
DIRECTOR
25

138

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—ERE —EFE
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE BT 5T BT
Current liabilities mEaE
Trade and other payables FE 15 TR 18 e HL fth FE S =R 18 30 464,665 495,578
Provisions e 31 28,622 16,470
Lease liabilities HEaR 32 3,307 3,026
Taxation payable FE{TR1E 20,715 20,225
Bank loans — amounts due RITEF-—"MN—FR
within one year AN ENE] 33 1,138,368 1,878,072
1,655,677 2,413,371
Net current assets (liabilities) mENEEFE (BEFEE) 642,043 (365,632)
Total assets less current liabilities 42EERAHIAME 4,309,428 3,812,749
Non-current liabilities ERENEE
Derivative financial instrument TTEMBIA 34 8,682 =
Bank loans — amounts due RITEF—N—F%
after one year P& {3 7RIE 33 792,632 -
Provisions B E 31 40,704 34,869
Deferred tax liabilities IRERIEAE 35 2,190 6,477
Lease liabilities HEAaR 32 3,587 4,877
847,795 46,223
3,461,633 3,766,526
Capital and reserves BARKE#E
Share capital [N 36 107,307 107,307
Reserves ] 3,354,326 3,659,219
3,461,633 3,766,526
The consolidated financial statements on pages 135 to 278  $135BEF278EYZ A BERE &

EFER_Z_AFNA-TEtHRERE
o WA TINEFNREE

Tai Sai Ho

mtt=

DIRECTOR

EF

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
o v Bt 5E B 9

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
HE-Z-HRE=BA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FARER AR
Share-
based Treasury Property
Share  Contributed Special compensation shares  revaluation Hedging ~ Translation ~ Goodwill Accumulated
capital surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

{35z i 13 nE
RE  BARE  BAEE  MEHE  RORE  EfEE  WAEE  BEHE  BEEE 4R 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AbTn  BETn  EETn  EETn BEfn B¥Tn At BMTn BEfr BBt AETn
(Note37)  (Note37)
(Ha37)  (f&37)

At 1 April 203 RZ2Z=FMmE-H 109,629 417,202 21,94 519 (6,129) 23,689 - (5171) (78) 3,506,405 4,072,682
Loss for the year REERR - - - - - - - - - (601 (216018
Exchange differences arising on translation of &S ERELZERZE

foreign operations - - - - - - - (313) - - (313)
Share of exchange differences of a joint venture  HMEAEAEZEREE - - - - - - - (4543) - - (4583)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERETHAE - - - - - - - (4856) - (216014 (220870)
Dividends paid (note 14) BZRE (1) - - - - - - - - - (65136)  (65,136)
Share options lapsed BRELH - - - (617) - - - - = 617 =
Repurchase of shares (note 36) IR (H536) - - - - (19,999) - - - - - (19,9%9)
Transaction costs attributable to repurchase and  EIERFHRAELEZ R BRA

cancellation of shares - - - - (151) - - - - - (151)
Cancellation of shares (note 36) SR (W336) 232 ®3%) - - 26219 - - - - - -
At 31 March 2024 KZB-ME=A=1+-A 107,307 393,245 2194 4511 - 23,689 = (10,027) (78) 3258712 3766526
Loss for the year FEERR - - - - - - - - - (295300 (295300)
Exchange differences arising on translation of ~ BEENEHRELZEREE

foreign operations - - - - - - - (61) - - (61)
Share of exchange differences of a joint venture  HMEEEREZERZE - - - - - - - (850) - - (850)
Loss on change in fair value of hedging ERAREGREHAZHNIAZ

instrument designated as cash flow hedge ATEEBER - - - - - - (8,682) - - - (8,682)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEERESHLE - - - - - - (8,682) (911 - (2953000 (304,893)
Share options lapsed BRELH - - - (451) - - - - - 4517 -
Reclassification to accumulated profits upon ~ HEMEEEHHETEHEF

disposal of properties - - - - - (22,708) - - - 2,708 -
At 31 March 2025 KZBZEF=A=1+-A 107,307 393,245 21,94 - - 981 (8,682) (10,938) (78) 2,957,857 3461633

WU AU PR A A ) 20242025468 139




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
O BEhRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

HE_ZT-RE=B=1+—HIFE

2025 2024
ZEZhE “EImE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT o
Operating activities EEXER
Loss before taxation PRIRRIES 1B (295,474) (215,854)
Adjustments for: FHEE .
Share of loss of an associate DEBEATIRE - 7
Share of (profit) loss of joint DMEEERE (5F)
ventures K518 (4,551) 13,077
Dividend income g B URA (6) (5)
Interest income FEUWA (18,749) (21,891)
Interest expense FEZH 51,209 65,625
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEREZEZ
plant and equipment e 16,165 15,709
Depreciation of EREEEZITE
right-of-use assets 2,892 1,752
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -BER
plant and equipment BBz (754) (6)
Loss on change in fair value of KREMEZ AT EEH
investment properties Z K518 140,706 71,078
Write-down of properties under WHERPZEFEME
development for sale 49,146 21,740
(Gain) loss on change in fair ERERRATEAE
value of financial assets at fair ZHBEEATEE
value through profit or loss Bz (W= 518 27 142
Write-down of inventories WHES (BRlES
(reversal of write-down of W) SR %8
inventories), net 123 (17)
Impairment losses under expected ~ FERAEEEEENTZ
credit loss model, net ERIE R 97,794 88,216
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %A Bl&fimE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

2025 2024
ZEZhE “EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Operating cash flows before EEESEHRIZ
movements in working capital EERENR 38,474 39,573
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERED g 605 (1,079)
Increase in properties under BRAPZHEWELMN
development for sale (147,294) (96,807)
(Increase) decrease in debtors, FERFRIE & K
deposits and prepayments FE{IFRIE (G n) R (49,784) 11,099
Increase in contract assets BHBEEE (73,761) (70,967)
Increase in provisions B IE N 17,987 7,771
(Decrease) increase in trade and P& 15 TR I8 e EL fth FE (S FRIE
other payables GReZL) 2 (30,913) 2,967
Cash used in operating activities RAREEEHZRE (244,686) (107,443)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BEBFER (3.861) (355)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BiREFEFE 2,078 856
Interest paid EfFHE (111,439) (97,558)
Net cash used in operating activities FAREBXFHEZINEFEE (357,908) (204,500)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %A Bl&fimE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_RAF=-B=+—HILEE

2025 2024
ZEZhE “EImE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT o
Investing activities KREXER
Interest received S¢S 5,374 2,217
Dividend received from financial EWEBEEE AT ES
assets at fair value through HMBEEZRE
profit or loss 6 5
Purchase of investment properties ~ HREBREYE (3.431) (728)
Purchase of property, REME BEKRRE
plant and equipment (3.452) (13,621)
Proceeds on disposal of HERBYXEPRENRIA
investment properties 314,935 63,500
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME - -BERK
plant and equipment R EFT1SRIE 754 74
Proceeds on disposal of assets HEDEARFEHE
classified as held for sale BEEMRSMIE 157,050 6,600
Deposits received from disposal of ~ FLHHE D EAIFIEHE
assets classified as held for sale BEERERE 5,370 -
Advance of loans to joint ventures & X SRR (132,400) (77,350)
Return of capital from an associate Bt /A 5] 3B RE 7 - 550
Net cash from (used in) investing kB (AR REXEHKZ
activities HE5%8 344,206 (18,753)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS %A Bl&fimE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

2025 2024
ZECZRE “EmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
Financing activities =
Dividends paid BNzZRE - (65,136)
New bank loans raised HERITER 1,246,000 897,003
Repayment of bank loans EERIRITEN (1,193,072) (544,365)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaE (2,928) (1,789)
Payment on repurchase of EIE-F=3C) PANEN
ordinary shares - (19,999)
Transaction costs attributable [BfE R sk SH R 1D 1L 2
to repurchase and cancellation R A A
of share - (151)
Net cash from financing activities REMBEXER IR FEE 50,000 265,563
Net increase in cash and cash RERIREESEIEMNFEE
equivalents 36,298 42,310
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERIREEE
the beginning of the year 441,485 399,488
Effect of foreign exchange EEXEH
rate changes (61) (313)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRATRINEEE
the end of the year 477,722 441,485
Analysis of balances of cash and HERBREEEEGRZ
cash equivalents: pAX g
Bank balances and cash IRITHEER RIS 471,722 441,485
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o 3 S A B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
HE_ZT-RE=B=1+—HIFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability under the Companies
Law (2001 Second Revision), Chapter 22 of the Laws
of Cayman Islands. Its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are construction,
interior and renovation works, supply and installation
of building materials, property investment, property
development, provision of property agency and
management services and sale of health products.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Noncurrent
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS

1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”)
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are
in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the classification should not be affected
by management intentions or expectations to settle
the liability within 12 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

e clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If a
liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms
do not affect its classification as current or non-
current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional on
the compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of
the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The
2022 Amendments also specify that covenants with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
(i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification
of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables users
of financial statements to understand the risk of the
liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period. This would include information
about the covenants, the carrying amount of related
liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate
that the entity may have difficulties complying with the
covenants.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
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In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments in the
current year had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 113

Lack of Exchangeability?

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to
HKAS 21
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in

Financial Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2026.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

Except for the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(“HKFRS 9") clarify the recognition and derecognition for
financial asset and financial liability and add an exception
which permits an entity to deem a financial liability to
be discharged before the settlement date if it is settled
in cash using an electronic payment system if, and only if
certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the
assessment of whether the contractual cash flows of
a financial asset are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. The amendments specify that an entity
should focus on what an entity is being compensated
for rather than the compensation amount. Contractual
cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is
not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state
that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise
to contractual cash flows that are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement both before and after the
change in contractual cash flows, but the nature of
the contingent event itself does not relate directly to
changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore, the
description of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and
the characteristics of “contractually linked instruments”
are clarified in the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures ("HKFRS 7”) in respect of
investments in equity instruments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")
are amended. In particular, entities are required to
disclose the fair value gain or loss presented in other
comprehensive income during the period, showing
separately those related to investments derecognised
during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period.
An entity is also required to disclose any transfers of
the cumulative gain or loss within equity related to the
investments derecognised during the reporting period.
In addition, the amendments introduce the requirements
of qualitative and quantitative disclosure of contractual
terms that could affect the contractual cash flow based
on a contingent event not directly relating to basic
lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with
early application permitted. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact
on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements ("HKFRS 18")

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements (“HKAS 1"). This
new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward
many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact
of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
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3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Interests in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate or
joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of an associate
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes
are prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group'’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate or joint venture.
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An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of assets (“"HKAS
36") as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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The Group applies HKFRS 9, including the impairment
requirements, to long-term interests in an associate
or joint venture to which the equity method is not
applied and which form part of the net investment in
the investee. Furthermore, in applying HKFRS 9 to long-
term interests, the Group does not take into account
adjustments to their carrying amount required by HKAS
28 (i.e. adjustments to the carrying amount of long-
term interests arising from the allocation of losses of the
investee or assessment of impairment in accordance with
HKAS 28).

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the consolidated financial statements only
to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture
that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRS Accounting Standards
applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses.
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When a group entity transacts with a joint operation in
which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale
or contribution of assets), the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the
joint operation, and gains and losses resulting from the
transactions are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of other parties’ interests
in the joint operation. When a group entity transacts
with a joint operation in which a group entity is a joint
operator (such as a purchase of assets), the Group does
not recognise its share of the gains and losses until it
resells those assets to a third party.

When a group entity transact with a joint operation
in which a group entity is a joint operator (such as a
purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its
share of the gains and losses until it resells those assets to
a third party.

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.
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When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale
when the criteria described above are met, regardless of
whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest
in the relevant subsidiary after the sale.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving
disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment,
in an associate or joint venture, the investment or the
portion of the investment that will be disposed of is
classified as held for sale when the criteria described
above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the
equity method in relation to the portion that is classified
as held for sale from the time when the investment (or a
portion of the investment) is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell
except for financial assets within the scope of HKFRS
9 and investment properties measured at fair value
which continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies as set out in respective sections.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the

same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the goods or services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to
consideration in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value of the Group’s performance completed
to date, the Group recognises revenue based on surveys
of the relevant services completed by the Group to date
as certified by independent surveyors appointed by the
customers in relation to the work completed by Group.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on input
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a
performance obligation relative to the total expected
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.
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Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction contract), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or
(b) the most likely amount, depending on which method
better predicts the amount of consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
it is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating
its assessment of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent faithfully the
circumstances present at the end of the reporting period
and the changes in circumstances during the reporting
period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
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Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related assets is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits cost

Payments to the Group’s defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes, state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

For Long Service Payment (“LSP") obligation, the Group
accounts for the employer MPF contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a)
and it is measure on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.
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Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS Accounting Standard requires or
permit the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by
the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that another HKFRS Accounting Standard
requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payment
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and

others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.
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The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share-based compensation reserve). At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based compensation reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately in profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve
will be transferred to share capital and contributed
surplus. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
profits.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment property over time, rather than through
sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.
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Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. When current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments,
the Group considers whether it is probable that the
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax
treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is
probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
which are being recognised as right-of-use assets and
subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. A leased property which is recognised
as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance
lease. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the fair value model. When the consideration
cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

166

REMERLENERBEYE KA MEHEA
BRAREMEERTEERKEEN
B> D ERIEER - HAEEESFTHEEEA
RAOMDEAMERE BEIREHEE
EZHEYRBRILFES - AR IEHIYME
MEEZEMKHEHBE FHEZREE
ZFISRIEFRAHKREABEZEZHAE) X
ZIEMERR LD Z BBt ABEA -

LVE RN 6 d

ME - -BERRBERBGFEE  HERY
SRS RITHABRZANEE -ME -KE
RtmEAAERERRANERRERRS
HERE (NA) REEMEIRRTERATIER

EREERYE (BEEELMKRIEFTHD)
REEAEREDFHARE 28R ERTR

RENERATELEANEE L RIET
W ZEDE - HAERREERI FEoE > 8
EttEmliREMBRIRETN B ER
REE EREBEATEEXIBRARSR
BYWEERIN - HABEEZATFEMNAERA
BEXtpIFRERFER D KRS EIEEE D
o RIZEMESBRME -BERRRE-

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of the reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include cash, which
comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits and cash
equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally
with original maturity of three months or less), highly
liguid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.
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Inventories

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale which are
intended to be sold upon completion of development are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land
element which is measured at cost model in accordance
with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets,
properties under development for sale are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined
on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and
where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represent the estimated selling price for
the properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale. Properties under development
for sale are transferred to properties held for sale upon
completion.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(where the effect of the time value of money is material).
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Provisions for the expected cost of rectification work
under the relevant construction contracts, interior
and renovation contracts and installation of building
materials contracts, are recognised at the date of
rendering the respective contract work, at the directors’
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
Group's obligation at the end of each reporting period.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOC| are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excluded any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade debtors, loans to joint ventures,
amounts due from joint ventures, other receivables,
bank balances, and other items (including contract
assets, lease receivables, financial guarantee contracts
and loan commitments) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
debtors, contract assets and lease receivables. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for
the trade debtors and contract assets, except for trade
debtors and contract assets receivable from departments
of The Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR") and credit-impaired which are assessed
for ECL individually.

For financial guarantee contracts, loan commitments
and all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
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o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.
A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if (1) it has a low risk of default, (2) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (3) adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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For financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments,
the date that the Group becomes a party to the
irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a loan commitment, the Group considers
changes in the risk of a default occurring on the loan to
which a loan commitment relates; for financial guarantee
contracts, the Group considers the changes in the risk
that the specific debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(ii) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade debtors, when the
amounts are over three years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL
is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the
lease receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the present
value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group if the holder of the loan
commitments draws down the loan, and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn
down.
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For ECL on financial guarantee or on loan commitments
for which the effective interest rate cannot be
determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that
reflects the current market assessment of the time value
of money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows
but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken
into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade debtors and contract
assets are considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management
of the Group to ensure the constituents of each group
continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Except for loan commitments, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade debtors and contract assets where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’'s own equity
instruments.
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Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held
for trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in
a business combination may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces

a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or
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e the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities, including trade and other payables,
and bank loans are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are measured initially at their fair values. It is
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a
non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not due to
be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives
are presented as current assets or current liabilities.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
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Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item
attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the
hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge
effectiveness requirements:

o there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument;

° the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

e the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is
the same as that resulting from the quantity of
the hedged item that the Group actually hedges
and the quantity of the hedging instrument that
the entity actually uses to hedge that quantity of
hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge
effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio
but the risk management objective for that designated
hedging relationship remains the same, the Group
adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e.
rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying
criteria again.
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BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of cash flow hedging
reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of
the hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the
finance costs’ line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects
profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged
item.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the investment property portfolio of the
Group’s subsidiaries and concluded that the investment
properties of the Group are not held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in determining the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
not rebutted. The Group has not recognised any deferred
taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties as
the Group are not subject to any income taxes on the fair
value changes of the investment properties on disposal.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2025 at their
fair value of HK$2,193,170,000 (2024: HK$2,743,080,000)
(note 16) based on valuation of these properties
conducted by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Colliers™) (2024: Colliers), independent property valuer
(the “Valuer”). In determining the fair values of the
Group's investment properties, the Valuer applied a
market value basis which involves, inter-alia, significant
unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rate
and adjusted market price that has taken into account
of property-specific adjustments including location and
condition.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the
Company have exercised their judgements and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions. Any changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any market
violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes or
other unexpected incidents as a result of change in
macroeconomic environment, changes in policy direction
and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected
incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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Impairment losses under ECL for trade debtors and
contract assets

Trade debtors and contract assets that are credit-impaired
or receivable from departments of The Government
of HKSAR are assessed for ECL individually. The Group
uses collective assessment to determine the ECL for the
remaining trade debtors and contract assets by grouping
debtors based on the Group’s internal credit ratings.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of trade
debtors and contract assets were HK$96,832,000
and HK$381,967,000 (2024: HK$62,924,000 and
HK$308,982,000) (net of allowance for credit losses of
trade debtors and contract assets of HK$80,000 and
HK$1,898,000 (2024: HK$99,000 and HK$1,122,000)),
respectively. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. Details of impairment assessment are set out
in note 48.

Impairment losses under ECL for loans to joint
ventures

Management regularly reviews the impairment
assessment and evaluate the ECL for the loans to
joint ventures. Appropriate impairment allowance is
recognised in profit or loss.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group regularly
monitors the business performance of the joint ventures.
The Group's credit risks in these balances are mitigated
through the value of assets held by the joint ventures. In
making this assessment, the loans to joint ventures are
assessed individually by the management of the Group,
based on the financial background, the risk of default
occurring on the loans to joint ventures and forward-
looking information that is reasonable, supportable and
available without undue cost or effort.
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As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of loans
to joint ventures was HK$1,085,366,000 (2024:
HK$1,036,628,000) (net of allowance for credit losses
of HK$232,066,000 (2024: HK$135,029,000)). Details of
impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

Write-down of properties under development for
sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s
properties under development for sale with reference to
current market environment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets may exceed its net realisable value. The estimate
requires judgement including the consideration of
construction costs to completion based on the existing
development plans and the estimation of selling prices of
the properties of comparable locations and conditions.
Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is
recognised in profit or loss when the net realisable value
is below cost. Actual realised amount may differ from
estimates or changes in facts and circumstances may
result in downward revision of estimated net realisable
value of these properties under development for sale and
additional write-down may be required.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of properties
under development for sale was HK$1,197,378,000 (2024:
HK$1,039,000,000), net of write-down of properties
under development for sale of HK$81,297,000 (2024:
HK$32,151,000) (note 23).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of the amounts
received or receivable from construction contracts,
interior and renovation contracts, installation of building
materials, sales of health products, provision of property
agency and management services, and lease income from
property investment during the year, and is analysed as

5. WA

WATEFEFRBEREIRGH

R R AEIE T

B ZEEEME BREMZHEE R
HYMEREREERBZUARMEREZHEE
WA BN EWRIRE SR 20T ¢

follows:
Disaggregation of revenue WA 535
2025 2024
—EZREF —EMNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
Recognised over time: WE B R T -
Revenue from construction BEIRESHZEA
contract work 1,537,351 1,122,883
Revenue from interior and EMREEIREHNZWA
renovation contracts 191,170 259,022
Revenue from installation of TEREME ZWA
building materials 167,267 140,772
Property management MEESERFUIA
services income 13,706 5,620
Recognised at a point in time: TE R B s R BE RS
Sales of health products BEEMZIHE 13,577 11,252
Property agency service income MEARERFBUA 908 1,844
Revenue from contracts KEEREHNZWA
with customers 1,923,979 1,541,393
Fixed-lease income from property MERBEZEEHEWRA
investment 61,278 71,267
1,985,257 1,612,660
Geographical market: MEHE -
Hong Kong B 1,985,257 1,612,660
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Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Revenue from construction contracts, interior and
renovation contracts, and installation of building
materials

The Group provides construction contract work, interior
and renovation contract work and installation of building
materials contract work under long-term contracts with
customers. Such contracts are entered into before the
services begin. The Group’s contract work enhances an
asset that the external customers control as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of such contract work
is therefore recognised over time. The revenue from the
contract work, except for the revenue from provision of
supply and installation of building materials (without a
direct measurement of value of performance completed
to date), are recognised using output method, i.e. based
on surveys of the relevant services completed by the
Group to date as certified by independent surveyors
appointed by the customers in relation to the work
completed by the Group. The directors of the Company
consider that output method would faithfully depict
the Group's performance towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligations in these contracts
under HKFRS 15. The revenue from provision of supply
and installation of building materials are recognised
using input method. The measures of the progress is
determined based on the proportion of specific costs
incurred to-date to the estimated total costs for each
contract.
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Property management services income

The provision of property management services is
recognised over time, as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits from the Group’s
performance and the revenue is recognised over the
property management services period as time lapses.

Sales of health products

Revenue from health products is recognised at a point
in time when control of health products is transferred to
the customers, being at the point the customer purchases
the goods at the retail shop, or when the goods have
been delivered or shipped to the customers and the
customer has obtained the control of the health products
and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Property agency service income

For revenue from provision of property agency service,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when customers
sign a legally binding agreement from its counterparty
and performance obligations are satisfied. Payment of
the transaction is due immediately when performance
obligations are satisfied.
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Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 and the
expected timing of recognising revenue are as follows:

AEERTEFANNBHNEEZX
S8

R_E-_RFEE-E-_ME=RA=+—8H"
PEEHRTARATHABAIARTTHRBOETZ
RS EREDWANTERARFBNT

Revenue from  Revenue from

Revenue from interior and installation
construction renovation of building
contracts contracts materials
BE REREEIR ZREREMH

BHEA BHKA WA
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RETT BETT BETT

As at 31 March 2025 RZEZHF=A=1+—-A
\Within one year —FR 1,252,311 59,167 25,559
More than one year but not —EN LERENR
more than two years 1,429,988 48,446 -
More than two years RENE 1,101,633 - -
3,783,932 107,613 25,559
As at 31 March 2024 RIZZMNE=A=+—H
Within one year —&R 2,272,676 175,842 111,035
More than one year but not —E L EERENR
more than two years 1,665,285 25,810 30,196
More than two years mEM L 462,692 = =
4,400,653 201,652 141,231

Other than revenue from construction contracts, interior
and renovation contracts, and installation of building
materials, the revenue from other segment are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

PRREZESO R REEIRESHOURK
BEMEZEREIW AT Hith 3 AU A RS
RE—FHAUT -HWNEEMBHHRSELS
TR LERBEOREXFTRET
BN ZER-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is organised into seven operating divisions:
construction, design,
supply and installation of building materials, sales

interior and renovation works,

of health products, property investment, property
development and provision of property agency and
management services. These divisions are the basis
on which the Group reports its financial information
internally and are regularly reviewed by the executive
directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision makers, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance.

(a) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by operating and reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_T_AF-RA=+—HILEE

6. NEEH

FEFTECERR OB/ TR BE KK
MELRR BEEMHRF - HERZE BF
EmZHE - MERE - MELRRKRYFENRE
EERBZRE - XEERBLEEFSES
BEEFEEABHFER  LHEQBTNT
EE (AITECERRE) THERUSRS
SEEZERKRHMEOBEAZRER -

(a) DHEWAKRES

UTATERREERFATZ2HRDEZVNAR
FEZDN:

(E_E_AF=RA=+—HILEFE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property agency and Segment
Construction  renovation materials products investment  development  management total  Eliminations  Consolidated
BE  RBREE BEMH ERER NERE NEER REE e s EE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
A¥Tn BBt ERTn ERTR ERTR TR TR ERTR ERTR EBTn
REVENUE KA
External sales HiMEE 1,537,351 191,170 167,267 13577 61,278 - U614 1985257 - 1985257
Inter-segment sales NERBHIHE 787 13,443 11,505 29 897 - 7,000 1,735 (#1,735) -
Total a3 1,538,138 204,613 178,112 13,606 70,249 - 21,614 2,026,992 (#1,735) 1,985,257
RESULTS £
Segment result HEER 25,615 (20,176) 18 1,116 (212522) (56,973) 57 (262,865) - (262,865)
Unallocated expenses FARLH (32435)
Loss for the year FEERR (295,300)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Interior and Building
Construction  renovation materials

BE  RMREE  BEMH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
EiTn  ERTn BB Tn

BHE_Z_WFE=H=+—HILFE

Property

Health Property Property  agency and Segment

products investment development management total ~ Eliminations  Consolidated
NERE

BEER  WERE  MEER REE  DEAE fiss &a
HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Efn  BBTm  B%Tn ENTm ERTn ERTn BETn

REVENUE A

External sales HiME 1,122,883 259,02 140,772 11,25 71,267 - 7464 1,612,660 - 1,612,660
Inter-segment sales DELBMIBE 1,138 34,316 2610 % 8971 - 10,500 57,561 (57,561) -
Total 3t 1,124,021 293,338 143,382 11,218 80,238 - 1794 1670221 (57561) 1,612,660
RESULTS 5

Segment result NEER 19,540 (18,115) 2% 291 (100,965) (84,750) 16 (183,957) - (183957)
Unallocated expenses FREZMH (32,057)
Loss for the year FEESE (216,014)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in
note 3. Segment results represent the results from each
segment without allocation of interest income earned
and administration costs incurred by head office and
the inactive subsidiaries. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision makers for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged by reference to market
prices.

BRENBBZ G5t BERAM 3T LAIAE
EBRZEHHR R -DBRERAKREED
BEEZER TRDEERDAEBWAR
MEBREFCERNTRZWBAR ZTHMA
KoL ERENREEZEERREZRNU
FERDERERRNEZBHN-

DEEFEBZHE2EHESH-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

(b) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and

(b) NEEELER

UTRAEEERCERAZ2RIBFZEER

liabilities by operating and reportable segment: BEDN

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZRE —EMNE
=B=+—H8 | ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Segment assets SEEEE
Construction E R 707,826 638,954
Interior and renovation B R 4E(E 142,850 168,761
Building materials I 92,892 90,981
Health products R Em 13,753 14,739
Property investment MIEKRE 2,629,846 3,197,862
Property development MEZRE 2,192,246 1,929,024
Property agency and management YMEREKRERE 37,184 31,997
Total segment assets DB ERLE 5,816,597 6,072,318
Unallocated assets KO EE 148,508 153,802
Consolidated assets EEEE 5,965,105 6,226,120

Segment liabilities SEEEE
Construction fE$2 487,238 449,316
Interior and renovation 25 5 R 41 13,487 36,910
Building materials BEME 55,907 23,129
Health products B = 1,849 2,890
Property investment YIERE 1,924,524 1,933,793
Property development MEZE 69 69
Property agency and management MEREREE 639 755
Total segment liabilities DEEAEERE 2,483,713 2,446,862
Unallocated liabilities RN &E 19,759 12,732
Consolidated liabilities maal 2,503,472 2,459,594

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance

and allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than central bank balances and cash of head office
and other inactive subsidiaries and certain self-used

properties; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other payables of head office and the

inactive subsidiaries.

RERDBERERSESEFENER

s MRENRHMEFCEAZRMELRF
WRREFZIRTHERREERET
BRYEN FREBEENDEELED

B, k&

s BREBREFCERNTEMBABNH
thEETRIBSN > FTERREORELE

paE L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 W #2205k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

(c) Other information

Year ended 31 March 2025

(o EthEH

BE_Z_AF=HA=+—HLHEE

Property
Interior and Building Health Property Property  agency and
Construction  renovation materials products investment  development management  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
BE RiRiEE B BRER nERE NEER REE AR Ra
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
AT EBTR AT AR AR AT BT BT EiTn
Amounts included in the measure HRNERAANEEERTA
of segment results or segment assets: 288!

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERREZINE 4,495 1,445 1212 5 735 - 1412 6,841 16,165
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEEZNE 1,969 - - L] - - - - 289
Write-down of properties under development for sale HWRSRRZFENE - - - - - 49,146 - - 49,146
Loss on change in fair value of investment properties RENEZATEEHIER - - - - 140,706 - - - 140,706

Gain on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL BRRERATEAEZ MBEE
ATEET NE @) - - - - - - - )
Write-down of inventories, net FElARE - - - 123 - - - - 123
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HENE BRRZ G2 NE (292) (462) - - - - - - (754)
Impairment losses under ECL model, net BREEREEN T ZHERERE 339 51 368 - 65,306 31,730 - - 97,79
Interest income RISKA (3,095) (113) (163) (15) (1,978) (13,376) () 8 (18,749)
Share of profit of joint ventures HMEREREER - - - - - (4,551) - - (4,551)
Finance costs HHER 14 - - 51 51,034 - - - 51,209
Income tax expenses (credit) FigHE (5%) 4,140 (18) (61) - (4,395) - 160 - (174)
Additions to non-current assets (note) FEFRDEE () 504 - - 6 3,767 - 5 - 8802
Interests in joint ventures aECEER - - - - - 92,349 - - 9,349
Loans to joint ventures RELEER - - - - 183,095 902,271 - - 1,085,366
Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, interest in MizE: ERBEEFCBRIERBEE -HEA

an associate, interests in joint ventures and loans to joint

ventures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

Year ended 31 March 2024

Interior and
Construction  renovation

BE  RER&E
HKS000 HK$'000

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

BE_Z_WFE=H=+—HILFE

Property

Building Health Property Property  agency and

materials products investment development management  Unallocated ~ Consolidated
nERE

BEME  BEER  NERE WEER RER B &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000

BETr  BETn  AETn  BETn AETn AkTn AkTn BETn BETn
Amounts included in the measure SFENBRERSEERERTA
of segment results or segment assets: bk
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment NE BERRBEZNE 3716 1,575 1,212 124 1,008 - 1,615 6,459 15,709
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREEZIE 855 - = 897 = = = = 1,752
Write-down of properties under development forsale ~ MiE&Bhz HENE - - - - - 21,740 - - 21,740
Loss on change in fair value of investment properties RENEZATELHZER - = = = 7,078 = = = 71,078
Loss on change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL ~ BBERBATEHE2HEEE
ZATEEEZ5E 14 = = - - - - - 14
Reversal of write-down of inventories BEFEME - - - (17) - - - = (17)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment ~ HE#%BERREZ
(lrsa) 548 (74) - - - 68 - - - (6)
Impairment losses (reversal of impairment losses) BHEEEREATZHERR
under ECL model, net (BEHESR) 38 100 (224) 130 - - 88,210 = = 88,216
Interest income HEKA (1,500) (162) (1) (15) (405) (19,674) (13) (1) (21,891)
Share of loss of an associate HMEBEATEE - - - - 7 - - - 7
Share of loss of joint ventures MERELESE - - - = = 13,077 = = 13,077
Finance costs HBER 51 - - 52 65,522 - - - 65,625
Income tax expenses (credit) FRfgf (5%) 3,060 (4,013) @) = 1,003 = 12 = 160
Additions to non-current assets (note) REFRBEE () 5,068 - - 1,909 823 - 358 10,707 18,865
Interests in joint ventures RELEZRER - - - - = 88,648 = = 88,648
Loans to joint ventures REGERR - - - - 235,502 801,126 - - 1,036,628

Note: Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets, interest in
an associate, interests in joint ventures and loans to joint
ventures.

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue which is generated from
customers located in Hong Kong, the Company’s place
of domicile, amounted to HK$1,985,257,000 (2024:
HK$1,612,660,000). Accordingly, no further analysis of
the Group's revenue by geographical market based on
geographical location of customers has been presented.

Mzt : FRBEEFABBELEREEE -HEQ
BzED SECEZEGRAELER

)
A °

HE R

Al 2 £ B A UL A A& 15 1,985,257,0007T (— =
— U4 : #%1,612,660,0007T) KB EH (7
REFFEME) WER > MAEE TR RER
EZHIBMAE 25 MU E 52 BB AE
E—F Do
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by

FEEFRBEERBEEZHBUEDN

geographical location of assets is presented as follows — ZF/IT (i) :
(note):

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZhRE “EFEIMEFE
=B=+—8H | =ZB=+—H
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &8 FreEt&) 2,506,784 3,065,608
Mainland China Fh [ Py st 69,734 70,805
2,576,518 3,136,413
Note: Interest in an associate and interests in joint ventures Mzt : BMEARZHEREEEEZEZDIN

are analysed by geographical location of their respective
operations.

Non-current assets excluded loans to joint ventures and
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years

AREEERZEN

HEBKEMIBUEIED

FRIMEEFCEGERXERRIELER

REMEERN  ERMBBEERBKRA10%

individually contributing over 10% of the total revenue  Z{EREFRZWAWT :
of the Group is as follows:
2025 2024
ZEZRE “EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Customer A ERH 524,764 N/A 5E >
Customer B ZRZ 329,531 640,417
Customer C EFA N/A RER* 221,793

The revenue is income from construction contracts within
the construction segment.

ks The corresponding revenue does not contribute over 10%
of the total revenue of the Group during the year ended
31 March 2025 or 31 March 2024.

REREDEZEEGHORTZINA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_T_AF-RA=+—HILEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HfttlrA
2025 2024
“E-RE “ETME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Interest income from joint ventures RESERFEZFEWA 13,375 19,674
Bank interest income RITHIEUA 5,374 2,217
Building management fee income IBFEEEEIWA - 105
Dividend income from financial assets EBEFRATFEAEZ
at FVTPL MBBEEZREWA 6 5
Others Hih 3,242 8,118
21,997 30,119
8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Hthixm K i5E
2025 2024
“EZREF “EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BEKR&ZEZWE
plant and equipment 754 6
Gain (loss) on change in fair value EREmRATEFEZ
of financial assets at FVTPL MBEEZRATFEEHNZ
Wz (B518) 27 (142)
Others Hith (49,150) (10,189)
(48,369) (10,325)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 W #2205k

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER

9. HHIEEREHRENTZRER

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET 5588
2025 2024
—EZRE “EIME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Reversal of impairment losses MU TR IERTEERERSE
(impairment losses), net, (R {ERS1E) /348 :
recognised on:
Trade debtors FEUFRIE 19 187
Contract assets BHEE (776) (193)
Loans to joint ventures BEEEER (97,037) (88,210)
(97,794) (88,216)

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 are set out in note 48.

BE_E_AGER-_E_NEF=H=+—H
I FERRE LR E M EE48

10. FINANCE COSTS 10. B ER
2025 2024
—E"RE “EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Interest on bank loans RITERZHE 109,236 97,265
Interest on lease liabilities HEaGZHE 362 293
109,598 97,558
Less: Amount capitalised in properties i : X RBHEFEY X
under development for sale BEXRI{EEER (60,230) (31,933)
49,368 65,625
Reclassification of net losses from BN BIEEARERER P
hedging reserve on financial M TR ARG
instruments designated as
cash flow hedges 1,841 -
51,209 65,625
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

11. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 11. IR FIESE
2025 2024
—_ECRE —EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT T BT T
Loss before taxation has been arrived BFRIRBTEEENMG Gt A) -
at after charging (crediting):
Salaries and other benefits HEREMER 224,271 218,966
Retirement benefits scheme RAEH A HRR
contributions 17,115 16,889
Staff costs incurred (including BEEZEBTHA
directors’ remuneration) (BEEZMND) 241,386 235,855
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERZEZINE
plant and equipment 16,165 15,709
Less: Depreciation expenses included & : BERHEREZIFES H
in the cost of sales (1,721) (956)
14,444 14,753
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

2025 2024
—EIRE —EINE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREBEEZIE 2,892 1,752
Less: Depreciation expenses included & : BRHEEREZINES H
in the cost of sales (2,194) (1,082)
698 670
Auditor’s remuneration Z B EREN <= 3,376 3,670
Contract costs recognised as expenses & &I AR A H 1,815,837 1,457,043
Costs of inventories recognised as FERAERAZH
expenses 23,511 23,548
Write-down of inventories (reversal FEME EEEFESHMER) FE8
of write-down of inventories), net 123 17)
Write-down of properties under WREZERPZHFEWE
development for sale 49,146 21,740
Gross rental income under operating &EFHEAS IR ALRLE !
leases on:
Investment properties KEYE (61,278) (71,267)
Less: Direct operating expenses A HEEENERLEZH
arising from leasing 17,991 18,531
(43,287) (52,736)
Expenses included in cost of sales: BEREEREARNZZH !
Short-term leases expense in respect BRAIMEKRILIZIZEHEE
of plant and machinery =i 17,402 10,193
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMOLUMENTS

(i) Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the emoluments paid or payable to each
of the nine (2024: nine) directors were as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

12.EFRABEEHFALHE

()

EEM=

RAFE  REBEERAZ LHRKRERBAT
HORBZEEZME  RENRENL TS
(CEEF: AR EFZEZMEWMT

 E_E_RE=RA=+—HILEEE

Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note )
H1TEE (Wia) ERITES (Hilb) BIIHATES (o
Wong Cha Mou Lam lau  Chan Fan
Sue Toa, Tai  ChowKa Daid, Chat Chan  TzeYiy,  Cheong, Hao Total
Stewart  SaiHo Fung  Subtotal  Johnson Yu  Subtotal  Pak Joe Peter Tony" Quan*  Subtotal emoluments
It R BEE it BEE HEF Nt BAE BT REE (ES It s

HKS'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000

BETR AETR BETR BETn BETn BT BETm BETR  BETR  RETn BETn BBTm BETR

Fees ik - - - - 4,000 150 4150 350 350 350 186 1,236 5,386
Other emoluments Rtfe

Salaries and other benefits GERAMmER 4079 2564 1789 840 - - - - - - - - 8402

Performance related incentive payments (note d) TERRREE () 340 14 146 700 - - - - - - - - 700

Retirement benefits scheme contributions BHERI B 611 385 264 1,260 - - - - - - - - 1,260

5,030 3,163 2,169 10,362 4,000 150 4150 350 350 350 186 1,236 15,748

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_ET_NMFE=A=+—HLFE

Executive directors (Note a) Non-executive directors (Note b) Independent non-executive directors (Note )
HTES (Hia) SFAITES (Hikh) B FATES (o)
Wong Cha Mou Lau  ChanFan
Sue Toa, Tai  ChowKa Daid, Lam Chan  TzeYiy,  Cheong, Sun Total
Stewart Sai Ho Fung  Subtotal  Johnson  ChatYu  Subtotal  PakJoe Peter Tony'  Tailun*  Subtotal emoluments
ItE AR BE% Nt BEE HEF Nt R AFR REE Ak i @HE
HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

A¥Tn EbTn EETn  AETn

ARTn

AbTn ENTn ENTn ERTn BMTn ERTn ERTn ARTn

Fees iES - - - ) 15 4150 350 350 334 A 4B 5401
Other emoluments Hftdie
Salaries and other benefits FeRitE 3960 2490 1,701 8151 - - - - - - - -8
Performance related incentive payments (note d) T{EEREES () 4500 2250 1,500 8,250 - - - - - - - - 8250
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRI 59 374 255 123 - - - - - - - - 123
9054 5114 3456 1764 4000 15 4150 350 350 334 A B BS
R Dr. Chan Fan Cheong, Tony was appointed as an " MEEBELTR _E_=FNBE+/\BHEZE
independent non-executive director of the Company on 18 AERNBBIIIEHITES -
April 2023.
& Dr. Sun Tai Lun retired as an independent non-executive * BAkBELTR_E_=F+—B+MNAREE
director of the Company on 14 November 2023. ABBIIIEHITES
#

2 Ms. Hao Quan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 19 September 2024.

MEXETR T _NFNA+NAEZER
ERABBUFRITES-

WU AU PR A A ) 20242025568 203




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_RAF=-B=+—HILEE

Notes:

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

The performance related incentive payments are
determined based on the performance of the individual
and the Group's performance and profitability for the
year.

There was no arrangement under which the directors

waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for both
years.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no

emol

uments were paid by the Group to any directors as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

204

Bk -

() LHHATEEMERRREHEATREE
EEEEHZRBEARM-

(b) LEHMIFHITEENEAREERERATRE
ERESE R

(0 ERBIFATEENERAREFR/ERE
EEZRB-

(d) IFREZEBSERBZFENBAZRER
RAEEBEZ ZERBFEDMERE

RmEFE TEEARNESRENAFNTRE
EROIE NS

REE_S_RAFER_S_NEFE=ZRA=+—
BEEFE AEETEAEAZESZGAME
EABMAREREMASEE 2 52E
SR REB A (E o

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

(ii) Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the five highest
paid individuals included four directors and one
employee (2024: four directors and one employee). The
emoluments of the remaining one employee (2024: one
employee) were as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

(i) AREBREHAL

REBE_E_fAF=-A=+—HLEFEE &
LEREHFATEENLAEER—4ES (&
TNE NREER—2ER - HE—%
BE (CEINF | —%EE) ZMEWT :

2025 2024
“EZhRE “EME
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Salaries and other benefits e REMER 1,758 1,709
Performance related incentive payments TL{FRIFEEE 140 270
Retirement benefits scheme contributions  BRIKEF 587K 167 162
2,065 2,141
The emoluments of the employee were within the EEZMEEI TIIAER :
following bands:
2025 2024
ZEZRE “EIME
Number Number
of employee of employee
BEHRB BEHE
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 7#1%2,000,0017c—
A2 500,0007T 1 1
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

13. TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) 13. IRIEE R (i)
2025 2024
—EZRE —EINE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Hong Kong Profits Tax BANER

Current year KEE (4,454) (3,741)
Over (under)-provision in prior years B FEEBIEEE BETD) 180 (810)
(4,274) (4,551)
Deferred taxation (note 35) EERRIE (Fi5E35) 4,448 4,391
174 (160)

Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years is calculated
at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for the group entity which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. For this group entity, the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

Tax credit (expense) for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of

profit or loss as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

FERER R W) BizGHEmR 2R
ERHARINT ¢

2025 2024
ZEZRE “EIME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT AT
Loss before taxation PRIR ARS8 (295,474) (215,854)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of %Z<HFFERIRE16.5%
16.5% (2024: 16.5%) “ZTUE D 16.5%) ZHIE 48,753 35,616
Tax effect of share of loss of an SEBEATBIEZRBEEE
associate - (1)
Tax effect of share of profit (loss) of  DMEEEEEEF (558)
joint ventures ZRBRE 751 (2,158)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RRFFAHEATIHZZH
for tax purpose ZRBEE (48,747) (32,460)
Tax effect of income not taxable for  RIRFEHEEERER Z WA
tax purpose ZRBEE 4,972 5615
Utilisation of tax losses previously EERALAIRER ZRIBEIE
not recognised 1,820 788
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR ZRIBEIEZ RELE (7,390) (6,585)
Income tax at concessionary rate BREERFAEZMER (165) (165)
Over (under)-provision in prior years BFFEBIEHRE EERRB) 180 (810)
Tax credit (expense) MIEK S (ZH) 174 (160)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

14. DIVIDENDS 14. 2
2025 2024
—EZRE —EHE
HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT T
Dividends recognised as distribution ~ FREBRADIRZKENT :
during the year:
Nil (2024: 2024 first interim dividend #E (CZE_[N4F : T4
— HK1.0 cent per share) Eg RPHEARG R
—Z R AE1.01L) - 10,731
Nil (2024: 2023 second interim ®mCENE:. 8=
dividend - HK5.0 cents per share) ﬁ:i’)"\q:',ﬁﬂﬂﬁ,%
— F IR A HE5.01) - 54,405
- 65,136

No dividend was proposed by the board of directors of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: no second interim dividend was proposed).
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15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share for
the year attributable to owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

15. Hig 518

FABHEAEANBEESFESRERNREEB
BILRBUTEESE

2025 2024
“E-hRE “ETMEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Loss g8
Loss for the purpose of basic and RUGTESRERNKEE
diluted loss per share 518 RV Es 18 (295,300) (216,014)
2025 2024
—EIRE “EINE
‘000 ‘000
TFh& T
Number of shares v ¢=]
Weighted average number of ordinary AUt EERER KIS EEEN
shares for the purpose of calculating BN T
basic and diluted loss per share 1,073,075 1,083,897

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating basic and diluted loss per share for
the year ended 31 March 2024 has taken into account the
ordinary shares repurchased from the market during the
respective year.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of all of the Company’s outstanding share
options as their assumed exercise would result in a
decrease in loss per share.

AUt EEE_—_E_ME=A=+—HLHE
ESREAKRBEEENZ ERMETHH
EEZEMEEERNETHOENZER-

BE_T-HAERZTNOFE=R=+—H
LtEE stEEREEHEERIRRBRITE
KRB HRITEBERE RERABRERT
FZEEREETENESREERL
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out various offices, service apartments,
warehouses and retail stores under operating leases
with rentals payable monthly. The leases of offices and
warehouses contain lease payments that are fixed over
the lease term. The leases typically run for a fixed period
of one to three years (2024: one to four years).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as
a result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies
of group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, HK$240,000 (2024:

HK$240,000) was paid for leased properties under sub-
leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %8

VA 5 i 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

2025 2024
“EZREF “EFEIMEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
FAIR VALUE NTE
At the beginning of the year F4) 2,743,080 3,033,980
Additions NE 3,431 728
Change in fair value N EEH (140,706) (71,078)
Disposals HE (314,935) (63,500)
Transfer to assets classified as held for EREDEAFEHEESE
sale (note 29) (FtzE29) (97,700) (157,050)
At the end of the year FEXR 2,193,170 2,743,080
All of the Group’s property interests held under AEEFRARECSHEESERIGESH
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital BERIEERGEZYEERERALAFEEER
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value STEUDERARASKREY -
model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.
The Group engages third party qualified valuer to AEBEEE=HSERGEMETHE-

perform the valuation. The management works closely
with the qualified external valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation approaches and inputs to the
model. The management reports the findings to the
board of directors of the Company every half-year to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the

property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the property is the current use.

EEEASERIINBEEMBISIE B&%
BRABIBENGEELS EZRBARE -E1F

BE+FREt AfEFZgREREER &
BYMEAFERBHIREA -
RESAMENRATFER MEZEBRRE

RARAHIRFRRR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 March 2025 have been arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on that date by Colliers
(2024: Colliers), an independent property valuer not
connected with the Group. The Valuer has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
of properties amounting to HK$645,000,000 (2024:
HK$1,193,000,000) was arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices of similar properties, with
adjustments on adopted market prices. The valuations of
other properties amounting to HK$1,548,170,000 (2024:
HK$1,550,080,000) were arrived at by reference to the
income capitalisation method which is based on the
capitalisation of the net income potential by adopting
an appropriate capitalisation rate, which is derived
from analysis of sale transactions and interpretation of
prevailing investor requirements or expectations.

Summary of fair value hierarchy and Level 3 fair
value measurements

All investment properties of the Group are valued by
reference to a Level 3 fair value measurement.

There are no transfers among different levels within the
fair value hierarchy during both years.

212

SEEBZREMENR _S_AE=RA=1+—
BZAFENHAKRER L BEEZRIL
MEGEMS N (CEINE 50) #%H
ZHEEE -HEMAGESEESBENRIAH
BEMEAMERFAEYEETEHE-2FR
HEYMEZTBRZERGEE LHBERMAT
BELAR) 2YEEEAE%645,000,000
FTT(ZZ M4 : #%1,193,000,0007T) © %
BBMAEREXRSEHEZHMYMEEE
% 7#151,548,170,0007c (Z T 04 : B
1,550,080,0007T) ° b5 /& RIRIFRMABE SR
BRGLEERZBETVRAFEEESNLE B2
HIHEXZOMMERREE 2 ERFTEH
RIS B 2R o

NP EESBRE=RATFEAEZHRE
FrEEMBKREMENDSEF=RAFE
EffifEe

RREFENLEEQATES
Bizo

AR FE) A [ 4R 1 B9

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant

unobservable inputs:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

BEREESRZE

TREVNERFAERBAEH :

Investment properties | Valuation method Fair value Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
REME fhfERE NYE EXTTRRBAZY (ia)
Adjusted market price per square foot (Note b)
RRENETHRHE (H&b)
Commercial Direct comparison method HK$642,000,000 HK$16,925
E#IERE (2024: HK$673,000,000) (2024: HK$17,742)
#1%642,000,0007C #116,9257

(ZZZWmE : 5%673,000,0007) (ZBZIE : B817,7427T)
Residential Direct comparison method HK$Nil N/A
fte BRI (2024: HK$517,000,000) (2024: HK$18,859)

BRIy TR

(ZEME : %5517,000,0007) (CECmE : EK18,8597)
Industrial Direct comparison method HK$3,000,000 N/A
I% BREE (2024: HK$3,000,000) (2024: N/A)

13,000,000 TEE
(ZFZMmE : 83,000,00070) (ZEZME: FER)
Significant unobservable inputs (Note a)
EXTTRRBAZY (ia)
Investment properties | Valuation method Fair value Capitalisation rate Monthly market rent
(per square foot)
RENE fhfER % AFE EAfEiE SRHERE (BFAR)
Commercial Income capitalisation HK$1,548,170,000 3.0% - 4.5% HK$14.0 to HK$58.0
approach (2024: HK$1,550,080,000) (2024:3.0% - 4.5%) (2024: HK$14.0 to HK$60.0)
WABREE #151,548,170,0007 3.0%—45% A114.07—AH58.070
(CTZMmE : B#1,550,080,0007) | (CEZME :3.0%—4.5%) (ZEZmE  BH14.07—BH60.07T)
Notes: MisE :
(@) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) (@) FOHRMASHBNTEEZEZRENE

(b)

the higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value;
(ii) the higher the market rent, the higher the fair value;
and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher
the fair value, vice versa.

Adjusted market price has taken into account of property-
specific adjustments including mainly location and
condition.

FELEXRES > AFERE ;(HEEAS®
B ATEERS ; R(iiVRAEHEERS 2
FEES RZTFARe

(b) RABTENDNEZEIVENBERE TB
BEUERES-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

Y
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ME- -BERRE
Leasehold Furniture
land and Plant and and Leasehold Motor
buildings ~ equipment fixtures improvements vehicles Total
HELMK ‘ g ) ‘
BF BERRE GRREE % pat:d st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT BT BT BT
CoST I
At 1 April 2023 RIZZ=FNE—H 355,387 30,156 19,177 23,622 13,224 441,566
Additions HE 10,707 1,745 9% - 1,073 13,621
Disposals HE - (240) (6,640) - (1,584) (8,464)
At 31 March 2024 RIZ-ME=B=+—H 366,094 31,661 12,633 23,622 12,713 446,723
IAdditions RE - - 346 - 3,106 3,452
Disposals HE - (21,663) - - (3.250) (24,913)
At 31 March 2025 RZZZ5F¥=A=+—-H 366,094 9,998 12,979 23,622 12,569 425,262
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FEME—H 61,990 28,692 16,092 22,269 9,729 138,772
Provided for the year FERE 12,175 553 1,025 447 1,509 15,709
Eliminated on disposals & B S - (240) (6,572) - (1,584) (8,396)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME=B=+—H 74,165 29,005 10,545 2,716 9,654 146,085
Provided for the year FERE 12,557 743 749 351 1,765 16,165
Eliminated on disposals HEE8H - (21,663) - - (3.250) (24,913)
At 31 March 2025 RZZZEF=R=+-AH 86,722 8,085 11,294 23,067 8,169 137,337
CARRYING VALUES REE
|At 31 March 2025 AZEZRE=RB=1+-H 279,372 1,913 1,685 555 4,400 287,925
At 31 March 2024 RIZ2ZME=A=+—-H 291,929 2,656 2,088 906 3,059 300,638

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following

useful lives:

Leasehold land and

buildings relevant lease period from 20
to 50 years
Leasehold Over the shorter of the term of
improvements the lease period or 5 years

Other assets

Over the unexpired term of the

UEME- -BERRBRBDKREERER

BEEDGHEITE  JERAEHMT ¢

HE L
RigF

HEYEEE

2 to 5 years

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, all the leasehold
land and buildings are located in Hong Kong.
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

18. fEHEEE

2025 2024

—EIRE —EIME

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Leased properties, carrying amount HEWZ  REE 3,074 4,047

Depreciation charge TEER 2,892 1,752

Additions to right-of-use assets NEFHEEE 1,919 4,516

Expenses relating to short-term leases BRIME KI5

of plant and machinery FRHAEENREX 17,402 10,193
Total cash outflow of leases (excluding & (FEIFESHEEFZHEYXE)

leased properties under sublease) HERb4ezE 20,692 12,275

The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

For both years, the Group leases office and a retail
shop for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed terms ranging from 1 to 5 years (2024: 1 to 5
years) without any extension and termination option.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length
of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

EREEENEMGF A ERFEHRER (U
RIGERE) AUBEFEINE -

RmEEE  AEEBERLERTEER
AREE-HEANBENT—E8F (°F
“EF I —ERF) NEEFHRET L HEE
eI AR 7E Ko 4% LE R 12 4 - FRHA 9 2 (B B 1B i B
7 o 7 E AR B R 5T Ak A AT R B IR Y R EE By
FEFRASHERLEE A BHRNTEL
BYRARR °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The Group owns several properties including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately only if the payments made can
be allocated reliably. Those leasehold land components of
the owned properties that the payments made could not
be allocated reliably are presented as leasehold land and
building under property, plant and equipment.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
plant and machinery. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$6,894,000 (2024:
HK$7,903,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of HK$3,074,000 (2024: HK$4,047,000)
and an investment property of HK$9,170,000 (2024:
HK$9,080,000) as at 31 March 2025. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

rEBRBEELSEYE (BFHMAEE L) o
rEEEMBEZEMEERSZ G —RETE
B - ETEEMTFEDEREMRENER
T FERIEZYZEEEMENHEE LM
oo REAEDNEENRENZEBEEY
EPWEELIMIBINRYE -BREKRKREE
TEINAHEL M RIEF-

NEEEHTIIRE R BRIEIAES - 10
—ECRERZEZNE=R=+—H'%E
AT EAGHE FXIREN R RE GRS
FERVFEHATE S AH S AR o

s R ZE_HFE=R=+—H #8&

BEHE¥6,894,000Tc (ZTE_MWE : B
#7,903,0007T) Ll ERAERAEEEEBE
3,074,0007c (ZZE — 4 : #1£4,047,0007T)
R B A1E9,170,0007T (T _ME : #
#£9,080,0007T) —HFERR o BREHFAAIF AN
EEENEHEDIN HERRLREME
fAZE - HEEEATRIEERIIERR

19. BEE AT Z

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
“ECRE —EMF
=B=+—H | =ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost of unlisted investment in REERABIELHREZHA
an associate 7 7
Share of post-acquisition profits, PMEWEEE ZET
net of dividends received (RBEWZ I E) (7) (7)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

Details of the Group's associate as at 31 March 2025 and

R_E-_RFEE-E_NME=RA=+—8"

2024 are as follows: REEBE QT ZHBUT :
Attributable
Place of interest and
Form of incorporation proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of associate structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activity
‘ EMAIMER  FARRG FERRMERAELGR
WERE 207 EBRENS TEELHE 5 BREZLA TEEH
2025 2024
ZEInE ZEIPE
Hoi Bun Godown Company Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment
("Hoi Bun Godown") company
BERRERAR (TEELE) BIRAT &H EER NERE
20. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20. SEEFRZED
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
ZEZRE “EIME
=A=+—-8 | =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Interests in joint ventures comprise: BELEZHGEE
Cost of unlisted investments in REEREELHREZHA
joint ventures 242,424 242,424
Share of post-acquisition results and ~ DMEUEEE 2 £EK
other comprehensive expense, Hiha2mz
net of dividends received (NBREWZRKRS) (150,075) (153,776)
92,349 88,648
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_RAF=-B=+—HILEE

Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures as at 31

R_E-_RFEEE-_NME=RA=+—8"

March 2025 and 2024 are as follows: FEETIESELEZFBUT
Place of Attributable
incorporation/ interest and
Form of registration proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activities
MmN B FRRG FERREREELZR
RELEZAH FHRERL REEEEHE 5 SEZILA TEEH
2025 2024
ZBILE 42
Haining Jiafeng Real Estate Limited liability The People’s  Registered 49% 49% Property development in
Development Limited company Republic of China capital Haining, the PRC
("Haining Jiafeng") BRAR (the "PRC")  EHMER RAEEEES
BERERMERRRAR (N8 HE AR AR UESHEE S
("))
Great Splendor Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER E%?ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ?‘ﬁ#?
Ideal League Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAE  REEXHEE/EE ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁi’“ﬁ#?
Grace Universe Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BFERAT company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAE  REEZEE/EE REBETREZRER
Super Plus Limited Limited liability HongKong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property investment in
company &% BER Hong Kong
BIRAT E%?ﬁﬁﬁ#%%&ﬁ%"
Flourishing Stable Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
REERAF company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%/ é% ﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁi’“ﬁ#?
Fortunate Benefit Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
HHERAR company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BRAE  REEXEE/EE E%%iﬁﬁ&ﬁ}”}_ﬁﬁ?
Fortune Creation Developments Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
Limited company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBEE/ER REBETNERERER
Honour Advent Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
ERERAT company Hong Kong LBk ) Hong Kong
BRAR Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%/ é% REBETREERER
Prime Success Global Limited Limited liability ~ British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
BRRRERAT company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BIRAR Eﬁﬁi‘ﬁ%/ 15% E%%iﬁﬁ&ﬁ}”}_ﬁﬁ?
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

Place of Attributable
incorporation/ interest and
Form of registration proportion of
business and principal Class of voting power
Name of joint venture structure place of operation shares held held by the Group Principal activities
AMEmIhE /B FARRG FRERERSEDR
RELFZLHE EBRENS REBESHEY <yl BRREZLA TERH
2025 2024
ZBIERE ZEImE
Fortune Shiner Development Limited ~ Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
EERRERAT company e LER Hong Kong
BRAR E"*%ﬁﬁ#ﬁé"%ﬁ%
Protic Limited Limited liability HongKong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
EEERAR company &% LER Hong Kong
BRAR ﬁ%%f&ﬁ%%’*@%*
Esteemed Virtue Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
HEERAH company Hong Kong LBk Hong Kong
BRAR  ABELBE/ER REBETRELERES
Befit Limited Limited liability Hong Kong  Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
company &% BER Hong Kong
BRAR E"*%ﬁﬁ#ﬁé"%ﬁ%
Excess Wonder Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Investment holding in
$BERAT company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BRAR  EBRZBES/ER REBES &ﬁi"ﬁ#?
Rainbow Jade Enterprises Limited Limited liability  British Virgin Islands/ ~ Ordinary 50% 50% Property development in
FELEERAT company Hong Kong LER Hong Kong
BRAR  ABELBE/ER E"ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%¥?§§¥?
All joint ventures are accounted for using the equity FIEEECEFEREDEINZEEARHR
method in these consolidated financial statements. RAIRe

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

Aggregate financial information of the Group’s joint

R_E-_RFEEE-_NME=RA=+—8"

ventures as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 is set out below: FEBSETEZBEMBERHENNWNT :
2025 2024
—EIRE —EmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Current assets RBEE 3,888,576 3,394,702
Current liabilities mENaE (4,604,295) (4,091,524)
Non-current assets ERBEE 571,310 599,799
Net liabilities BEFE (144,409) (97,023)
Group's share of net assets KEBMEEEFE 92,349 88,648
Net loss for the year REEFEE (45,651) (83,302)
Other comprehensive expense REEHMEESZ N
for the year (1,735) (9,271)
Group's share of profit (loss) FEEDMGZEFE G (BE18)
for the year 4,551 (13,077)
Group's share of exchange REBRMEZAFEERELE
differences for the year (850) (4,543)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —EME
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
The unrecognised share of loss of KEEREIDLEE
joint ventures for the year EEE 27,373 28,408
Cumulative unrecognised share of Rt kBRI EEEREEE
losses of joint ventures 165,699 138,326
21. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES 21. SETEER
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
_EZREF —EMNE
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loans to joint ventures SETEEXR 1,085,366 1,036,628

As at 31 March 2025, loans are granted to joint ventures
engaging in property development and property
investment in Hong Kong. The loans amounted to
HK$433,294,000 (2024: HK$420,381,000) are unsecured,
interest bearing at 3.0% (2024: 4.25%) per annum and
repayable on demand. The remaining loans to joint
ventures are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have
no fixed terms of repayment. The Group has no intention
to request for repayment of the loans amounting to
HK$1,085,366,000 (2024: HK$1,036,628,000) within the
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the loans are classified as non-current assets.

The Group assessed the ECL with reference to the internal
credit rating of the counterparties. Impairment loss of
HK$97,037,000 (2024: impairment loss of HK$88,210,000)
was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2025. Details of impairment assessment are set out
in note 48.

A _E_HE=RBR=1+—H ' Fx&EEKRTF
REABNEVEZEBRYEREZGEDR
¥ BB IEA33,294,000T (ZB_MEF ¢
7 #5420,381,0007T) o R IE B K > 17
FRE3.0% (ZFE-MF : 4.25%) st B KA
BEREE- BRTITRFTAELEZERD
BIEH -AHEREBEEEERH &R
EERBRSHREFTZBEAARAEKRERE
7#511,085,366,0007c (Z T OF : B
1,036,628,0007T) Z B o Ak » ZE B W
DEAERBEE-

REBMBERZHZABEETRTETELR
EEEE-#E_E_A4=A=+—HL
FEEHEREHBN97,037,000T (ZE M
F H{ERSI8 4 1£88,210,0007T) MiBX HHE
o R B L EE B E M cEA8 0
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

22. JOINT OPERATIONS

The Company, a subsidiary of the Company and
independent third parties (“Joint Operator”) entered
into a development agreement dated 20 December
2005 and a supplemental agreement date 8 February
2010 in respect of the joint development of a residential
development project in Hong Kong (the “Project”).
On 19 January 2021, the Group entered into a second
supplement agreement with the Joint Operator. The
details of the second supplement agreement were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19
January 2021. Pursuant to the agreements, the Group
and the Joint Operator contributed the lots of land
owned and executed of a deed of exchange to merge the
ownership of the lots of land and owned in the ratio of
24.82% and 75.18%, respectively, in the merged land and
the Project.

The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue
and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group’s interest in the joint
operation are as follows:

22. iSRS

KRB KRB ZMBARAKREBILE=ZT
(MBagEE) MNERNEEERER
(MZ|E) AR RITL—MBARA T

ERE+_RA_tHNERWEKRBHERZ

T-ZE_AN\BNERBE - R T _—

F-RthB FAEBREBSEEETTILS

R RE B DA RZIFBERE

ABEMBA T _—F-AThBZAEK

B -RiFZFHZ sEBRBMASEEETMN

FF &6 RO 3 B 3t 38 37 SR 2R DL i B By

AR LR EHHMIERZEBEERDREER

24.82%%75.18% °

RIFEMHRRTEDERASEBNGSE
ERNEENEERER WAKRAXEE
LI

2025 2024

—EZRE —EMUE

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Assets* BE* 1,197,378 1,039,000
Liabilities afE (6,165) (96)
Revenue WA - =
Expenses (553 (49,229) (21,821)

@ Amounts represented properties under development for
sale disclosed in note 23.
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The Group also entered into a joint arrangement with
a fellow subsidiary of the Joint Operator to provide
construction contract work for the Project. The two
parties contribute the funding, share revenue and bear
costs equally.

The aggregate amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue
and expenses recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to the Group's interest in the joint
operation are as follows:

VA 5 i 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

FEETRABEGEEEZ —HRRANBAR
SJUAERE AZEBRERESNIRE
SIS HEHE  DERAL B -

REGZEMBREPERIEMEERNHGE
ERNEDNEERER  WAKRRSXEE
BRUNT :

2025 2024

—E"RE —EME

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT 5T

Assets BE 69,737 51,320

Liabilities aE (12,154) (5,012)

Revenue WA 272,717 145,931

Expenses 52 (261,442) (139,603)
23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 23. BRPZFEYE

FOR SALE
At the end of the reporting period, total cumulative NIREHR BEPIFEYEEREZE

borrowing costs capitalised in the properties under
development for sale were HK$107,587,000 (2024:
HK$47,357,000).

The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold lands
taking into account the estimated residual values as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.

sHERR R A 4858 24 78 15107,587,0007T (&
ZPO4E ; #E#&A7,357,0005T) ©

RErEEEEAHELMBONGERE
BE-ZRI _ZF_HAFR-ZT_MF=A
=+— B REREE WEREE 1M
sHRITEEE A -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The properties under development for sale located in
Hong Kong, is classified under current assets as it is
expected to be realised in the Group’s normal operating

HRMURERNERPZFEYMERRAR
FEEEEEERRRNER WOBR A
BE - -FRREIE AN RS HARES + @

cycle. The entire amount is expected to be recovered  B# 7 AJUx[g] -
after twelve months from the end of the reporting
period.
24. INVENTORIES 24. 78
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZRHF —EMF
=B=+—H | =ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT T
Health products — finished goods BRER XM 3,610 4,338
25. CONTRACT ASSETS 25. GHEE
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZRE —EMNE
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction contracts BEIEEN 383,865 310,104
Less: Allowance for credit losses A EEEBEEE (1,898) (1,122)
381,967 308,982

As at 1 April 2023, contract assets amounted to
HK$238,208,000.

Contract assets arise when the Group has right to
consideration for completion of construction contract,
interior and renovation contract and installation of
building materials contract and not yet billed under
the relevant contracts, and their right is conditioned
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to
trade debtors when such right becomes unconditional.
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RZEBE_ZFNE—H GNEERAEE
238,208,0007T °

BHNEERTERTHBEIRSN K
REETIRGHORZEREMH ITREGHNL
A WER BRI A A E R R IRIEAE
MENRERNHRELE MEEESEHEAE
FEUR I By B #E78 LU L K - Se Al B ST
HENBEENEARIRDRAREN RS E
R EM D EEEWRIE
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Included in carrying amount of contract assets was
retention money amounted to HK$179,305,000 (2024:
HK$121,377,000) as at 31 March 2025. Retention money
is unsecured and interest-free and represented the
monies withheld by customers of contract works to be
fully recoverable within 1 to 2 years from the date of
completion of construction contracts, in accordance
with the terms specified in the relevant contracts. Upon
satisfactory completion of contract work as set out in
the contract, the architect for the building project will
issue a practical completion certificate. Generally, upon
the issuance of the practical completion certificate, half
of the retention money of such contract work will be
released to the Group, while the remaining half will be
released to the Group upon the issuance of the certificate
that identified defects in respect of the entire building
project have been made good.

The retention money would be settled, based on the
expiry of the defect liability period, at the end of the
reporting period as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

RZE_HAFE=B=+—H > aNEENEE
HESEREEE¥179,305,00057T (&
Z U4 #%121,377,0007T) - REE A E
EREES BRREEMENIEMES
HNRIE HARBEBEMESORE Z RN E
RIREEHNTHBEPET —EMERZEK
BleREMFMIHZEHNTREERTHRE 18
FEBZEEMBELERBTHE -— K
me BHERBTIHER LWEENTREZ
—¥REEHERFTAEER > MG —F&
RERMZFEFEEMBRZREEEEE
ZHEEBHEBERTEAER-

RE R KRS HHRENRESEENE
WA BRI

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

—EZREF —EMNE

=B=+-8B | =A=+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Amount receivable within one year —FERERESEE 51,881 51,535
Amount receivable after one year —FREKRSEE 127,424 69,842
179,305 121,377
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_RAF=-B=+—HILEE

Included in the above contract assets are amounts due UESHEENSIERKEAMATEEZES 4

from related parties of trading nature as follows: HZMIESBRUT :
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
ZEZRE “EIME
=B=+—8 | =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Joint ventures b 73,529 33,469
Subsidiaries of Million Hope Industries EZ B #IZRERAT
Holdings Limited (“Million Hope") (TE=)) Z2MBAE (M)
(note) 1,019 1,017

Note: Million Hope is regarded as a related company in which Mzt ZESWAABBAT MARAETER

CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust”), a substantial BCCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (TCCM
shareholder of the Company, and certain discretionary Trustl) REFHEGETE (RBDETES
trusts, of which certain directors of the Company AENBREAENPZRE) RERES
are among the members of the class of discretionary BmiEmo

beneficiaries, have beneficial interests.

As part of the internal credit risk management, the EARNBEERREEZ—ZD  AEBEM
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in BERIBRSN -RMHAEEIRSORLE
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation BEMMIBSHNAEZRAHEARNIBEET
contract and installation of building materials contract. R -MENEEMAEZEEREAXTEIRE
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for contract assets EEEENERTLETTEL EEEEE
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for HENGHNEEN TR ERESMAESHNE
contract assets that are credit-impaired or contract assets ~ E#E{TEBIETEBRIM

from departments of The Government of HKSAR which

are assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 48. BT ¥ B MI5E48
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26. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

26. FEULTRIA - & R TR (I 7R IE

PREPAYMENTS

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZREF —EMNE
=A=+-8 | ZA=+—8H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Trade debtors FE U =R IE
— contracts with customers —EBREH 95,747 62,695
— lease receivables —THE KA 1,165 328
Less: Allowance for credit losses o EEEEEE (80) (99)
96,832 62,924
Other receivables HithpE U zIE 17,417 3,168
Deposits BE 4,036 4,940
Prepayments FATTRIE 20,768 23,588
139,053 94,620

As at 1 April 2023, trade debtors from contracts with
customers, net of allowance for credit losses, amounted
to HK$72,870,000.

For the business of construction services and others, the
Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 90 days
and not more than 90 days (2024: 30 to 90 days and not
more than 90 days), respectively, to its customers. Before
accepting any new customer, the Group will internally
assess the credit quality of the potential customers and
define appropriate credit limit. Other receivables are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

R_EBE_=ZFMA—H 'RBERAEHXK
ZEWRE (NREEERER) 28K
72,870,000 7T °

EREERBREMER  XEB KB
FEHERSN=+FEA+BEARZRA+H
(ZEZ@EFE =+EATHEAZRA+
B) ZEEH -ERMAMEAZA AEER
HEBEEERZEEERFRMIMG W]
FEEERE HMEKFIENLEER 28
RRERBEER-
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade
debtors. 96% (2024: 82%) of the trade debtors are
neither past due nor impaired to be of a good credit
quality based their historical repayments. Included in the
trade debtors balance are trade debtors with aggregate
carrying amount of HK$1,647,000 (2024: HK$3,026,000)
which are past due over 90 days at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group does not consider
them to be credit-impaired as the directors of the
Company considered there has no default occurred as
these trade debtors are still considered fully recoverable
due to long term/on-going relationship and good
repayment record from these debtors. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. There are
no balances included in other receivables which are past
due.

The aged analysis of trade debtors, net of allowance
for credit losses, presented based on the invoice date,
as appropriate, at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

CEEGREYERERREBEZEEER H
F196% (ZF U4 : 82%) FEURFIAR A HA
NERBRE REREZERELEMS > HKR
AEEEERF B8R ENHIEARIRE
{E4EXEE 11,647,000 (CZ_04FE : B
3,026,0007T) Z FEWFRIEN R SRR B EHA
BATHMAEERAZERBELEELF
BRE BERAXARESRA BHRHEZE
BEANRE FERGARRERTFNERS
B MZ SRR R A 0 2 8k(E »
L mBEEFMEN AERMBEMRZEE
BRIFEE MRS EtEKRIEL EEIE
B ko

FEWCRRIE (RS E RS 1EEHE) 2 REE DTS
RBRSHRZEZEH WMER) BE7W
T

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
“E"RE “ETMEF

=B=+—8 | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Within 30 days =t+HA 92,788 51,349
31 - 60 days =+—Z/;x+H 2,099 4,705
61— 90 days ANtT—ZEh+H 298 3,844
Over 90 days #eht+H 1,647 3,026
96,832 62,924
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Included in the above trade debtors are amounts due
from related parties of trading nature as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

EULERRERNSERKRABALREES
MEZRIRTIBBWMT -

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

—_E_RE —EME

ZA=+-8 | =A=+-8

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T

Joint ventures b 38,892 14,131

As part of the internal credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers in
relation to construction contract, interior and renovation
contract and installation of building materials contract.
The exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade debtors
are assessed based on collective assessment, except for
trade debtors that are credit-impaired or receivable from
departments of The Government of HKSAR which are
assessed individually.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The amounts represent investments in equity securities
listed on the Stock Exchange whose fair value amounted
to HK$290,000 (2024: HK$263,000) as at 31 March 2025.

FRAREEERREEZ —85  KEBEM
BEIRAN KMIREEIRSOREE
BEMHIRBRGHRHEZRRARSEE
#R o FLEE W IEFR KR 2 E B AR KR RS
EERENERTGETIGL BEEREE
AR EWRIER R E B E BT PIN
TRIREITIE B ST AL R

BB R R I 548 o

27. EBHERBATEATEZME
BE

REREERBRA LT RABSRE

RIEBE_RAFE=RB=+—H HAFEAH
#290,0007T (ZZ - M4 : #1263,0007T) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and
short-term bank deposits for the purpose of meeting the
Group's’ short-term cash commitments, with an original
maturity of three months or less at interest rate at a
range from 0.01% to 0.28% (2024: 0.01% to 1.50%) per
annum as at 31 March 2025.

At 31 March 2025, bank balances and cash of
HK$5,925,000 (2024: HK$5,987,000) were denominated
in Renminbi (“RMB"”) which is not a freely convertible
currency in the international market. The exchange rate
of RMB is regulated by the PRC government and the
remittance of these funds out of the PRC is subject to
exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 48.

29. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

The major classes of assets classified as held for sale are as

28. RERFEFE

HeEhkReEEQEANREESEEEHR
SRIEFRERREHRRITER REHR
A=-ERIUT RZIE_AF=B=+—
HEEMEA0.01%ZFE0.28% (ZT 94 :
0.01%%E1.50%) ©

MRZEZRFE=HF=+—H"#%5,925,000

T (CE U4 © #B155,987,0007T) Z IR1T4E
BRERRAERARE (AR JIE AR
FEREEHZERRR NARBEXZH
BERFRERNPEELEHRESAZTPE
BT B HE R SN EE PR HIFR PR ©

B ET k¥ 15 Jh Y5148

29. PERFHFLERE

SEARFHEREZ TEENT :

follows:
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
ZEZRE =1 =2
=—A=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Investment properties KREWZE 97,700 157,050
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As at 31 March 2025, fair value of the investment
properties classified as held for sale amounting to
HK$97,700,000 (2024: HK$157,050,000) were determined
with reference to the contracted selling price for those
units with sale and purchase agreement and Colliers, an
independent property valuer.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
launched a workshop in an industrial property located
in Hong Kong with carrying value amounting to
HK$8,250,000 for sale in the market. Subsequent to 31
March 2024 and up to date of the report, the Group
entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of HK$8,250,000. The disposal was
completed in May 2024.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
launched certain retail shops in a residential property
located in Hong Kong with carrying value amounting to
HK$148,800,000 for sale in the market. Subsequent to
31 March 2024 and up to date of the report, the Group
entered into a provisional sale and purchase agreement
with an independent third party at an aggregate
consideration of HK$148,800,000. The disposal was
completed in July 2024.

A W55 Rk
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=-HA=1+—HILEE

MRZE_RAFE=B=+—H »2EAFEH
EZREMERFEA7,700,0007T (ZF
P94 : #%8157,050,0007T) [ 2 EZ %] H
BERBENEMUNETNEBUREBIIYE
HEMEERE -

RBEEE-_NE=A=+—HLEE &
%.ﬁ:—ﬁﬁﬁzarﬁZI¥%¥WﬁﬁmI
ERT > BRE{E 2 7 158,250,000 AR T IB HY
ERZTNE=B=1+—H#BRKREEXR
REHM AEREBYFE=FTERE
BHipE o BN EABES,250,0007c  ZHE
EEER-ZE_MNERATM -

RBEE_T-_MOFE=A=+—HLEFE &
EER—RBUNREBEZEEWERKRET
JE & BREE A B 1£148,800,0007cc A =&
_ME=BA=+—HEKREEXREEH"
AEBRBYE=-HIURRNEERE &
B4 #1£148,800,000 T ZHEFEER
“E_OEEAEMRe
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group
launched retail shops and certain residential units of
a block of residential investment properties in Hong
Kong with carrying value amounting to HK$97,700,000
for sale in the market. The directors of the Company
considered that the held-for sale criteria as set out in
HKFRS 5 were met, by taking into account the fact that
the subject assets were immediately available for sale,
and the sale is to be highly probable as appropriate level
of management had committed to a plan to sell the
equity interest or assets. Accordingly, the respective assets
were classified as assets held for sale as at 31 March 2025
and included in the property investment for segment
reporting purposes.

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

RBE_Z_AF=A=+—HLEE"
FEEREBHHITEERUAR—#HEE
REVENETEEEM REESEE
97,700,0007c AR G HE - 5t RZEE
BiRF AW EREEE RN EEREE K
HEREREEN B UK S5 E
B AR EERANEEBM B REER
BHRABFEHEREZ AL - BE_F
—HEZA=+—H HHHEEERDEAK
FHEBEE IMmOERSTENMtAYE
REDHE-

30. FE{rRIA R H fth FE {7k 1E

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

—EZRE —EINE

=—A=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Trade payables FE(TFRIE 83,077 59,171
Retention payable — amount payable FEfH{REIE—

within one year —FENELEEE 72,708 94,423
Retention payable — amount payable EfJ{RES—

after one year —FREMNERE 66,134 37,282

Accrued operating costs and charges  fEEHE B4R & A 31,041 60,211

Accrued costs for construction work FEETEE TR A 166,177 217,691

Temporary receipts B B I BN 2 7R I8 29,347 12,351

Deposits received BUREEE 16,181 14,449

464,665 495,578

The credit period on purchase of goods and payment for
subcontractors’ works is ranged from 30 to 90 days.
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The aged analysis of trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

ENREZREDHDRBREARZER
HEIRZ5WMT -

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZRE —EMWNE
=B=+—8 | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000

AT AETT

Within 30 days =t+HA 74,746 55,260
31 - 60 days =+—Z/;x+H 852 662
61 - 90 days ~T—ZEA+H 747 654
Over 90 days #eht+H 6,732 2,595

83,077 59,171

As at 31 March 2025, the retention payable balances
included retention payable to subsidiaries of Million
Hope amounting to HK$9,000 (2024: HK$Nil).

31. PROVISIONS

The Group’s provisions are analysed for reporting

purposes as:

RIE_RAFE=R=+—H B REZSLE
BREEEMEST ZHEB AT AHB%9,0007T
(CEZNE : BEEEw) 2REE-

31.

FEFEFE2RABRNEREDNWMT :

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

—E-REF —EMFE

=A=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT

Current liabilities mEaE 28,622 16,470
Non-current liabilities EmeEmaE 40,704 34,869
69,326 51,339
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The movement of the Group’s provisions are as follows: TEBRBHEESHWT :

Provision for

rectification

work

BNIE

B

HK$'000

BAETT

At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FMA—H 43,568
Provision B 23,650
Utilisation E)=E] (15,879)
At 31 March 2024 REZBZME=B=+—H 51,339
Provision BiE 37,065
Utilisation o))z (19,078)
At 31 March 2025 RZ_E_HF=B=+—H 69,326

The provision for rectification work as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 relates to the cost of work to be carried
out in relation to construction contracts, interior and
renovation contracts and supply and installation of
building materials supplied to the Group’s customers
during the defects liability period, mainly for a period of
maximum of 2 years, based on relevant correspondence
and contracts with customers and management'’s prior
experience with the consideration of the rectification
work claim in the past. These amounts have not been
discounted for the purpose of measuring the provision
for rectification work because the effect is not material.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES

32.THE &R

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
ZEZRE “EINE
=B=+—H | =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEAE
Within one year —&R 3,307 3,026
Within a period of more than one year BB—FEBARZHRHMEHRBA
but not more than two years 617 1,677
Within a period of more than two years BBMEEBRZSHRAELRBA
but not more than five years 203 362
More than five years BRERE 2,767 2,838
6,894 7,903
Less: Amount due for settlement AR+ ZEAREIBREE DS
within 12 months shown ARBBEZEEE
under current liabilities (3,307) (3,026)
Amount due for settlement after R+ZEREIBEENES
12 months shown under non-current ERBBEZEEE
liabilities 3,587 4,877

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates
applied to lease liabilities ranged from 4.0% to 6.0%

(2024: 4.0% to 6.0%).

6.0%) °

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i

NF4.0%E6.0%

BARENEEEGENMEESIESE/RFE
—ENFE I 40%E
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

33. BANK LOANS

33. fRITEM

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EIRE —EIME
=A=+-8 | ZA=+-8
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT
Bank loans (note a) IRITEM (HzFa) 1,931,000 1,878,072
Less: Amount shown under current B ARARSHEREZEEE
liabilities (including Bank loans (BIEERERER
with a repayable on demand ZIRITER)
clause) (1,138,368) (1,878,072)
Amount shown under PRAERBEBZEEE
non-current liabilities 792,632 -
The carrying amounts of the above FEEZREERR
borrowings are repayable: THHAREE -
within one year —FR 38,368 831,069
within a period of more than one BiE—FERES
year but not more than two years W HA FE 678,368 -
within a period of more than two HBiBAMEERER
year but not more than five years A FHRER 114,264 =
831,000 831,069
The carrying amount of bank loans BRAREBEREEFRRZ
that contain a repayable on demand $R{TEMEREE (D15
clause (shown under current liabilities SREhNE(R) B THHARK
but repayable): Big
within one year —ER 1,100,000 1,047,003
1,931,000 1,878,072
Secured (note b) BEE (Mf5Eb) 1,431,000 1,421,069
Unsecured s 3 500,000 457,003
1,931,000 1,878,072

236

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %8

Notes:

(@) The Group’s bank loans are floating-rate borrowings
which carry interest at market rates ranging from HIBOR +
0.75% to HIBOR + 1.75% per annum (2024: from HIBOR +
0.75% to HIBOR + 1.84% per annum).

(b) The bank loans are secured by charges over certain assets
of the Group, which are disclosed in note 39.

VA 5 i 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

FisE :

(a) ZAEEETERDUTBHERAENTH

MEER FMNERBFARITEERSEM

0.75% ZEFARITEEREM.75%HE (Z
ZOEF  AEARTREEREMOTIS%E

EHRRITEZEIFRENM1.84%) o

(b) RFMRITERUKREEETEERR FI1B
FAMIEE39 R 1% 25

() The weighted average effective interest rates on the (0 HEFERTERZMEFHERERNE
Group's bank loans range from 4.71% to 6.32% (2024: #4.71%%E6.32% (ZZ M 1 5.24%F
5.24% to 6.32%) per annum. 6.32%) °

34. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT 34. T4 8#E I A

31 3.2025 31 3.2024
=B :+— B | =A :‘l'— H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Derivative under cash flow hedge HeERERHPEHEME
accounting Interest rate swaps HHETZTETIR 8,682 -

Derivative is initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contract is entered into and is
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period. The Group designates
derivative as hedging instruments for cash flow hedge.
At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument is highly
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows
of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

TTEIARTTESQNIIIABRUATEETT
NP HER TRBEHRUAATFEETERE
EfstE-AEEEETETREASRER
EBZHHM TR -EHHRFHRGBRE  NEH
BEHRSDTHRENHIER ZHAIRGR UKk
HEREEBRREETSEHARZHR
B o b5 > FEH P RIAME R RIRFHER E >
EEREEEHAMEPERNE P TAER
HEPEEMNATENRER T EESEIERE
B
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivative and other qualifying hedging instrument
that is designated and qualify as cash flow hedge
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of hedging reserve,
limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the
hedged item from inception of the hedge. The gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, and is included in the
“finance costs” line item. Amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same
line as the recognised hedged item.

Interest rate swap contract

The Group entered into interest rate swap contracts in
order to manage the Group's interest rate exposure in
relation to the Group’s borrowings with interests indexed
to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR"). This
interest rate swap contract is designated as hedging
instruments which hedge the variability in the cash flows
relating to interest and principal repayments of the
underlying hedged borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following outstanding interest rate swap contract:

Interest rate swap contract to minimise the exposure
to fluctuations in interest rate of borrowings with
aggregate notional amount of HK$670,000,000 at with
maturity date to 22 June 2026 which receives interest
rates at HIBOR + 1.75% and pays interest at 6.32% per
annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the fair value
loss of interest rate swap contract that is designated
and effective as hedging instruments of HK$8,682,000
is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in hedging reserve.
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RBEHR AEBAUTHREZENH X
HAIEA

ARERBEENXFFRBMIINGE
4 SR A HK670,000,0007T FIEAEA
ZARERNAZHZH BREBRITHERE
IN1.75% B9 R UWERF) S B IR EF]%6.32%
S AMENFEEREY

RBEE_ZE_AF=-A=+—HILFE 15
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A F{EEEHB18,682,000c EN Efth 2 E UL
R RERRI Y E R B R et o

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

Financial assets and financial liabilities subject
to enforceable master netting arrangement or
similar agreements

The Group has entered into interest rate contracts that
are covered by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association Master Agreements (“ISDA Agreements”)
signed with a bank. These derivative instruments are not
offset in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the ISDA Agreements are in place with a right to set
off only in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
so that the Group currently has no legally enforceable
right to set off the recognised amounts. No further
disclosure is provided as the amounts involved in master
netting arrangements are not significant.

35. DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is
the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

R AH AT P EREE L HFEEE
UHERRNMBEERMBER

FEEBITUMRGH HHE-KRITH
ENERERARTEIARETEGE (ER
HHRGTETRB SRR FRRE AR
BEEEARTETARERIBERE  EF
REHREXRE - BHEEIRENBRT
ITEMREHE LN A EEB ML EEHE
B SRR IR RV O I SR B AT R ) SR F T
FTRTRNGEMBRTRAEE AR
MBPHEEZHIRNERLAEKR > I
BELE—DKE-

35. EEMRIE
S AR BERREE ETREREEE

RBFEEEREH UTAMMBFREEM
ME ZELERIBGERZ O

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

—EZRE —EME

=B=+—B | =A=+-8

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Deferred tax assets RIERIEEE 5,501 5,340
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBAE (2,190) (6,477)
3,311 (1,137)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The followings are the major deferred tax (liabilities) ZAEBTEIRIERIE (BF) BEERNEEE

assets of the Group and movements thereon during the  KRBREERILMEEZESEWT :

current and prior years:

Accelerated
tax Tax Provision
depreciation losses for ECL Total
i HHiEE
nEginE RIEEE BiakE iz
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT ABETT BRI
At 1 April 2023 AZE-=£EMBA—H (37,987) 32,259 200 (5,528)
(Charge) credit to consolidated REEELGESERRY
statement of profit or loss (i) st A
for the year (2,926) 7,316 1 4,391
At 31 March 2024 A_E_ME=HA=+—H (40,913) 39,575 201 (1,137)
Credit to consolidated statement of MEEEEGEERPEHA
profit or loss for the year 3,635 688 125 4,448
At 31 March 2025 R_E_RE=F=+—H (37,278) 40,263 326 3,311

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$452,082,000
(2024: HK$454,462,000) available for offset against
future profit. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of approximately HK$244,016,000 (2024:
HK$239,847,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the remaining losses of
approximately HK$208,066,000 (2024: HK$214,615,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All
the unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

REBESEHR cEBRBZREBENS
A ¥452,082,000c (ZE - HFE : B
454,462,0007T) > A] EIREH KRR ZiEH - B
IR IEES 1849 7#15244,016,0007C (ZE M
£ : A18239,847,0007T) FESRIRIERIBE &= ©
F A R BEfd 51 AR 2R 2 i FIl 2K - 18E i EL &R
TRIERS 184978 1208,066,0007T (Z T U4 :
7&1#£214,615,0007T) FESRIRIEIRIBE E - FiA
KRERZ MBI e MR HAAE S o
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36. SHARE CAPITAL

VA 5 i 2 B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

36. g

HK$'000
BT T

No. of shares

RINEE

Authorised:
Shares of HK$0.10 each
Balance as at 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024 and
31 March 2025

EE -

SR AL0.10T Z RS
ATEZ=FMA—H-
“EME=RB=+—HK
“E-RF=R=+—HZ

#EER 1,500,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE :
Shares of HK$0.10 each BEHEE0.107TT 2R 1D
Balance as at 1 April 2023 XA _E_=—FWHA—HZ&R  1,096,286,676 109,629
Repurchased and cancelled Bl FE (MaEi)
(note ii) (23,212,000) (2,322)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 and ATE_WE=BA=+—HxK
31 March 2025 “ETRFE=H=+—HZz
4EER 1,073,074,676 107,307

Notes:

(i)

(i)

The shares in issue rank pari passu in all respects.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
repurchased 17,964,000 shares on the market for
an aggregated consideration paid of approximately
HK$19,999,000, in which all shares were cancelled during
the year ended 31 March 2024 and no shares were
cancelled after the reporting date.

GEE
() BEFRORESESEERER-

(i) BEZFTE-_NE=B=1+—HLEEE £
B ™5 BB 17,964,000 i% 15 > B 1148
RIEBELNAH1£19,999,0007T > 2B H ER
BHE_T-_ME=BA=+—HILFEFHU
R ER M AR E BB
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

Number of
ordinary Consideration per share Aggregate
shares BRAE consideration
repurchased Highest Lowest paid

B
EER#A RE RiE BI8ERE
HK$ HK$ HK$
Month B BT BT BT
June 2023 —E-=F5xH 2,154,000 1.14 1.08 2,423,640
July 2023 —E-=F+tH 8,564,000 1.14 1.09 9,613,000
August 2023 —E-=%)\R 7,246,000 1.10 1.08 7,962,060

37. RESERVES

Contributed surplus of the Group mainly represents the
(1) difference between the aggregate share capital of the
subsidiaries at the date on which they were acquired by
the Company and the nominal amount of the Company’s
shares issued at the time of the group corporate
reorganisation, less the par value of the bonus shares
issued by the Company; and (2) the difference between
market price and the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued upon exercise of share options.

Special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate
of contributions from the then shareholders of the
companies comprising the Group and other subsidiaries
of HKR International Limited (“HKRI"”) before the group
corporate reorganisation in prior years.

37. #fE

FEBZHARK TBERMNERFWE
MEBABER ZFEMBAB ZRABER
RAEBREERAATDERTROEEZE
BoRESABEHTARZEE k()T
EEREREAQABERITRMZHEREE
ZERRe

FEBRZEHRERIENAEREHAAN
FEBZRARAMREARZEAREERBRAT
(TEBEXE) NEMERRNERFRRR
BEFEZRAETHEER
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38. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s former share option scheme (“2011 Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 21
September 2011 and was terminated on 25 August 2020.
Share options granted prior to the termination continue
to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms
of 2011 Share Option Scheme.

The Company adopted a new share option scheme
("Existing Scheme”) on 25 August 2020, all executive
or non-executive directors and full-time employees of,
and consultants employed on a contract basis by, any
member of the Group are eligible to participate in the
Existing Scheme. No options have been granted under
the Existing Scheme since its adoption.

The purpose of the Existing Scheme is to provide the
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interest in the Company and to encourage them to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole.

(a) Maximum number of shares available for
issue

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Existing
Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on the date of approval of the Existing Scheme, subject
to renewal as approved by the shareholders of the
Company. The total number of shares available for issue
under the Existing Scheme is 109,092,467.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=-HA=1+—HILEE

38. iEfg ST

FRABZRABRESS (T2 ——BRE
5tE) A RABR_E—FNB=Z+—H
RN —ZE_SF N\ +HABKIE-#
IERRHZ EREREEANRAIRE_Z
—— MBS B Z R T AT

ERABTRZEZEENBZ+HBRMIE
st El (TRITEtE) » AEEFEAKER
BZERNTRIFRTESREZHEEUR
MEeEHnrEANERSTE2HERTHE
2 E e BIRITEEERME  HIB T &R
HAEAGHRE -

RITstEIZBN A2 EERUBALAT
FIEAEDZZRE KBS RELEAT
RERRZZ2EMD SHiEBFA AT KRE
RinZEfE-

() AIHEBETZROHHBE LR

RIBRITHE R A QFEMRE M5 ER WG
BWFFAEBRERITEM FETHRG A
FoARBENRTHEMEERERTE
BITRMHDZ10% HAKEATRERAE
BRI EIRTAHEITZROBES
109,092,467f% ©
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HEZ

(b)

(1)

)

Such

E_RF=H=+—HIFE

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in issue
unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of
the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would
result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to
be granted (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such
other percentage as may from time to time
be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the
Company’s shares in issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company on
the date of grant in excess of HK$5.0 million
(or such other amount as may from time to
time be specified by the Stock Exchange),
such grant of options shall be subject to
prior approval of the shareholders of the
Company, such grantee, his associates and all
core connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting at such general meeting.

grant of options shall be subject to prior approval

by the shareholders of the Company, such grantee, his

associates and all core connected persons of the Company

shall

244

abstain from voting at such general meeting.

(b) B2HEEZBRERELR

Q)]

()

PRIFEERTBIRRZ (FHLAE > BRIFHME
A+_ERHME AiTERE2HE
RHZBRE (BEBITERMKTE
ZRERE) MBETRBTETZRMNE
B A EBBERTERITRINZ1%-

HRARABDZEERRABILIENITE
EREARSEIEZHEAN (ERRE L
mAR A R EFRIRBRE R EERNE
EREHSHLEZ+ @A AB (81E%
HZB) MRALTERERFGTFREZ
FREMRIRE (BHEEITE s R HRTT
fEZ B ) BT M E 1T Rk T3
T2hkfn

(i) BHEFRAFTERETRMD0.1% (K
BRXFARIEEZHMBE D) U
£ &

(i) REA2AKRHNEL B H
ZHHESE KEEBER
5,000,0007T (S Ek A FRABFISRE Z
Hith28) > At SREBRES
HOEANSESATRRELHME
BHRET BREABAHEBEA
REFABERBROBMEANLT YA
RZRERRE LRERE-

EERHERESEVANSEIRFNRRSE
ot TS FIE T BRZARA S KB A RFR
BEARBAZOBMEATHARZKRRAE £
BERRE-

HANISON CONSTRUCTION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024/2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok

(c) Option period

The period within which the grantee may exercise the
option shall be notified by the Board to the grantee at
the time of making an offer, but such period shall not
expire later than ten years from the date of grant.

(d) Time of exercise of option

At the time of making an offer, the Company must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an
option under the Existing Scheme must be held before it
can be exercised in whole or in part.

(e) Amount payable on acceptance of offer

A payment to the Company of HK$1 as consideration for
the grant shall be paid upon on the acceptance of the
offer by the grantee. The offer of grant of option must
be accepted within 14 days (or such other period of days
as determined by the Board from time to time) after the
date of offer.

(f) Basis of determining exercise price of option

The exercise price of the option shall be no less than the
highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company on
the date of grant.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

(o) FBRRHEHAR

BEWANMELBEQFENRBAZ AT
R AR AARD - HE W B IR RE i B
fEt -+ o

(d) FEBREZITERR
RABAREHENRSRRFERITHEE

HZBREREHNHMLITENAFEZR
RIRAR (WA) °

(e) EMENZEMRIA
ARABNENRANURLBBEITE

AERHZAB - RUBREZEZNANREN
HEf®14X (HEF S TREETHE M HEARM)
RIEAR

(f) EEBRETEEZREE

BREZTEELEFTBRTIZEZES
=

() EXFAIIREAH GZEYGEREEH)
BRHZBARKRFAAZAATRMUES

&

(i) BERFANEFRE AP AEZEER %
2z B¥R &R 2 N ARG FIUh

1EJ

(i) xAB—REOPKREBHAZEE

L A P M 43 B 48 W) 2024/20254E 245



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &4 W #2205k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

(g) Remaining life of the Existing Scheme

The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years commencing
on the adoption date and will expire on 24 August 2030
unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms

of the Existing Scheme.

At 31 March 2025, no shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under
the 2011 Share Option Scheme (2024: 22,146,000),
representing approximately 0% (2024: 2.06%) of the

shares of the Company in issue at that date.

Details of the movements of the share options granted

are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025

(9) RITEABIZERTER

PRIEMBIBIRITET ENER T U UL > BRIRTT
StEIZAMERSBERMBIES+5F 1
R _ZE=2F \BA-+HBE®-

RIE_RAFE=R=+—H UERE_Z
—— EREA N EREHEHRITEZERE
2B (ZZ M4 : 22,146,0008%) » 155
BHAAR AT B ETRNA0% (T ZME
2.06%) ©

BE_ZT_AF=-HA=+—HLFE

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Lapsed as at
price per 1 April during 31 March
Category of participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2024 the year 2025
RZEZME 3
mA-A =A=+-H
SAREY EHAMH frfEsAm sR%E HATTHE REAKK AT
HKS
BT
Directors 18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 13,896,000 (13,896,000) -
EZ “E-hE+ATNR 17 October 2024
Z2-hE+RA+\AE
—Z-mE+A+tA
Employees 18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 8,250,000 (8,250,000) -
(= “E-hE+ATNR 17 October 2024
Z2-hE+RA+\AE
—Z-mE+A+tA
Total 22,146,000 (22,146,000) -
&k
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period -
R E R AT
eighted average exercise price 116 116 N/A RiER

METSTEE
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BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_Z_WFE=H=+—HILFE

Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Lapsed as at
price per 1 April during 31 March
Category of participants Date of grant Exercise period share 2023 the year 2024
(Note)
RZBZ=Z% g o 13
mA-A =A=+-AH
SHEEY EiHAH T8 SR HALTHE REAKK HAITHE
HKS ()
Vetom
Directors 18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 14,986,000 (1,090,000) 13,896,000
S “2-h&E+A+N\A 17 October 2024
Z2-hE+ATN\AE
“2CME+A+tER
Employees 18 October 2019 18 October 2019 to 1.16 10,174,000 (1,924,000) 8,250,000
&8 “E-hE+RTNR 17 October 2024
ZZ-N\FEtATN\BE
ZR_META+ER
Total 25,160,000 (3,014,000) 22,146,000
3t
Exercisable at the end of the reporting period 22,146,000

REEHRAITHR

Weighted average exercise price

MET9TREE

1.16

1.16

1.16

Note: A director and several employees were resigned as a
director or employees of the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2024, their entitlement of 3,014,000

shares was lapsed accordingly.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
Group did not recognised equity-settled share-based
payments expenses in relation to share options granted
by the Company to the directors and employees of the

Group.

Mz —REEARZREERBE_T_NE=
B=+—HLEEERBREFTLAEZHE
B REFEEARM3,014000RKRHES

eSS e

REE_E_RAER_E_NE=A=+—
HEEE AEBUTERAATDRFERER
EEhEEZBRERSUEREERUR

AN PA 2

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s bank
loans were secured by the Group’s assets as follows:

39. EEIKIA

RBREHR AEBZRITERDUTER
THEEFRR

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—E_RE —EME
=ZA=+-8 | ZA=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Investment properties KEYE 2,181,000 2,214,000
Property, plant and equipment ME--BERSZE 242,803 253,717
Assets classified as held for sale DEAFEHEEE - 148,800
2,423,803 2,616,517

40. PERFORMANCE BONDS 40. B (RE

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had outstanding
performance bonds in respect of construction contracts
amounting to HK$146,939,000 (2024: HK$200,829,000).

41. COMMITMENTS

The Group’s share of the commitments made jointly with
other joint venturers relating to the joint ventures, but
not recognised at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

A _E_RAE=ZR=1+—H ' xEBFEE
BHEREBITZ BAREABNE146,939,000
7T (ZE N4 : ##85200,829,0007T) ©

41. K
AEANEREMSECEBERS SO Y

H[E F B 7 3R & B R W R B 58 2 A4 1N
T

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

“EZRE “EINE

=A=+-8 | ZA=+-A

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Commitments to provide loans R ERAE 1,259,229 1,378,340
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42. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, minimum lease
payments receivable on leases are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

42, FEHE R
FEEFEHLEA

RESHA sEERAERR REES
mE

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

—EZRE —EME

=B=+—H | =B=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

AT BT

Within one year —FR 23,419 28,595
In the second year - 8,928 9,835
In the third year B=4F 1,517 1,580
33,864 40,010

Leases are negotiable for lease term ranging from one to
three years (2024: one to three years).

HORRES AENF—E=& (CF-m
£ —m=E)o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

43. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Defined contribution plan

With the implementation of Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong on 1 December 2000, the
Group has maintained the defined contribution scheme
registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance and has obtained an exemption satisfying the
requirements of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (“MPFQO").

To comply with the MPFO, a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) with voluntary contributions
has been established. New employees must join the MPF
Scheme since its commencement on 1 December 2000.
The Group contributes 5% to 15% of the relevant payroll
costs for each employee to the MPF Scheme.

The amounts charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss represent contributions paid and payable to
the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules
of the schemes less forfeitures arising from employees
leaving the Group prior to completion of qualifying
service period. The amount for the year is as follows:

43. Bk EFI5HE
FE MR E

BER_ZSZTZTFE+_F—BEBAETRE
MRBEFE FAEEEREREBERNK
stEMRBIEEMRILZ REMRMETE > LEE
REBETREELABE S ERE (TREEIF
Bl)) ZRRE °

AETHRBEZRG AEBERIA BRI
HARFEZBREE (TREEHE) o1
—ERRFE+ A -HHRGREITRREE
® MESVEMAREEZE -AEEME
HEEREM T EMAERS%E15%REEE

st

AR BEaRANNBRZRIBEREREZSE
stEIFRRIFFIEE 2 tE R M ZFF B B KRIE
T2 BERREZEZRBEERNEE
AR ERZRBEMEE ZRWH
RoRFEZRIENT ¢

2025 2024

ZEZRE —EIME

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT AT

Contributions paid and payable BT R TR 17,578 16,927
Forfeiture R TR (463) (38)
17,115 16,889

At 31 March 2025 and 2024, there is no forfeited
contribution arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits schemes and which were available to
reduce contributions payable.
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A _E_RAGERIZEZNFE=A=+—H>
FERTEFESRHBAENFEMESE
R 5] FA LUR R FE A Rk 2z g W (ko
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Defined benefit plan

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57,
the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong upon retirement, subject to a
minimum of 5 years employment period, based on the
following formula:

o Last monthly wages (before termination of
employment) X 2/3 X Years of service

o Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 while
the amount of LSP shall not exceed HK$390,000.
This obligation is accounted for as a post-
employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the MPFO permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s mandatory and voluntary MPF contributions,
plus/minus any positive/negative returns thereof
(collectively, the “Eligible Offset Amount”), for the
purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee (the
“Offsetting Arrangement’). The LSP obligation, if any, is
presented on a net basis.

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which will eventually
abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The Amendment
will come into effect prospectively from a date to be
determined by the Hong Kong SAR Government, which
is expected to be in 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under
the amended Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount
after the Transition Date can only be applied to offset
the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but no longer
eligible to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation.
Furthermore, the LSP obligations before the Transition
Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the
Last monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition
Date.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=-HA=1+—HILEE

FERFEE

REERBEMNFESTE  ZEBEEEREE
BEREERKBNRARE S ((RIAR
BE))  WRERARVASF SFEARM
T

e REBE—MEAMNIE KLLERR) X 2/3
X BRFSE R

e E%—MEBIELRAEN22,500
o MEARBESEAIBBBE
390,0007T ° ZEEEA B E R ER/F
HEIARRC

s s GREIME AR EEG) AT EER
B AAEBEEEE R BEEREEHR
mE/BMEFEME "EER(RBEER
R LUK T RENRIART S
(MESHLHE) - RARBEEE WA) &7
BEAEZT o

(CEZ_FEEREBASEIEG (RiHZH)

(D FRAINR _E__FBA+tHT
B xR EREHZE - ZETREBER
BRTHERFEEN B R RIKZ
E5F) (NREEB) RATE - RIBLE
SIRES - BE BB S ERIRHER
BrEEBE BN RARBEEE 1E
FTBEERREBEARENRBRG R
fEo It > #8E B AN RBBIRB = EERF
RULIR > TR RFEEZEEAHINRE—
BRAI&EH
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The Group’s LSP obligation, taking into consideration the
Offsetting Arrangement, is considered to be insignificant
and no additional provision has been recognised as at 31

March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

44. RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the balances with related parties as

EZEIIEHEH R E_AFE=A=+—
HR-ZE_NE=ZRA=+—H ' x&£BEMNE
HRFEEETHERALAEL > B HEHED
RESME o

44 BB A TE R RS

MRS R R R MsE21 2526530

disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial  FRiREE Z RANE A L4ERRIN  NE R EARAEE A
position and notes 21, 25, 26 and 30, the Group has the  THUTXRZRiEEH !
following transactions and balances with related parties:
2025 2024
ZE-RE =~ =2
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Subsidiaries of HKRI (note d): EREE B AT (Mizkd) :
— Interior and renovation income — SR AEIE A (Fizka)
(note a) 69 -
Joint ventures of the Group: KEEZEERE
— Construction income (note b) —EBEIA (fsEb) 337,611 144,898
— Project management income —IHEEBERA (fiztb)
(note b) 8,589 1,645
— Interest income (note b) —FBWA (HsEb) 13,375 19,674
Subsidiaries of Million Hope (note d): EFZKEBAT (Miztd):
- Building materials income (note a)  —EEMKIUA (FizEa) 15 -
— Construction cost (note ¢) —BER S (fsEc) 11,025 =
- Repairing, maintenance and — B - REREMER
other cost (note a) (fffzxa) 331 =
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Notes:

(@)

(b)

(o]

(d)

These related party transactions constitute connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
but are exempted from disclosure and other requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

These related party transactions do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

These related party transactions constitute continuing
connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and complied with disclosure and other
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

HKRI and Million Hope are regarded as related companies
in which CCM Trust, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and certain discretionary trusts have beneficial
interests.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

management during the year are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

FisE :

(@) UFERBALIRZEAMLEHRIF14AEE
HBZMERZ WEEREET LHRAE
14AETE TR B R H MR E

(b) UEFEREBALRZAEALTHRAFE14AE
EEZHEXZAFEMERS

(0 UWFEMBALXSERLETRIFEI14AE
ERZFERERZ LEET LEHRAE
1AETRE T 2 IR B R H MR E

(d) BEERERESPRARARNEBRECCM
TrustR & FRBEER A PR Balns
RABAE o

FTEEEASZFHMN

FXEEEEREMETEEE NS Z B
mE:

2025 2024

“EZRE “EINE

HK$'000 HK$'000

BB BT T

Fees HWE 5,386 5,401

Salaries and other benefits e REMET 19,959 22,017

Performance related incentive TERIRTEE

payments 2,139 11,360
Retirement benefits schemes RRGER FTEIER

contributions 2,675 2,936

30,159 41,714
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY AND RESERVES

45. ZRE ZMBIRRR KR iR

31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZREF —EMNE
=B=+-RB | =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary BER—EREAT 326,740 326,740
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE Uk I B8 /A Bl 718 489,713 481,012
816,453 807,752

Current assets MENEE
Other receivables Hih e skIE 914 62
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS I B A B FRIE 11,868 30,000
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEE 1,394 506
14,176 30,568
Current liability Mt E=RE

Other payables and accrued charges  HfthfE{T R IE R Et & B 444 3,920
Net current assets REEEEE 13,732 26,648
830,185 834,400

Capital and reserves BARRKG#E
Share capital & 2 107,307 107,307
Reserves (note) #E (FsH) 722,878 727,093
830,185 834,400
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Note: Movements in reserves of the Company:

GEIECETPE- TR

Share-
based Treasury
Share compensation shares Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
BARG R
EAp: 0 7%
RIPEE Mt it LS bt st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT BETT BT
At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FmB—H 681,541 5,194 (6,129) 132,044 812,650
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBBERZATEH
expense for the year ] - = = (2,593) (2,593)
Dividends paid (note 14) BIRE (14) - - - (65,136) (65,136)
Share options lapsed BRELY - (617) - 617 -
Repurchase of shares Bl - - (19,999) = (19,999)
Transaction costs attributable CEERE(L 2 R B M
to repurchase - - (151) - (151)
Cancellation of shares EfEl) (23,957) = 26,279 = 2,322
At 31 March 2024 RIE_NE=A=1+—H 657,584 4,577 - 64,932 727,093
Loss and total comprehensive FEEBERZESH
expense for the year k] - - - (4,215) (4,215)
Share options lapsed BERR L - (4,577) - 4,577 -
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RE=A=1+—H 657,584 - - 65,294 722,878
46. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS  46. IR S A

As at 31 March 2025, the subsidiaries of the Company
and the other shareholders of the joint ventures of
the Company issued financial guarantees jointly and
severally to certain banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to joint ventures. The aggregate amounts that
could be required to be paid is HK$1,176,496,000 (2024:
HK$1,178,696,000) if the guarantees were called upon
in entirety, of which partial amount of the relevant
banking facilities, amounting to HK$505,339,000
(2024: HK$532,003,000) has been utilised by these joint
ventures. The Group considers the fair value of the
contract is HK$Nil at initial recognition and the loss
allowance as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are insignificant.
Details of the credit risk assessment of the financial
guarantee contracts are set out in note 48.

RZEZRE=R=+—H ' &~AFHBA
ARARFEEECENEMREMBETEE
TEMNRITHRELFARERN RS TIRITRM
AR - MiEREEREHEERE AITAES
B4R S EEAH11,176,496,0007T (=
T [U4F : #%51,178,696,0007T) » EH1ERE
$R17 Rl & AY 2B 47 s BB A 16505,339,0007T (=
T4 : #B18532,003,0007T) EWZES
EhEHH - AEBMRBE > ZENRV AR
HNATEABEZT T BR-S-HFK
ZEIME=RB=+—HHEGERELRSE
KoM BERENNEERETHFREN
F5E48 o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
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47. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes lease liabilities and bank loans disclosed
in notes 32 and 33, respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity, comprising issued share capital,
reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors
of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
the payment of dividends and new share issues, as well
as the issue of new debts and the redemption of existing
debts.

47. EEREBEER

FEFEEEES URFAEERNSER
FEHUFECERANEE  AFTERER
BEHREmNRETHMAKRRINRAM

FEBHNEARBHFES (BEFDBIRH
32K B BEARKIRITER (0
RERFEEEE Ex (BSEB#HTRE
EAEET bR

FABEEEMRAELRRE - (FR LG
Z—ED A RBDEEFEEETNAIREASR
FESHNEMRAR RBXQDEFTNES
FEBREBRNRERBEITHR UK #H
THEFREBEORAEEHEUTHHEBREESR
Rige

48. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 48. BT H
Categories of financial instruments B4 75 T ELEE R
31.3.2025 31.3.2024
—EZRE —EME
=A=+-B | =A=+-8
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets HEEE
Financial assets at FVTPL FREREAFTEFEZ
MBEE 290 263
Financial assets at amortised cost REBER A ENRREE 1,855,450 1,666,492
Financial liabilities % adE
Derivative financial instrument TTEMEIA 8,682 =
At amortised cost RISt = 2,169,100 2,083,397
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loans to
joint ventures, trade debtors, other receivables, amounts
due from joint ventures, cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables,
derivative financial instrument, lease liabilities and bank
loans.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of the group entities is mainly
HK$, the currency in which most of the transactions are
denominated.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency
denominated monetary assets which are debtors and
cash and cash equivalents, of the group entities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

M#EREEEB R REER

AEATIEHETAQEARCLER-
e USRI ~ Lt BRI ~ B M
E BERESEE FRENRATENE
T BT R AR LR EE 74
METE AEaEURBTER.

EZSEMBITRAZFBER AN EHRE-
HZEMHTEAMZ ERRA A RE
ZERARZBEREN T EREEEKRE
BEZFRE > UEFRKRENABMRENZE
HI o

45 L B
() E¥ERE
FEESBEBEZUEGEIERBE K

PRBELUBESHE

FEEZSERNRSHRMUIMESEZER
BEEARBRERRERBETSE HRE
BT :

31.3.2025 31.3.2024

“E"RE “EME

=B=+—H | =ZB=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Euro BioT 13 13
RMB AR 886 393
United States Dollars E7T 19 33
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

The management of the Group considers that the
currency risk of the above monetary assets is not
significant to the Group, accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis is presented. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

(ii) Interest rate risk

In order to keep the Group’s bank loans at fixed rates,
the Group entered into interest rate swaps to hedge
against its exposure to changes in cash flows for certain
floating-rate bank loans. The cash flow interest rate risk
relates primarily to the Group'’s variable-rate bank loans
which are linked to the HIBOR and bank balances at the
prevailing market deposit rate The Group is also exposed
to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate
debt securities (see note 33), loans to joint ventures
(see note 21) and lease liabilities. The Group manages
its interest rate exposures by assessing the potential
impact arising from any interest rate movements based
on interest rate level and outlook. The management
will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and
floating rates and ensure they are within reasonable
range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
has been undertaken globally to replace some interbank
offered rates with alternative nearly risk-free rates.
Details of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
and the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest rate
benchmark reform” in this note.

258

FEREEEX A LAEREEZGBAR
HAEBEMS L AEXR Bt ¥ 25 8UK
FE 3 A o 7 & [ 3R By At 45 S0 IS 9 DR EROER o R
m> EREERMERE TRNERERE
JE ¥ R E RSN E B o

(i) FIZH @R

HEAEBENRTERERBEEMNR &
B LA RISHASH > U hETFFBHFX
RITERNREREEH R - RERFH
ERTERAERZFRRITER ERFE
RAEBRTEAEFEHEE) REBFITHS
ERA R EZIRITEFAR - SEBTFK
REEEMNEEH RS G2RME33) |
BEREFHZEN E2RME21) REE
BRAMZATENRER ~EBIREF
RIKF KA R EEAFREBFTELERE
TR 2 EMERENXRR EEERER
EERFHHEEENLL LERAEES
EEHEM-

ERERTEMNREEETRAMERE U
B ERENEARN IR 2 RITEZER
B -AMANREENENAERARKREERER
BN EREABENRNEHEENF
15> MR AR RBEELE ) -
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The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of variable-rate bank loans at the end of the
reporting period was the amount outstanding for the
whole year. The sensitivity analysis has excluded certain
bank loans under cash flow hedges and bank balances

which are not interest sensitive.

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk at the end of
the reporting period while all other variables were held

constant is as follows:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

"FKZ@IEKF’Q#EE’fE?fEﬁ"iﬁi,HHEEZ%Ui'ﬁ'.é

J_H‘ REE DM RRNBEHARNFZ SR
‘ﬁ#%%ﬁﬁ"%@ﬁfh%%iﬂéiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ

§%°§&Jﬂfﬁ$ﬁ7@%ﬁ$uuz AIETH
ETRITERKRHH S THRAVIRITERR

BRRFAEEMEBEREFE  FEBNERS
HARHARRERZHRENT

2025 2024
—ERE —EMF
Reasonably possible change in MERATGEHIRZ
interest rate HIEEH 50 basis 50 basis
points points
S01E & SOfE & 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Increase in post-tax loss for the year ~ AEERIREBIEHRN
(2024: Increase in post-tax loss FZE EAMEM(CTTOE
for the year) as a result of an KEERRBEEE M)
increase in the interest rate (5,265) (7,841)
Decrease in post-tax loss for the year ZAEERREEHER/BR
(2024: Decrease in post-tax loss M TrEMALD (CEZMEF
for the year) as a result of a NEERREBEIERL)
decrease in the interest rate 5,265 7,841
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(iii) Equity price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include listed equity
securities in Hong Kong. These listed equity securities are
subject to market price risk. The management manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different risk profiles. Details of the financial assets
at FVTPL are set out in note 27. The management of
the Group considers that the market price risks of these
investments are not significant to the Group, accordingly,
no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in the financial losses to the Group. The
Group's credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to
financial assets at amortised cost, lease receivables and
contract assets. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, lease receivables and
contract assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action
is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the
management of the Group considers that the Group's
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

FEBZASBEERRRFEEFEUATE

comprises the following categories: Al
Trade debtors/ Other financial assets/
Internal credit rating  Description contract assets other items
NEBE TR A BWHE, GNEE HttfiisEE  HithEe
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
9 REFENRRE B REFBHRE FEPEEREEFE +ERRBEEER
-BiEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
usually settle in full or requires the Group’s - not credit-impaired
closer monitoring
BRRE EHEAEERPARERERERRE BN HEPHZENCEEFE T_EREHEEHE
EEREEETRE -BiEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
credit risk since initial recognition through - not credit-impaired - not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
a&E BBANEMBENIIDERFNEERARE #EPHCEDREEFE HRPHZEHEEHE
A taREsDEBEEM -BiEERE -BiEEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
impaired - credit-impaired - credit-impaired
i HEETEEEHREEHE FEPHEREERE HRPHZEHREEHE
-BHREERE -EHREERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is  Amount is written off Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery
6 SRETNESARARENHEE MAEE FUESEHE I B S

BERKLRIENR A

In addition, the Group has applied different loss rates
to the internal credit rating category according to the
classification and nature of respective financial assets.

o *EEEREEMBEEZ D E RS
EMHABEETRERNERAFRGEEX-
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Trade debtors and contract assets

For trade debtors and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
trade debtors and contract assets individually or based on
collective assessment.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its customers.
As at 31 March 2025, the ECL for trade debtors and
contract assets that are credit-impaired or receivable and
contract assets from departments of The Government of
HKSAR with gross carrying amounts of HK$46,234,000
(2024: HK$24,806,000) and HK$129,492,000 (2024:
HK$124,341,000) are assessed individually. No impairment
loss has been recognised during the current and prior
year.

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade debtors and contract
assets which are assessed based on collective assessment
within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

ERFERGHEE

MERRERGNEENS  ~&EERASE
AMBRSERFNRANGEEIRTFER
BRTRHE BB ERRER It £ &
BERMERRERGNEERBRREER
EREXRE N ERTEETREN G

FAXEBREERREEN—D &R
ARHERPRPERAAREEFK RS Z
F=BA=1+—H REARKEDHNABE
46,234,0007C (Z = —PU4E : #1£24,806,000
70) KA 1£129,492,0007T (ZE ZOEFE : B
124,341,0007%) ZEEREXERSERFE
BESBMHzRIERGNEENTAREEHE
WERIGE - RAFER L —FEHRBERR
PEAIEYSE= 1

TREHEHMBFENEBZEREERE
(BEERE BEREERIGETIMG
ZREHRERGNEEZFERRZER

Gross carrying amount FRE#E1E

Average Trade Contract
loss rate debtors assets
Fig5iE R FEUZRIE BHNEE
Internal credit rating REME EETAR HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT

As at 31 March 2025 RZEZRF=RA=+—H
Low risk 90 0.12% - 0.67% 49,122 254,373
Watch list HeyE 1.25% 1,556 -

As at 31 March 2024 RIZEZWFE=A=+—H
Low risk 15 BB 0.15% - 0.60% 34,905 185,763
Watch list BR4E 1.36% 3,312 =
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The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is reasonable, supportable and available
without undue cost or effort. Management performs
review regularly to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade debtors and contract
assets under the simplified approach.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

A BREDREEHAFRERNBER
BRENXRMGS UMBAEEBBSMAN
SHEA RSN SRR EENARIEERE
LR EREEMETES UEFEHRE
R EREHARNERER -

TRIFERBIERERARERANE
ERZNEASEZABEREANED
R

Trade debtors Contract assets
FEW R IR BHEE
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired)
FRBMZ FEEZ
FRHEERE - THHEEESE
(EEREERE) WEREERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
At 1 April 2023 A _E_=FNB—H 286 929
Changes due to financial instruments, R ZE_=FNE—HABBIA-
lease receivables or contract assets RWHEERESSNEEELENE
as at 1 April 2023: .
— Impairment loss reversed —BEEORERE (286) (499)
New financial assets, lease receivables or ~ HELRBEENMHEE
contract assets originated or purchased REHEERERENEE 99 692
At 31 March 2024 A_E_ME=ZA=1+—H 99 1,122
Changes due to financial instruments, AZE_NEMA—HRAMBIA
lease receivables or contract assets REHEERESENEEELEN
as at 1 April 2024 =1 N
- Impairment loss reversed —BEERERE (99) (548)
New financial assets, lease receivables or HELHBEENMIEEE
contract assets originated or purchased  FEWFHERIEHSGNEE 80 1,324
At 31 March 2025 K-B-HF=H=+—H 80 1,898

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i
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The Group writes off a trade debtor when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or when the trade debtors are over three years past due,
whichever occurs earlier.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has concentration of
credit risk with 48% (2024: 39%) and 34% (2024: 40%)
of the total gross trade debtors from contracts with
customers and contract assets was due from the Group'’s
largest customer, departments of The Government of
HKSAR. In view of their credit standings, good repayment
record in the past and long term relationships with the
Group and taking into consideration of forward-looking
information, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is not material.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no

impairment loss has been recognised on trade debtors
which were assessed individually.
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RIEZRAE=ZR=1+—H A&EE@EESE
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The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s other financial assets, which are subject to ECL

assessment:

Gross carrying

TRFINEEBMEMPBEEZEERR
ERRE G RRZ RIEE R

Gross carrying

External Internal 12m or amount as at | amount as at
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL | 31 March 2025 | 31 March 2024
+-@EBs | RZEZHEE | R-E_WmE
F@EBMz | =A=+—H | =B=+—H
SEMEETR  ABEETR HEHEEEE HEREA(E HEREAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BT T
Financial assets at amortised cost
REHM A ENMEEE
Loans to joint ventures N/A Low risk 12m ECL 359,191 536,193
BELEER FEH BER + BB TEHA
=8k
N/A Watch list 12m ECL 958,241 635,464
TR BRyE + BB TEHH
EEEE
Amounts due from joint ventures N/A Loss Lifetime ECL - 847*
e EE L ERE AEH g FEREZ
HEHEEEE
Other receivables N/A Low risk 12m ECL 17,390 4,863
Hite I8 FEH BER + BB TEHA
=8k
Bank balances A or above N/A 12m ECL 477,320 441,028
RITHERR A L TEH + BB TEHH
EEEE

& The amount is considered as credit-impaired and full
provision is made on that amounts due from a joint

venture.

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

ZEERRBEELECEERE THEKR—
BEEEERBHRERERF-

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i

RETAREERRER AEBERGE
REEBRIEEENFLEERBRESER
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Not past due/

no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
KRB,
#HA HARR Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT IT BETT
As at 31 March 2025 RZZE-aF=HA=+—H
Loans to joint ventures BELREAR - 1,317,432 1,317,432
Other receivables H{thFE U TRIE - 17,390 17,390
As at 31 March 2024 AZE_ME=HB=+—H
Loans to joint ventures EETEEN = 1,171,657 1,171,657
Amounts due from FEUR & & £ RRIE
joint ventures - 847 847
Other receivables =Rl A E ] = 4,863 4,863
Loans to joint ventures and amounts due from joint EETPEENRENESERENE

ventures

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group regularly monitors the business performance
of joint ventures. Before granting the loans to joint
ventures, the management of the Group has obtained
understanding to the financial background and business
performance of the joint ventures. The Group’s credit
risks in these balances are mitigated through monitoring
the value of the assets held by the joint ventures and
the power to participate or jointly control the relevant
activities of these entities. As at 31 March 2025, the
gross carrying amounts of loans to joint ventures and
amounts due from joint ventures are HK$1,317,432,000
(2024: HK$1,171,657,000) and nil (2024: HK$847,000),
respectively.
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SREBRR - AERARZEGEHNEER
BEBERSELPEMFEENEBERSH
FHEREHZESBEREESNE IR
R —_E_RF=ZR=+—H f&0L%¥
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The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL
(not credit-impaired) that has been recognised for loans

to joint ventures which are assessed individually.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

TERATHEMEGEREGN (EEH/TMH)
BHN+ZEABEREEER (REERE)
HEE ISR -

Loans to

joint ventures

AEEEER

HK$'000

BT

At 1 April 2023 RIEZ=FMAE—H 46,819
Changes due to financial instruments RIEZ=FW™E—H

as at 1 April 2023: EEAFS T EEL ST ;

— Impairment loss recognised — B ERE 88,210
At 31 March 2024 A —E_MWE=H=+—H 135,029
Changes due to financial instruments RIEZWFEMA—H

as at 1 April 2024: EEFE T EESNES

- Impairment loss recognised — B RERSE 97,037
At 31 March 2025 WZEZ_RFE=B=+—H 232,066

Other receivables

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group has obtained understanding
to the credit background of the debtors and undertaken
the internal credit approval process. The Group applies
internal credit rating for its debtors. No allowance for
impairment was made since the management of the

ERTEREERBREEN -0 ~&H
EEBETHEFANGESTRILETTA
BEEEMEF AEEHEHBARARN
EENR -BHREEBRZ A2 BELRHRE
FEEEERBRBENNAREMEEN A
AR ERRE -

Group considers that the probability of default is minimal
after considering the counterparties’ repayment history.
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Bank balances

For the purpose of internal credit risk management,
the Group mainly transacts with banks with high
credit ratings and regularly monitors the international
credit rating of the counterparties. No allowance
for impairment was made since the management of
the Group consider that the probability of default is
negligible as such amounts are receivable from or placed
in banks with good reputation.

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

No allowance for impairment was made since the
management of the Group considers that the exposure
at default was minimal as the management of the Group
has obtained understanding of the financial background
and business performance of the joint ventures and
concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the Group's credit risks
in financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments
to joint ventures are mitigated through the value of
the assets held by the joint ventures. Accordingly, the
loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts and
loan commitments is measured at an amount equal
to 12m ECL and the loss allowance was considered as
insignificant.
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Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank loans and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2025, the Group has unutilised
banking facilities of approximately HK$933,061,000
(2024: HK$1,100,569,000) as at 31 March 2025. Details of
bank loans are set out in note 33.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, and
derivative financial instrument and lease liabilities based
on the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities, the table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instrument.
The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative financial
instrument is prepared based on the contractual
maturities as the management consider that the
contractual maturities are essential for an understanding
of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=-HA=1+—HILEE

RBEEEE

TEERDESREE  AEBBGIERER
ERERSBRENREKRFESFEKT
UATEBZ EEREE S RBERER
BRI E - BEERIERITERZH
FR1B S i (R I8 57 B RR 3256 ©

AEBRBRITERFAZEENRIES
KR -R_E_HAFE=B=+—H '%&H
R-E_RE=B=+—HWXHAHIRT
B 49 A& 4 15933,061,0007T (ZF U4 :
7#51%%1,100,569,0007T) ° RITEMZFFHLN
FizE33 0

TRFLFEBEN B EERERNMHE
E-TTEMBIAKMBEREZ GHRIGRE
B -MIFTEMBFERKREEGEMS It
KOREBEAEERTEFTEXNNREAHZ
MBEaEREERERITREREAGR 5
A2 SREREBEMRZBITERGFAR
PRER FHIBTREESIRERTHEAERE
F-HIETEMBREREBEREZEIH
BREVGEEMRBMHERE - ZREEMNER
AEREM

HESh s FREFIAEBITEMB T ANRE
Mot ZEETEMBTIRIAMED T
DBIREBGHVIMERR RRAEEERR
BREREE TETEIANRE RERM
HEEREE-
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Liquidity tables MEBEER
As at 31 March 2025 .
Weighted  On demand
A—F— —H=4—
RZFZ2%=A=+-A average or Total
effective less than 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
TS REXY R
BRA= FRI1E 1-28% 2-5% SEME  REReE REfME
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bat BT BT BlETr BETR BT BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfTEMFEEE
Trade and other payables AR MRENTE - 171,967 66,133 - - 238,100 238,100
Bank loans - variable rate* RIER-FHEE 5.36 1,138,368 720,886 120,393 - 1,979,647 1,931,000
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.19 3,530 799 720 4,720 9,769 6,894
1,313,865 781,818 121,113 4,720 2,221,516 2,175,994
Derivative financial liability fiEHKaE
Interest rate swap contract FIZ=EHEH - 7,185 1,796 - - 8,981 8,682
As at 31 March 2024 Weighted ~ On demand
RZE-ME=R=+-H average or Total
effective less than 1-2 2-5 Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flow amount
LS8 BRERH KR
BRA= FRIE 1-2% 2-5% SEME  REReE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bat BT BT BT BT BT BT
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEfTEMTEEE
Trade and other payables AR A tRETIE - 168,043 37,28 - - 205,325 205,325
Bank loans - variable rate* RTER-THEE 5.98 1,878,072 - - - 1,878,072 1,878,072
Lease liabilities HEaE 5.06 3,345 1,899 892 4,960 11,096 7,903
2,049,460 39,181 892 4,960 2,094,493 2,091,300

& The interest rates applied to projected undiscounted cash
flows of variable rate bank loans are the interest rates at
the end of the reporting period.

The amounts above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rate differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

*

FERRRITEMZ B RITRB SRR
BOFRLREPRZFIE

ERSFAFTEMBREFZIETIAZEE
RRFBMRZEHENKSHREEZ G
SHRRARFFLES-
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Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 1 year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2025, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these bank loans amounted to HK$1,100,000,000
(2024: HK$1,047,003,000). Taking into account the
Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such bank loans as at 31 March 2025 will be repaid
within one (2024: one) year after the reporting date in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in
the table below:

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z-_AF=A=1+—HILEFE

EU LB HP @3 BRERERKER
ZIRITERDBIIATRERKFE—FI B HE
B -M_B_HE=A=1+—8 ZFRT
BRZRINA AL LLEE% A 11,100,000,000
7t (CZ M4 © 7¥51,047,003,0007T) © &5t
REEBZHMBERR ZAARESTALARRTA
BRRITETEENBEEZRENEER K
REEEHE RIEERERBEREZTE
REFBH M-E-_HEE=A=+—H%
ZFRTERFENRSABPE—F (ZTTM
F—F) AER BRAFBEEN TR

Less than Cash Carrying

1 year 1-2years 2 -5 years outflows amount

FRIE 1-2% 2-5% RERUE fREfE

HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT  BMTn BETR BETR B%TRn

31 March 2025 —Z”Rf=A=1+—H 1,159,005 - - 1,159,005 1,100,000

31 March 2024 —EME=R=+—H 1,109,642 - - 1,109,642 1,047,003
FFERIEE

Interest rate benchmark reform

As disclosed in note 33, several of the Group’s HIBOR
bank loans has been subject to the interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-
rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan
linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity and hence, not
subject to transition.

MUK SE33FTIRE » AEB 2 A TERBRT
BEFBRITERERIFREENFEHNR
E-AEFEERYERTS  LERRNE
HZHNRNBE  CEARRTRAEREEE
WL ASE-

BRBTRAERS

BEBTRRTEEH ((BRETEEE
#) ERAFREBRTAERENERS
2> WIEEKIEEBRITAEHFEBNAE B
ARBZANEXRAN BRRTRAERSRE
TRRFIRER L AEBEFERT
BEEHFSHBNRTERSHEEEHE
F I FBE -
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Fair value measurement

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded in active markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices;

o the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique(s) and inputs used).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 31 March 2025 hierarchy and key input(s)
RZBZHE
HBEEE =A=1+—BZATE 21rAFEEZER HERM R EERH AR
Financial assets at FVTPL HK$290,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an active
- Listed equity securities in (2024: HK$263,000) market.
Hong Kong
FEBEEBRATEHEZ 7 1#£290,0007T B RIERTHZAMRZEAR.
MHREE-SBLMREES (CE-_MmE:
#263,0007T)
Derivative financial instrument Liabilities — Level 2 Discounted cash flow. Future
- interest rate swap contracts HK$8,682,000 cash flows are quoted by

(2024: HK$Nil) counterparty (i.e. the bank)
which estimated based on
forward interest rates (from
observable yield curves at the
end of the reporting period)
and contracted interest rates,
discounted at a rate that
reflects the credit risk of a

counterparty

MRREAE - KRB REH

2

TEMBIA-FIREREN

There was no transfer among Level 1, 2 and 3 during the

current and prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025

BE_Z_AF=-—HA=+—HILEE

49. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

49. MEEBEEZARER

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

BEBBNAER
RALBRSRORS RARFRST -

4o A
iz =]

TRFINFEBRMEEFEENEREDE
o BERERERFREEE -MEXBELN
RERERPDES

activities.
Lease Dividend
liabilities payable Bank loans Total
HE&RE EARE RITEMR amst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BB
(Note 32) (Note 33)
(Mi3¥32) (Mi5E33)
At 1 April 2023 RZZE_=FMmAE—H 5,176 - 1,525,434 1,530,610
Financing cash flows MERE R (1,789) (65,136) 352,638 285,713
Dividend declared BEIKERE - 65,136 = 65,136
Non-cash change: RS EEH .

Addition of lease liabilities HEAEEM 4,516 = = 4,516
At 31 March 2024 RZE_NE=HA=+—H 7,903 - 1,878,072 1,885,975
Financing cash flows HERER (2,928) - 52,928 50,000
Non-cash change: EREEH !

Addition of lease liabilities HEaEEM 1,919 - - 1,919
At 31 March 2025 RZE_RF=F=+—H 6,894 - 1,931,000 1,937,894
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

50. X EMBAEFHE

KRN _E_HAFER_ZE_NE=ZHAH

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

Z+—HZEEWBATFRBWMT :

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
Z2ZR%=RA=1+-H —Z_mE=RA=1-A
Effective Effective
Issued and fully equity interest | Issued and fully equity interest
Place of incorporation/ paid ordinary  attributable to paid ordinary  attributable to
Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARAR  KREEE BETR  AEERERE
MERERHE M/ S5 EEks ANRAELZ | BREERE BURLSEEZ  IERE
Care & Health Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Trading of health products
RfEERAT 7 B Al ERERES
Clear Profit Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ uss1 100% Uss1 100%  Property investment
BRHZRERAR Hong Kong S E NERE
EERUME/EE
Excel Chinese International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$ 1 100%  Property investment
SREARERAR &4 BRI AT ESE
Fairview Harbour Limited British Virgin Islands/ uss2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong e VE Ty REER
EERUME/BE
Faithful Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding
SAERAH &4 BT Vet b ESEE]
Gallant Elite Enterprises Limited British Virgin/ Islands/ Uss2 100% Us$2 100%  Investment holding
BHREEBRAR Hong Kong b Ve RER
EBRYHE/BE
General Target Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment
#MERAE &# #1%10,0007 10,0007 nERE
Great Popular Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Us$1 100%  Investment holding
BRERAF Hong Kong 171 %7 REER
EERURE/BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_RAF=-B=+—HILEE

Place of incorporation/

31 March 2025
—E_RE=RA=+-H

31 March 2024
“E_mE=R=+-H

Effective
Issued and fully ~equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Effective
Issued and fully  equity interest
paid ordinary attributable to

Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARBR  AEEREG BETR  REERER
MEARAH M /3 EE LERE BNRAED | ARLERE BRRIEE IERH
Hanison Construction Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100% | Ordinary shares 100%  Property construction
BREEERAR &# HKS$1,000 HK$1,000 UES 2
Deferred shares Deferred shares
HK$60,000,000 HK$60,000,000
(Note a) (Note a)
EER Bk
11,0007 A 1,007
BER 313
160,000,007 760,000,007
(fta) (Htska)
Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) British Virgin Islands/ Us$2 100% US$2 100%  Investment holding
Limited (note b) (fth) Hong Kong bEST BT REER
AERUME/EE
Hanison Contractors Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% | HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
HBEEERAR & 110,000,000 710,000,007 ES 2
Hanison Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% | HK$10,000,000 100%  Property construction
BRTRERAR Y #1%10,000,0007 #1%10,000,0007 UES =2
Hanison Estate Services Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property
ABNEREERAR Bl BT management services
RN ERRE
Hanison Foundation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property construction
BB ETRERAR & Bz BRI NERE
Hanison Interior & Renovation Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$17,400,000 100% | HK$17,400,000 100%  Provision of interior and
BAREAREBERAD Y #117,400,0007T 7117,400,0007T renovation services
R RAERS
Hanison Project Management Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Provision of property leasing
EREEEEERAR Bl Vet Ib and marketing services
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS % & W %5 # 26 b ok
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_ZE_RFE=-B=1+—HILEE

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
ZZIREZA=1-H ZB_MEZR=1-A
Effective Effective
Issued and fully equity interest | Issued and fully equity interest
Place of incorporation/ paid ordinary attributable to paid ordinary attributable to
Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARBR  FEEREG BTk REEER
MEARRE M/ EE LERE BMRAREL | HRLERE BRRIEE IERH
Hantex Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Plant maintenance and
BETHRARAR ) BRI AT senvicing
BEAERES
Healthmate Products Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Trading of health products
EHZERAT &4 BT AT BEERER
Heatex Ceramic Limited Hong Kong HK$400,000 100% HK$400,000 100%  Property development
HEERAH & #%400,0007 7#1400,0007 NEER
Nimble Run Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$1 100% Us$1 100%  Investment holding
RANERAF Hong Kong (S %7 RERR
ERELHE/ BE
Oriental Effort Limited British Virgin Islands/ Uss$1 100% Us$1 100%  Investment holding
RYBRAT Hong Kong (ESH %7 REER
EERURE/BE
Precise Leader Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property holding
BEERAR & BRI BRI NERE
Retailcorp Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Sales of health product
ZELRERAR &4 Ao Ao HERRER
Sanney Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment
BEERAT & BRI BRI ES T
Sunny Way Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$ 1 100%  Property investment
HREXERAR &4 B AT NERE
Tai Kee Pipes Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 100% HK$2,000,000 100%  Investment holding
R ARAH &E 712,000,000 712,000,000 RERR
Trigon Building Materials Limited Hong Kong HKS2 100% HK$2 100%  Supply and installation of
ERRRNERAT &4 B Vit P building materials
BRRZEREME
Trillion Mart Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% HK$10,000 100%  Property investment
&2 #1%410,0007 10,0007 NERE
Vast Media International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$ 1 100%  Investment holding
EEERARAT &4 BT AT REER

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS &5 & W %5 #i 2 5 5k
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2025
BE_Z_RAF=-B=+—HILEE

31 March 2025 31 March 2024
ZZIREZA=1-H ZB_MEZR=1-A
Effective Effective
Issued and fully equity interest | Issued and fully  equity interest
Place of incorporation/ paid ordinary  attributable to paid ordinary attributable to
Name of subsidiary registration/operation share capital the Group share capital the Group  Principal activities
BEARBR  AEEREG Bk AEEE(R
MEARRE L/ S LERE BNRAED | ARLERE BRRIEE IERH
Vision Smart Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% HK$100 100%  Property investment
&# A1007 AB1007 NERE
Westpac Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% HK$1 100%  Property investment
BEERAT &4 BT Vet Ab NERE
Notes: P EE
(@) The deferred shares are shares whose shareholders are (a) EERREFEAEEBREANREAZE

neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any E BELEEAREATSREELES
general meetings nor to receive any dividend out of TEEWERESERFIKE ZERKRERE
operating profit and have very limited rights on return of MBABEERAREREIFEBREN

capital of the subsidiary. B&A% o

(b) Other than Hanison Construction Holdings (BVI) Limited, (b) BRAABEIEIFAE ZHanison Construction
which is directly held by the Company, all other companies Holdings (BVI) Limiteddh: FrEEftATH
are indirectly held by the Company. HAEABMZERE -

At AT RIB B A B I A FE E BT ERRRE
SFEANETEFERAERENEHES-

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
during the year or outstanding at the end of the year.

ERIITRERBDNWHEB AT - FATEER
AOHINEMMBARNNFER RSB
RRfke

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A5 2

Year ended 31 March
BE-RA=1—HIEE

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“ECRF | ZE-NE —B-=F —E--F —B--&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETT BETT BT AETT
RESULTS e
Revenue KA 1,985,257 1,612,660 1,232,803 1,438,340 1,451,560
(Loss) profit before taxation BriAD (8518) &7 (295,474) (215,854) (35,951) 162,716 273,190
Tax credit (expense) MIEE % (i) 174 (160) (2,481) (8373) 1,7%
(Loss) profit for the year FE (5518) 55 (295,300) (216,014) (38,432) 154,343 274,986
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“EC_RE | ZEBCNE —Z-=fF C"E--F C"B--&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BETT BETT BETT BETT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Total assets BEMSE 5,965,105 6,226,120 6,162,834 6,718,801 8,130,161
Total liabilities BRE%H (2,503,472)| (2,459,594)  (2,090,152)  (2,502,363)  (3,993,056)
3,461,633 3,766,526 4,072,682 4,216,438 4,137,105
Equity attributable to: TH AL
Owners of the Company FAREEBA 3,461,633 | 3,766,526 4,072,682 4216438 4,137,105

L) B R P B A B 23 ) 2024/20254E $i
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
ERX-SVP IS

A. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR

A. FERBEVMEEAHEASWAR

RENTAL INCOME PURPOSES ®
Attributable
Area interest of
(sqg.ft.) Nature of the Group  Category of
Descriptions L property TER lease
1R (FEHR) MELE FE{E 1 AR R
1. Leasehold interest in the 2,701 Commercial 100% Medium-term
Head-Lease for the residual (Saleable lease
term of 30 years commencing area)
from 1 December 1989 with an
option to renew for a further
term of 30 years of whole of No.
31 Wing Wo Street, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong
A LIRKMEIREBEZ 2,701 [SES 100% FRHEATRAY
BN HEREREE T ERER)
H—hANA\AE+ZA—HR%
RBP=1+F UBHETIRH=1F
TREA Z HEF))
2. PeakCastle 145,394 Commercial 100% Medium-term
No. 476 Castle Peak Road, (Gross floor lease
Kowloon area)
LEE 145,394 P 100% FREAFEAY
B LLE4765% (BEm*A)
PeakCastle
3. The Mercer 37,933 Commercial 100% Long lease
No. 29 Jervois Street, (Gross floor
Hong Kong area)
5% 37,933 [HES 100% RHEAFALY
B HET299% (BEmEmE)
The Mercer
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ M ¥EH%E

B. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT B. MEABZERPZEHFEME

FOR SALE IN HONG KONG

Expected Attributable
Site area  Gross floor completion interest of
(sq.ft.) area (sq.ft.) Stage of date Nature of  the Group Category of
Descriptions HRER BEAEE  completion st property pix-3C] lease
PR (F5R) (F5R)  w*EEE RIBH  MEME EoEE B98N
1. Park College, 8,092 24,270  Construction Tobe  Residential 50% Medium-
No. 57A Nga Tsin Wai Road, in progress  completed term lease
Kowloon Tong, Kowloon in 2025
NENEERRIEES7AS 8,092 24270  BEETH N e 50% RN
Park College “EoERE
BT
2. Johnson Place, Nos. 14-16 10,516 Notyet  Planningin  No definite Industrial 50%  Long lease
Lee Chung Street, Chai Wan determined progress plan
RENRE 10,516 HARE HtigETT EARHE T# 50% REAA
URE16HBERE
3. Lot No. 2143 in Demarcation 81,053 80,990 Construction Tobe  Residential 50% Medium-
District No. 121, in progress  completed term lease
Tong Yan San Tsuen, in 2026
Yuen Long, New Territories
it 81,053 80990 EHEETH I TE 50% AL
YNt ZEIRE
XENM1215 BT
F21434 6%
4, Tuen Mun Town Lot No. 496, 238,089 619,030 Construction  No definite  Residential 24.82% Medium-
So Kwun Wat, Tuen Mun, in progress plan term lease
New Territories
MR 238,089 619,030 BEETT EARHE #E 24.82% hERTRA
TPRES
Bt B 4965
5. West Castle 5,728 65,286 Construction To be Industrial 50% Medium-
No. 22 Yip Shing Street, in progress  completed term lease
Kwai Chung, in 2025
New Territories
it 5,728 65286 REETH R I% 50% AL
£ ZZCRE
LR #2258 ®T
West Castle
6. No. 18 Lee Chung Street, 6,686 96,215 Construction To be Industrial 50%  Long lease
Chai Wan, Hong Kong in progress  completed
in 2026
BARE 6,686 96,215 EFE{TH Rt I 50%  RBEL
R f185% ZEIRE
BT

BALIEG R PR A B A R) 2024/20254E H
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES 1 BV %

C. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT C. MPERMZERPZEFEY
FOR SALE/PROPERTIES HELD FOR ¥ BrESEYE
SALE IN MAINLAND CHINA

Gross floor Attributable
Site area area interest of
(sq. m.) (sq. m.) Stage of Nature of  the Group Category of
Descriptions HRER BEEB  completion property £ lease
BER (FAHK) (FrK)  wEBE  YEEE  EoREE  BOER
A development project located at the 17,149 35,235 Phase 1-  Commercial 49% Medium-
west of Wenyuan Road and south of Completed term lease
Houfutinggang, Haining City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC (including sold but not
yet handover units and unsold units of Phase 1
IR PETE 17,149 35235 E-H- [GES 9%  FEERg
BEMEXIERAM- BxI

BEFEEAN—EXRER
(BEF-HEHEATRTKZE
fil Bk & B D)
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES ¥ M ¥EH%E

D. SELF-USED PROPERTIES D. ERM%
Attributable
Area interest
(sq.ft.) Nature of of the Group Category of
Descriptions Bf property rEE lease
R (F5ER) MELE i3ty 48R
1. Various lots in Demarcation District 45,518 Agricultural 100% Medium-term
No. 77, Ping Che, Fanling, New Territories (Site area) lease
mAmETE 45518 B 100% HERTR A
TEARTIRETHE (tEmE)
2. OfficesA, B, C, D, E, F G H,J K L M,N&P 15,175 Commercial 100% Medium-term
on 22/F and Car Parking Space (excluding lease
Nos. P44, P45 and P46 on Basement Floor, area of car
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, parking spaces)
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories (Marketing
gross floor
area)
R DEAPM 15,175 [EES 100% FERTRAY
ZHIBRRIRER 1282 (FEfEEf
HIAZA B C D E~F G H J K L MNP Z )
Rt EEPAASE ~ PASSE T PA6SE E {il (TEREER)
3. OfficesA, B, C, D, E, F G H,J K L M,N&P 15,073 Commercial 100% Medium-term
on 21/F and Car (excluding |ease
Parking Space No. P47, P48 and area of car
P49 on Basement Floor, parking spaces)
Kings Wing Plaza 1, 3 On Kwan Street, (Marketing
Shek Mun, Shatin, New Territories gross floor area
R DEAM 15,073 [EES 100% HERFEAY
ZHIBRRHER 12182 (FEfEER
HAZA B C D E~F G H J K L MNP Z )
R EEPATSE ~ PASSE T PA9SE B il (IERERR)
4. The Connaught 41,704 Commercial 50% Long lease
No. 138 Connaught Road West, (Gross floor
Hong Kong area)
&E 41,704 [HES 50% REEA
FAET1385E BEER)
The Connaught

BALIEG R PR A B A R) 2024/20254E H
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR PROPERTIES 1 BV %

E. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR E. HHEARKEHESE
SALE
Attributable
Area interest of
(sq.ft.) Nature of the Group Category of
Descriptions mf property F&EE lease
BER (EER) MELE i3 4 4R
1. Unsold units and retail shops of 2,400 Residential 100% Long lease
Hollywood Hill (Unsold units)
No. 222 Hollywood Road, (Saleable area)
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong 2,070
(Retail shops)
(Marketing
gross floor
area)
EBLER 2,400 £ 100% RETEA
EEE222% (REWEL)
Hollywood Hillk & t & fil K i & (BRER)
2,070
Gifz)
(IERERR)
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